
Meeting of:  Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Date: Wednesday 20th November 2019
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1  Apologies 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  Declarations of Interest 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

3  Urgent Items of Business 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4  Items for Exclusion of Public and Press 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting.

5  Minutes 4 - 6

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of Health, Schools and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 17th September 2019.

Public Document Pack



6  Northern Care Alliance Group 

Mr S. Taylor (Chief Officer) and Dr S. McCallum (Medical Director) to 
present on services provided

7  Bury and Rochdale Youth Justice Plan 2019 - 2021 7 - 43

The Committee to scrutinise the Bury and Rochdale Youth Justice 
Plan 2019 - 2021

8  SEND update 44 - 47

To consider an update relating to Special Educational Needs.

9  Disabled Facilities Grants and Associated Assistance Policy 48 - 89

To consider recommending the Disabled Facilities Grants and 
Associated Assistance Policy for publication.

10  Adult Care Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report 90 - 104

To consider the Adult Care Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report, 
for  Quarter Two, 2019/2020 (July – September 2019/2020)

11  Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2019-20 Quarter 
2 Performance Update 

105 - 136

To consider performance targets in the Adults, Children’s and Public 
Health Directorates.

12  Joint Scrutiny Committee - Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust 137 - 141

To note the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee, for 
Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust, held 15th October 2019.

13  Work Programme 2019/2020 142 - 144

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2019/2020.



Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members
Councillor Sultan Ali Councillor Patricia Mary Dale
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Ray Dutton
Councillor James Gartside Councillor John Hartley
Councillor Rachel Massey Councillor Alan McCarthy
Councillor Susan Smith Councillor Patricia Sullivan

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Alison James – Governance and Committee Services

Telephone: 01706 924711
E-mail: alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk



HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday 17th September 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Dutton (Chair); Councillors Dale, Davidson, 
James Gartside, Hartley, Massey, McCarthy and Sullivan

OFFICERS: Tracey Harrison (Assistant Director – Adult Care), Fay Davies 
(Children’s Services Directorate) and Alison James (Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Cocks 

10 APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sultan Ali, Councillor 
Smith and Kate Jones.

11 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

12 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
There were no urgent items of business.

13 MINUTES

Resolved:

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Health, Schools and Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee held on 26th June 2019 be approved as a correct 
record.

14 EASY HUBS AND COMMUNITY CONNECTOR SERVICE

Resolved:

That this item be deferred.

15 MARKET OVERSIGHT REPORT - FIRST QUARTER - 2019/20
The Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director - Adult Care 
(Commissioning) regarding the Market Oversight Plan which provided quality 
assurance information for services commissioned by the Adult Care service 
for the first quarter of 2019/20.

The Adult Care Service commissioned external provider services to deliver a 
range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The Adult 
Care commissioning team assured the quality of the services. The market 
oversight report presented quality assurance information for quarter three of 
2019/20 for the Committee to scrutinise.

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



In response to a queries from Members the Assistant Director - Adult Care 
advised that in future, the report would be expanded to include more local 
information and intelligence. Also, that a stand-alone procedure for continuity 
was being developed following a review of the escalation procedure and in 
view of more fragile market conditions.

Committee members suggested that communications with local ward 
members should be considered, especially if there were any areas of specific 
concern. 

The Assistant Director also advised that the Supported Accommodation 
Strategy would be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee for scrutiny.

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

16 EXTRA SCHOOL PLACES - DETERMINATION OF STATUTORY 
PROPOSALS FOR ENLARGEMENTS AND SEN RESOURCED 
PROVISION, AND ADDITIONAL CAPACITY
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children’s Services 
which presented the responses to the published proposals for the 
enlargement of the Castleton Primary and Crossgates Primary and which 
presented the responses to the published proposals for the creation of an 
Autism resourced provision at Shawclough Primary and ask had asked 
Cabinet to determine on the proposal.

The report had also sought approval from Cabinet for expenditure on Primary 
school additional places in the south Rochdale Township and Secondary 
Schools for extra capacity for 2020 September intake.

The Chair referred to recent issues he had experienced with dealing with a 
school admissions matter which the School Place Planning Manager agreed 
to look into outside the meeting.

It was agreed that a report on out of Borough placements for Special 
Educational Needs be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee.

Resolved:

1. That the report be noted;
2. That a report be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee 

relating to Special Educational Needs out of Borough provision.

Page 5



17 JOINT SCRUTINY PANEL FOR PENNINE CARE (MENTAL HEALTH) 
TRUST

Resolved:

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee for Pennine 
Care (Mental Health) Trust held on 23rd July 2019 be noted.

18 WORK PROGRAMME 2019/2020
The Committee considered a report which presented the Committee’s Work 
Programme 2019/2020.

With reference to proposals for Link4Life, it was agreed that if necessary a 
special meeting of the Committee be convened to consider this matter.

Resolved:

The report be noted.

Page 6



Report to HSC Overview & Scrutiny

Date of Meeting 20th November 2019
Portfolio Cllr. Kieran Heakin

Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Jim Hopkinson
Public/Private Document Public

Bury and Rochdale Youth Justice Plan 2019 - 2021

Executive Summary
1

1.1 This report presents the Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 and highlights some of the 
key achievements in reducing re-offending during 2018/19.  The report also 
provides the areas for improvement that the service will focus upon during the 
next period, as set out in the Service Improvement Plan (Appendix 4 of the 
Youth Justice Plan).

1.2 Production of a Youth Justice Plan is a statutory requirement of the local 
authority under the Crime & Disorder Act 1998 and is one of the requirements of 
the Youth Justice Board (YJB) for England and Wales grant for Youth Offending 
Teams (YOTs).  The report was submitted to the YJB by the deadline of 5 
August 2019 and has been approved with some positive feedback. It is then 
shared with a number of relevant bodies.  

1.3 The YJB provide YOTs with detailed guidance on the headings within the plan 
and the areas to be covered within each heading.  Essentially, the plan is in two 
parts; a review of performance and activity for 2018-2019, and improvement 
plans, staffing and budgets for 2019-2020.  The YJB welcomes plans that cover 
more than one year with the proviso that an annual refresh will be submitted 
which provides an update of key information, particularly in relation to finance 
and governance.  

1.4 A copy of the Youth Justice Plan is attached at Appendix 1 for the approval of 
the Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

1.5 A copy of the Youth Justice Board Approval is attached as Appendix 2.

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



Recommendation
2

2.1 It is recommended that Overview & Scrutiny Committee:

(a) Note the contents of this report; and 
(b) Receive the Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 and performance summary of the

period 2019/19.

Reason for Recommendation

3
3.1 Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are statutory partnerships, established under the

Crime and Disorder Act 1998, with the principel aim of preventing offending by 
children and young people.  Local Authorities are responsible for establishing a 
Youth Offending Team.  Police, National Probation Service (NPS) and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are statutorily required to assist in their funding 
and operation.

3.2 Local authorities continue to have a statutory duty to submit an annual youth 
justice plan relating to their provision of youth justice services.  Section 40 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out the youth offending partnership’s 
responsibilities in producing this plan.  It states that “it is the duty of each local 
authority, after consultation with the partner agencies, to formulate and 
implement an annual youth justice plan, setting out:

(a) How youth justice services in their area are to be provided and funded; and 
(b) How the YOT will be composed and funded, how it will operate, and what 

functions it will carry out”.

3.3 The Youth Justice Board (YJB) for England and Wales welcomes plans that 
cover more than one year with the proviso that an annual refresh will be 
submitted which provides an update of key information, particularly in relation to 
finance and governance.  

3.4 This current plan covers performance for the period 2018/19 and provides 
service budgets, operational and strategic developments within the service and 
partnership, service structure and the Service Improvement Plan for 2019 – 
2021.

3.5 In accordance with statutory requirements the plan was approved by the Bury 
and Rochdale YOS Management Board on 26 July 2019.

Page 8



3.6 The Youth Justice Plan must be submitted to the YJB and published in 
accordance with the directions of the Secretary of State. The deadline for 
submission this year was 5 August 2019.  After submission to the YJB, Youth 
Justice Plans are sent to Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP - lead 
for YOS inspections) and are placed in the House of Commons library.

Key Points for Consideration

4 Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 2019 – 21 

4.1 The plan outlines how the Bury and Rochdale YOS will:
 

(a) Reduce First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System;
(b) Reduce re-offending by young people; and 
(c) Reduce the use of custody for both sentenced and remanded young people.

We are seeking to do this through: 
(i) Improving how we communicate with young people and the 

interventions we complete with them;
(ii) Putting victims, including young victims, and restorative justice at the 

heart of everything we do;
(iii) Reducing re-offending by targeting our resources on those young 

people committing the most offences and improving their engagement 
in opportunities for education, employment and training;

(iv)Ensuring we have robust quality assurance and staff management 
processes in place and a skilled management team to manage those 
processes;

(v) Ensuring we listen and respond to what young people and their families 
are telling us;

(vi)Ensuring that case management systems and administration support 
provide the highest quality support to staff and managers in the 
delivery of services to courts, communities and young people.

4.2 HMI Probation are currently one year into a four-year inspection cycle; Bury and 
Rochdale YOS and partnership are yet to be inspected under the current cycle.  
An Inspection Framework for Youth Offending Services was published in March 
2018, which sets clear standards expected of Youth Offending Teams (YOTs), to 
ensure the provision of a high quality, personalised and responsive service for all 
children and young people. Whilst there are many aspects of good performance 
contained within the current plan, the service is not complacent and is fully 
aware of the areas where practice needs to be strengthened and performance 
improve.

Page 9



4.3 A self-assessment against the published inspection standards has been 
completed. This work has informed our ongoing quality improvement plans and 
the Service Improvement Plan for 2019/20.

4.4 As part of this commitment to children first and foremost during 2019/20 the Bury 
and Rochdale Management Board has consulted on changing our name to Bury 
and Rochdale Youth Justice Service. This would better represent the work of the 
service and re-focus on prevention and justice, in line with guidance

4.5 Key Achievement 2018/19

4.5.1 Key achievements that have been identified for the period 2018/19 and are 
outlined in the executive summary of the plan. 

Performance against national Outcome Measures 2018/19

(a) First time entrants to the Youth Justice System (FTEs):
Between January 2018 and December 2018 the rate of FTEs per 100,000 10-17 
years population across Bury and Rochdale is 222, which is slightly lower than 
the national average rate of 236. The Bury and Rochdale rate is also marginally 
lower than the North West average at 243.  

(b) Re-Offending
Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (July 2016 – June 2017 cohort) shows a re-
offending rate of 40.3% which is a 4.7% reduction compared to the previous 
year.  This is very slightly higher than the national average rate of 40.1% but 
significantly lower than the North West average rate of 41.4%. Given the 
consistently reducing size of the cohort of young people entering the youth 
justice system, the reoffending figure can vary considerably when compared to 
previous years.  This reduction is therefore seen as good performance and 
representative of the partnership working. 

(c) Use of Custody 
The Bury and Rochdale YOS performance in this area has worsened compared 
to previous years with a rate per 1,000 10-17 years of 0.40 during April – March 
2019. This is higher than both the National and North West averages with rates 
of 0.31 and 0.37 respectively. On each occasion that a young person is 
sentenced to custody, the work of Bury and Rochdale YOS is reviewed to ensure 
all appropriate work was undertaken to offer robust community alternatives and 
to develop learning. We expect this approach to reduce custodial sentences over 
the coming year.

(d) Remand Bed Nights: 1048
There has been a 24.2% increase on the previous year with a total of 1048 
remand bed nights in 2018/2019, with this representing an increase in both the 

Page 10



number of young people being remanded to youth detention accommodation and 
the number of episodes when compared to the previous year. The data has 
limited statistical significance with the number of individuals being remanded 
increasing to 13 (from 12 last year) but the number of episodes was more 
marked increasing to 16 from 13 last year. Bury & Rochdale YOS will proactively 
offer suitable bail packages, including Intensive Support and Surveillance (ISS) 
bail, wherever appropriate.

4.6 Work with Victims, including Young Victims:

4.6.1 Our work with the victims of youth crime has engaged over 123 victims of young 
people who have offended. Victims are offered a range of services including face 
to face meetings with young people, shuttle mediation, letters of explanation and 
update letters. Victims are consulted in relation to Release on Temporary 
Licence and licence conditions. All young people on statutory orders undertake a 
minimum of two sessions in relation to victim awareness. Last year young people 
undertook 1027 hours of reparation and raised more than £300 for local 
homelessness projects.

4.7 Targeting those young people committing the most offences

4.7.1 The Service has continued to prioritise our work with young people who are 
persistently offending. The Service operates an enhanced, intensive, case 
management model for this cohort of young people. All young people considered 
high risk in any domain (risk of serious harm, risk of offending, safeguarding 
risks) are automatically referred to the Case Planning Forum. This is chaired by 
a manager, and including partners where relevant, each case is reviewed to 
ensure that all partners understand the risks assessed at this time and are clear 
about the plans to mitigate the risk. Last year the YOS held 88 case Planning 
Forums involving 50 young people. In addition the YOS works closely with the 
Complex Safeguarding Teams in both Bury and Rochdale to ensure that young 
people at risk of Child Criminal Exploitation, Child Sexual Exploitation and other 
forms of exploitation are worked with intensively. The YOS has seconded a 
Youth Justice Worker to Rochdale Complex Safeguarding Team which includes 
trauma informed recovery as part of its case management model. Bury has 
recently set up a Complex Safeguarding Team and the YOS is in process of 
agreeing a contribution to this. The YOS continues to contribute to Operation 
Bohemia, targeting persistent anti-social behaviour and also contributes to the 
Integrated Offender Management arrangements across Bury and Rochdale. 

Risk and Policy Implications
5

5.1 A full assessment of budget is contained on page 11 of the attached report.  The 
Youth Justice Plan is required to be a fully costed plan under the terms of the 
Grant. Bury and Rochdale YOS pooled budget is £1,875,988 for 2019/20. Since 

Page 11



2011 the Bury and Rochdale YOS combined YOT budget has reduced by 52% 
which has been achieved through a combination of approaches. The budget 
remains challenging, but the YOT anticipates coming in on budget this year and 
seeks every opportunity to secure external funding.

Risk and Policy Implications
6

6.1 Local authorities have a statutory duty to submit an annual youth justice plan 
relating to their provision of youth justice services. Section 40 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 sets out the responsibilities of the Youth Offending 
Partnership in producing this plan.

6.2 The Youth Justice Plan ensures Rochdale Council and statutory partners meet 
their legal responsibilities. Statutory requirements placed on the YOS and the 
Management Board include : 

 Complying with the statutory requirements laid out in s.38 to 40 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and other relevant sections of the Act; 

 Complying with National Standards (NS) for Youth Justice (including 
returning the annual National Standards audit); 

 Submitting required data to the YJB in adherence with the relevant YJB 
data recording guidance; 

 Approving the annual Youth Justice Plan.

6.3 A full assessment of risks to the future delivery against youth justice outcome 
measures is contained on page 16 of the attached report.

Consultation

7 7.1 Overview & Scrutiny Committee are invited to consider the Youth Justice Plan 
2019/21 and key performance data in reducing re-offending during 2018/19 
alongside the areas for improvement identified in the Service Improvement Plan. 
The Youth Justice Plan is produced in consultation with statutory partners and 
staff, and will become a public document open to members of the public to 
inspect.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

None

For Further Information Contact: jill.mcgregor@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 12

mailto:jill.mcgregor@rochdale.gov.uk


Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

1 

Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service 

Youth Justice Plan 
2019 – 2021 

Page 13



 

2 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

Bury and Rochdale YOS was formed in 2014. Since then we have developed an experienced and stable 
multi agency staff team committed to delivering innovative and high quality services across both boroughs. 

The work of the Youth Offending Service, alongside the YOS partnership and other changes across Bury 
and Rochdale has, since our inception in 2014, seen the number of young people entering the criminal 
justice system reduce by around 33% and the number of custodial sentences almost halve. 

An increased number of young people have been diverted away from the criminal justice system receiving 
the interventions that they need to make behavioural changes to avoid further offending, thus making 
neighbourhoods and communities’ safer places to live and work, whilst avoiding unnecessary 
criminalisation. 

As a Board we welcome YJB’s commitment to a Child First strategy and approach towards addressing 
youth crime and the revisions to National Standards with the emphasis on Quality Assurance that the YJB 
have asked the partnership to undertake in relation to those standards. This will help drive local practice 
over the coming year, underpinned by Child First principles. 

Bury and Rochdale YOS are active partners in intervening and reducing the risk of children linked to 
Criminal Exploitation, Complex Safeguarding and Serious Youth Violence. This includes a strong 
prevention offer, as well as proactive partnership interventions with those children identified as experiencing 
exploitation to keep them safe. 

In the context of austerity the YOS has worked hard to develop efficiencies and partnerships with others to 
maximise reach and influence with young people at risk of reoffending. To that end, it continues to work in 
close collaboration with other council services and partnership agencies to deliver best outcomes for 
children, young people and families and the local community.   

Disproportionality remains under active review, in particular the overrepresentation of children who are 
excluded from mainstream schools as well cared for children within the youth justice cohort and this needs 
to be a focus of our work in the coming year. 

We know that for most young people their involvement with the youth justice system is short and the 
proportionate interventions they receive mean that they will go on to do well in learning and employments 
and become active citizens with voice and influence. For those, whose involvement can be longer we 
recognise the often complex safeguarding issues that need addressing alongside the presenting behaviour. 

We can be proud of our achievements with young people, but there is still much work collectively to do 
across the partnership. Our service improvement plan in Appendix 4 lays out the main focus for service 
improvement work over the year ahead. 

Gail Hopper and Karen Dolton 

Chairs of Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service Management Board 

Foreword 

Page 14



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

3 

Executive Summary  4 

Introduction 7 

Structures and Governance 9 

Resources and Value for Money 11 

Partnership Arrangements 15 

Risks to Future Delivery against Youth Justice Outcome Measures 16 

Appendix 1:  Approval of Strategic Plan     18 

Appendix 2:  Review of Performance Against the Key Indicators 19 

Appendix 3: Bury & Rochdale YOS Budget 2019/20 22 

Appendix 4: Service Improvement Plan 2019/20 23 

Appendix 5: Service Structure 2019/20 25 

Appendix 6: Bury and Rochdale YOS Statutory Functions 
26 

Appendix 7: Contact Details 27 

Contents 

Page 15



 

4 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

 

The Youth Justice Plan 2019/20 highlights work 
done to date, and key achievements and 
outcomes for 2018/19. It outlines key priorities, 
budget, staffing, service developments and the 
service improvement plan for 2019/20. 

Our Key Achievements: 

1. National Outcome Measures 2018/19

Reducing First Time Entrants to the 
Youth Justice System (FTEs):  
Between January 2018 and December 
2018 the rate of FTEs per 100,000 10-17 
years population across Bury and 
Rochdale is 222, which is slightly lower 
than the national average rate of 236. The 
Bury and Rochdale rate is also marginally 
lower than the North West average at 
243.   

Reducing Re-offending  
Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (July 2016 
– June 2017 cohort) shows a re-offending
rate of 40.3% which is an impressive
4.7% reduction compared to the previous
year.  This is very slightly higher than the
national average rate of 40.1% but
significantly lower than the North West
average rate of 41.4%. Given the
consistently reducing size of the cohort of
young people entering the youth justice
system, the reoffending figure can vary
considerably when compared to previous
years.

 Reducing the Use of Custody 
Custodial Sentences:  
The Bury and Rochdale YOS 
performance has regrettably worsened 
compared to previous years with a rate 
per 1,000 10-17 years of 0.40 during April 
– March 2019. This is higher than both
the National and North West averages
with rates of 0.31 and 0.37 respectively.
On each occasion that a young person is
sentenced to custody, the work of Bury
and Rochdale YOS is reviewed to ensure
all appropriate work was undertaken to
offer robust community alternatives and to
develop learning. We expect this
approach to reduce custodial sentences
over the coming year.

Remand Bed Nights: 1048 
There has been a 24.2% increase on the 
previous year. There has been an 

increase in both the number of young 
people being remanded to youth 
detention accommodation and the 
number of episodes when compared to 
the previous year. The data has limited 
statistical significance with the number of 
individuals being remanded increasing to 
13 (from 12 last year) but the number of 
episodes was more marked increasing to 
16 from 13 last year.  Bury & Rochdale 
YOS will proactively offer suitable bail 
packages, including ISS bail, wherever 
appropriate. 

Appendix 2 provides further detail to 
illustrate the above information.  

2. Work With Victims:
Our work with the victims of youth crime has
engaged over 123 victims of young people
who have offended. Victims are offered a
range of services including face to face
meetings with young people, shuttle
mediation, letters of explanation and update
letters. Victims are consulted in relation to
Release on Temporary Licence and licence
conditions. All young people on statutory
orders undertake a minimum of two
sessions in relation to victim awareness.
Last year young people undertook 1027
hours of reparation and raised more than
£300 for local homelessness projects.

3. Targeting those young people
committing the most offences
The Service has continued to prioritise our work
with young people who are persistently
offending. The Service operates an enhanced,
intensive, case management model for this
cohort of young people. All young people
considered high risk in any domain (risk of
serious harm, risk of offending, safeguarding
risks) are automatically referred to the Case
Planning Forum. Chaired by a manager, and
including partners where relevant, each case is
reviewed to ensure that all partners understand
the risks assessed at this time and are clear
about the plans to mitigate the risk. Last year
the YOS held 88 case Planning Forums
involving 50 young people. In addition the YOS
works closely with the Complex Safeguarding
Teams in both Bury and Rochdale to ensure
that young people at risk of Child Criminal
Exploitation, Child Sexual Exploitation and
other risks are worked with intensively. The

Executive Summary 

Page 16



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

5 

YOS has seconded a Youth Justice Worker to 
Rochdale complex safeguarding team which 
includes trauma informed recovery as part of its 
case management model. Bury has recently set 
up a Complex Safeguarding Team and the 
YOS is in process of agreeing a contribution to 

this. The YOS continues to contribute to 
Operation Bohemia, targeting persistent anti-
social behaviour and also contributes to the 
Integrated Offender Management 
arrangements across Bury and Rochdale 

The work carried out during 2018/19 which 
has supported our Key Achievements has 
been:- 

Reducing First Time Entrants (FTEs) 
 Reviewed the assessment tool used for young

people subject to an out of court disposal.
 Introduced the availability of a variety of pre

court disposals
 Introduced a revised decision making panel

process through which out of court disposals
are considered in conjunction with our
policing teams and victim officers

 Joined locality family support panels to offer
YOS services in the context of whole family
interventions

 Introduced a schools prevention programme,
providing a range of modules for young
people identified by schools

 Developed a range of quality assurance
processes including the QA of  out of court
disposals

Reducing Re-offending 
 Ensured that all intervention plans, where

appropriate, are developed in conjunction
with other planning processes across Bury
and  Rochdale Children’s services

 Continued to work with colleagues in
residential homes (in house and privately
run)  to reduce offending by Looked After
Children (LAC);

 Developed and refined our Case Planning
Forum ensuring regular management and
multi-agency oversight of those deemed to be
high risk of reoffending

 Introduced and refined pre-breach meetings
and a compliance panel

 Seconded a YOS officer to Rochdale Complex
Safeguarding Team and developed linkages
with Operation Bohemia, Prevent, Channel
and Integrated Offender Management to
improve safeguarding and the targeting of
intervention for high risk offenders.

 Following a MAPPA SCR in Rochdale,
reviewed and revised the application of the
transition protocol with NPS

 Introduced revised quality assurance 
processes.

 Bury and Rochdale YOS have named
substance misuse workers who are trauma
informed in their delivery of specialist
treatment interventions.

Reducing Use of Custody 

 Reviewed all cases, including a National
Standards Audit where a custodial sentence
was imposed and looked for learning
opportunities;

 Received feedback from Magistrates in
respect of the service provided by Bury and
Rochdale YOS;

 Maintained a 6 day per week service,
including  experienced court officers  available
for Saturdays and Bank Holiday special
courts;

 Maintained dedicated management cover for
a 6 days per week service.

 Introduced pre-breach and compliance panels
for all statutory orders including licences.

Work with Victims, including Young Victims 
 Continued to improve the involvement of

victims in deciding the type of reparation work
to be undertaken;

 Reviewed and amended processes to improve
the service we offer to victims and young
people who offend through our restorative
justice work;

 Maintained a specialist Victim Liaison officer
worker  to support victims of youth crime;

 Delivering our work in the communities where
young people and families live;

 Delivering 1,027 hours of court ordered
reparation/ unpaid work, where appropriate
informed by the wishes and feelings of
victims.

In 2019/20 we will: 
 Maintain the low level of First Time Entrants to

the Youth Justice System;
 Reduce re-offending by young people;
 Reduce the use of custody for both sentenced

and remanded young people.

By: 

 Embedding an evidence based Child First
vision & approach across the whole youth
justice system & partnership in Bury &
Rochdale, including consulting on the
nomenclature of the current service

 Putting victims, including young victims, and
restorative justice at the heart of everything
we do;

 Diverting children & young people from the
formal youth justice system whereverPage 17



 

6 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

appropriate through effective prevention & 
use of out of court disposals 

 Responding to the overrepresentation of 
white males and cared for children & young 
people known to Bury & Rochdale YOS 

 Reducing re-offending by targeting our 
resources on those children & young people 
committing the most offences and improving 
their engagement in opportunities for 
education, employment and training; 

 Working effectively with partners to prevent 
children committing, or experiencing, serious 
youth violence, including weapon crime 

 Working effectively with partners to identify 
early and safeguard children & young people 
at risk of, or experiencing, child exploitation, 
including county lines. This will be informed by 
our recent (June 2019) child exploitation 
mapping exercise. 

 

 Revising our health & education pathway and 
offers for children & young people known to 
the youth justice system 

 Ensuring we have robust quality assurance 
and staff management processes in place and 
a skilled management team to manage these 
processes; 

 Undertaking a National Standards audit 
across out of court disposals, statutory court 
work and custody 

 Reviewing our adherence to the National 
Probation Service transition protocol and 
transition arrangements  

 Ensuring that we listen and respond to what 
young people and their families are telling us; 

 Improving how we communicate with children 
& young people and the interventions we do 
with them; 

 
See Appendix 4 (Service Improvement Plan 
2019/20) for more detail. 
 

 
 
  

 

 
 

Page 18



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

7 

 

 

 
 

 
 
Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are statutory 

partnerships, established under the Crime and 

Disorder Act 1998, with the principal aim of 

preventing offending by children and young 

people. Local Authorities are responsible for 

establishing a Youth Offending Team within their 

area. Police, National Probation Service and 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are 

statutorily required to assist in their funding and 

operation.  

 
Local Authorities continue to have a statutory 

duty to submit an annual youth justice plan 

relating to their provision of youth justice 

services. Section 40 of the Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998, sets out the youth offending 

partnership’s responsibilities in producing this 

plan. It states that it is the duty of each local 

authority, after consultation with the partner 

agencies, to formulate and implement a statutory 

annual youth justice plan setting out: 

• How youth justice services in their area are to 

be provided and funded; 

• How the Youth Offending Service (YOS) will be 

composed and funded, how it will operate, 

and what functions it will carry out. 

 

Statutory requirements placed on the YOS and 
the Management Board include: 

• Complying with the requirements laid out in 

s.38 to 40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998, and other relevant sections of the Act; 

• Complying with National Standards for Youth 

Justice (including returning the annual NS 

audit). 

 Submitting required data to the YJB in 

accordance with the relevant YJB data 

recording guidance; 

 Ensuring appropriate methods are used to 

transfer data within the youth justice system. 

Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service 

Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service was 

formed in 2014. It is chaired on a rotating basis 

between the Directors of Children’s Services for 

Bury and Rochdale. Partnership members are 

drawn from across Bury and Rochdale. Active 

links are maintained at both strategic and 

operational level to Criminal Justice, Community 

Safety, Safeguarding Boards and Children, 

Young People and Families boards. 

 

The Service is represented at strategic level in a 

range of key partnerships (e.g. Children and 

Families Partnership, Voluntary sector, Bury 

Community Safety Partnership, Rochdale 

Community Safety Partnership, Safeguarding 

Children’s Boards, and a number of Greater 

Manchester Authority partnerships including court 

users and complex safeguarding.  

 

Strategic Purpose of Bury and Rochdale YOS 

• To prevent re-offending by children and young 

people; 

• To reduce First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the 

youth justice system; 

• To be achieved by delivering specialist 

interventions; 

• Underpinned by safeguarding and public 

protection. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Introduction  

Page 19



 

8 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

 
 For 2019/20, Bury and Rochdale YOS priority focus is on the following four outcome areas:  

•  reducing first time entrants 
• reducing re-offending 
• reducing the use of custody (both sentenced and remanded) 
• Ensuring public protection/safeguarding by providing specialist interventions. 
 
We will look to achieve improved outcomes in these core areas by seeking to embed a Child First vision 
& approach across the whole youth justice system & partnership in Bury & Rochdale. In practice, this will 
mean:  

 Prioritising the best interests of children involved in the youth justice system, recognising their 
particular needs, capacities, rights & potential. Work will be child-focused & developmentally 
informed.  

 Promoting children’s individual strengths & capacities so that they develop positive identities 
that sustain desistance, leading to safer communities & fewer victims. Work will be built on 
supportive relationships that empower children to fulfil their potential  

 Encouraging & supporting children’s active participation, engagement & wider social inclusion 
(including health & education) to promote improved safeguarding & desistance.   

 Promoting a childhood removed from the justice system, using pro-active prevention, diversion 
& proportionate intervention. Work will seek to minimise criminogenic stigma from contact with 
the system and support successful transitions to adulthood.  

 
This approach will be informed and enhanced by robust quality assurance processes, children, family and 
victim engagement and feedback and effective targeting of resources to address persistent offending, 
disproportionality, serious youth violence and all forms of child exploitation, as outlined in our Service 
Improvement Plan 2019/20 (see appendix 4)  

 
 
 
See Appendix 4: Service Improvement Plan 2019/20 

 
 
 

Page 20



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

9 

Governance – Management Board 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service is 
accountable to a multi-agency Management 
Board, chaired on a rotating basis by the 
Directors of Children’s Service for Bury Borough 
Council and the Director of Children’s Services 
for Rochdale Borough Council. The membership 
and terms of reference of the Management 
Board are reviewed annually.  Membership is at 
appropriate Senior Officer level.  

The Management Board consists of: 
 Bury Children’s Services (Director & Assistant

Director)
 Rochdale Children’s Services  (Director and

Assistant Director, Head of Service
Cared4Children & YOS)

 Greater Manchester Police (Chief Inspector)
 National Probation Service (Assistant Chief

Officer)
 Community Rehabilitation Company

(Assistant Chief Executive)
 Pennine Care Foundation Trust
 Public Health (Bury)
 Connexions (Bury)
 Head of School Improvement (Rochdale)
 Positive Steps (Rochdale)
 Early Break (Area Manager)
 Youth Justice Board

Membership, attendance and governance are 
reviewed annually to ensure they remain robust  

The Management Board ensures it has 
appropriate links with other partnerships by 
requiring members of the Board to report on the 
work of those partnerships of which they are a 
member. As members of the Management Board  

are also members of an appropriate range of 
other partnerships it is an expectation that they 
promote youth justice as a priority across the 
wider partnership arena.  

The YOS Manager and Chair of the Management 
Board provide regular formal reports and updates 
in relation to performance and impact to a range 
of partnerships including Rochdale Safer 
Communities Partnership, Bury Safer 
Communities Partnership, Bury Safeguarding 
Children’s Board, Rochdale Safeguarding 
Children’s Board, Rochdale Corporate Parenting 
Board and Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

The Management Board ensures Bury and 
Rochdale Youth Offending service can deliver 
effective youth justice services and improve 
outcomes for young people by: 
 Providing clear performance oversight,

challenge  and direction and seek assurances
in response to revised national standards;

 Challenge partners, including board
attendance

 Receiving regular budget reports;
 Ensuring the service is adequately resourced;
 Providing clear governance and

accountability;
 Reviewing the statutory partners’ budget

contribution to Bury and Rochdale Youth
Offending Service;

 Ensuring links to the various partnerships
external to Bury and Rochdale Youth
Offending Service

This is achieved by providing: 
 Strategic oversight, challenge  and direction;
 Support;
 Partnership working;
 Planning and resource

Structure and Governance 

Page 21



 

10 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

 
Structures 

 
Bury and Rochdale YOS is hosted by Rochdale 
Borough Council under a SLA and is part of 
Children’s Services Directorate. The Head of 
YOS is line managed by the Assistant Director of 
Children’s Services (Rochdale) and also sits on 
the YOS Management Board. The Head of the 
YOS also has responsibility for cared for children 
(looked after children) and is part of the 
children’s social care senior management team. 
 
 
Reducing Youth Crime – Integrated Strategic 
Planning 
The primary focus of Bury and Rochdale Youth 
Offending Services – preventing re-offending by 
young people, reducing first time entrants to the 
Youth Justice System and reducing the use of 
custody – is fully integrated into the following 
strategic plans/strategies across the two 
boroughs: 
 Bury Children’s and Young Peoples Plan 
 Rochdale Children’s and Young Peoples plan 
 Bury Community  Safety Plan 
 Rochdale Community Safety Plan 
 Bury Council Plan 
 Rochdale Council Plan 
 Rochdale  Reducing Re-Offending Strategy 
 GM Drug and Alcohol Strategy 2019 – 2021  

 Early Help Strategy; 
 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service has 
developed links across health but there is more 
to do. Speech and Language screening takes 
place across all young people, but there are 
differential pathways across the two boroughs. 
Completing a further Health Needs assessment 
of young people who offend and further 
consideration of the points of access is a priority 
 
Bury and Rochdale YOS have close linkages 
with Complex Safeguarding. Each borough has 
local arrangements for responding to young 
people at risk of child sexual exploitation and 
child criminal exploitation, which includes the 
secondment of a youth offending service officer 
to the Rochdale Complex Safeguarding Team. In 
addition we work closely with the Greater 
Manchester Complex Safeguarding team, and 
the strategic approach across GM is chaired by 
the Rochdale Director of Children’s Services. 
Bury and Rochdale YOS are also part of each 
Boroughs response to reducing Serious Youth 
violence. 
 
 

Page 22



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

11 

Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending service is 
committed to the following principles: 
 Prioritising front line delivery and core

services to young people and partners;
 Continuous quality improvement to improve

practice with and outcomes for young people,
victims and communities;

 Ensuring young people are safeguarded and
risk is managed;

 Ensuring that Value for Money by using our
time and resources wisely.

These underpin all our work in respect of 
budgetary management. Financial management 
is underpinned by regular budget reports to the 
Management Board and the Head of YOS meets 
monthly with finance colleagues.  

Budget 2019/20 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service 
budget comprises partnership funding, YJB 
funding and specific grant funding.  The budget 
allocation is reviewed annually by Bury and 
Rochdale YOS Management Board and all 
partners (Police, Probation, Health through 
CCGs and Local Authority) agree funding and 
secondment contributions for the following year.  

Bury and Rochdale YOS pooled budget for 
2019/20 is £1,875,988 

A detailed budget breakdown can be found at 
Appendix 3. 

YJB Grant Funding 2019/20 

 The YJB provides a Youth Justice (YOT)
Grant (England) separately to both Bury and
Rochdale which form part of the Bury and
Rochdale YOS pooled budget.

 Youth Justice (YOT) Grant (England)

 Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation
(RYDA) Grant

Both grants are ring-fenced to youth justice 
services. The entire Rochdale Grant is 
passported to the Youth Offending service and 
Bury provide an agreed configuration. 

Allocation £482,432 and Bury Allocation 
£267,767 
The ring-fenced grant is provided by the YJB to 
local authorities ‘for the purposes of the 
operation of the youth justice system and the 
provision of youth justice services’ (‘Youth 
Justice Plans: YJB Practice Note for Youth 
Offending Service Partnerships’, YJB, May 
2017).  The grant may only be used by the Local 
Authority to fund its Youth Offending Team with a 
view to achieving the following outcomes: 

 Reduction in youth re-offending;

 Reduction in the numbers of first time entrants
to the Youth Justice System;

 Reduction in the use of the youth custody;

 Effective public protection;

 Effective safeguarding.

The YJ Grant is used as part of Bury and 
Rochdale Youth Offending Service pooled 
budget (see Appendix 3). This supports delivery 
of our Service Improvement Plan 2019/20 which 
focuses on the YJB key outcome measures. 

Uncertainty caused by late notification of YJB 
grants, as is the case this year, causes problems 
in respect of business planning. 

Remands to Youth Detention 
Accommodation: Rochdale Allocation 
£132,265 and Bury Allocation £87,100 
The full cost of all remand bed nights is the 
responsibility of the local authority. The grant is 
for bed nights in Young Offenders Institutions 
(YOI) only. Bury and Rochdale Councils continue 
to separately manage their remand budgets but 
the role of the board is to collectively monitor, 
analyse and challenge performance related to 
remands to youth detention 

Resources and Value for Money 

Page 23



 

12 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

 
Budget Savings 2019/20 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service, like 
all public services, has to manage within a tough 
budgetary environment and therefore ensure that 
we spend our available resources and time 
wisely.  
 

 Since 2010/11, Bury and Rochdale’s combined 
youth offending spend has reduced from 
£1,606,777 representing a 52% overall budget 
reduction.  It should be noted the budget 
savings have been achieved by stopping doing 
some activities, being innovative and 
opportunistic in the development of 
partnerships and at all times endeavouring to 
protect front line services by developing new 
and more efficient ways of working.   

 
Subject to confirmation of the YJB grant for 
Services and Remand Grant (managed 
separately by Rochdale and Bury), we have 
managed the revised budget envelope for 
2019/20 by:  
 reviewing all staffing in light of service needs 

and re-profiling some posts to increase 
resilience/capacity; 

 Co-locating the Service with Rochdale Cared 
for Children’s services achieving significant 
costs savings on our previous standalone 
building 

 Using community resources to operate from a 
series of satellite bases to enable us to make 
contact with young people and victims in their 
own localities when appropriate ; 

 Streamlining management and support/admin 
services; 

 Reducing business support staff and 
introducing a range of leaner admin processes 
and operating procedures; 

 Removing essential car user allowance 
 Introducing unpaid leave 
 Freezing increments       

 Changing the way we work with local 
partnerships to ensure the most efficient and 
effective approach possible 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staffing and Service Delivery 
 
Service Delivery 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service 
works with young people across the whole Youth 
Justice spectrum (out of court and post court) to 
reduce re-offending. All young people have been 
through formal Police processes, or have been 
referred from a Rochdale Locality Family Panel  
 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service 
work includes:  
 pre conviction arena (bail and remand 

management); 
 prevention 
 out of court disposals 
 community sentences; 
 Custodial sentences.  
 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service 
ensures the delivery of court orders (both in the 
community and custody) in line with National 
Standards for Youth Justice, National Case 
Management Guidance and other statutory 
requirements through a deployment of a range of 
professional staff acting as either Case 
Managers or specialist deliverers of interventions 
(See Appendix 5). In addition, we recruit, train, 
manage, supervise and deploy volunteers to 
carry out a range of functions (including the 
statutory delivery of Referral Order Panels). In 
partnership with other GM authorities we operate 
a fully staffed court rota for the Youth Court, 
Remand Court, Crown Court and Special Courts 
(Saturdays and Bank Holidays) with dedicated 
management cover. We ensure safeguarding 
and management of risk, including public 
protection, in relation to young people in the 
Youth Justice System. 
 
Restorative Justice underpins all our statutory 
work with young people. Bury and Rochdale 
Youth Offending Service employs a victim liaison 
officer to work with victims of youth crime to 
ensure that our work with young people who 
offend is purposeful and meaningful. In the last 
12 months our dedicated victim officer made 
contact with a total of 123 victims of crime. 
Following that victims are offered (where 
appropriate) a range of services including face to 
face meetings with young people, shuttle 
mediation, letters of explanation and update 
letters including letting victims know if orders are 
successfully completed. Victims are consulted in 
relation to Release on Temporary Licence and 
licence conditions, and are referred for additional 
support where identified. 
 
 
 Page 24



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

13 

All young people on statutory orders undertake a 
minimum of two sessions with our victim officer in 
relation to victim awareness. It remains our 
ambition to extend this offer to Out of Court 
Disposals 

Bury and Rochdale YOS delivers a wide range of 
reparation activity. This includes a close 
partnership with Real Change Rochdale – a 
consortium of charities working together to tackle 
homelessness. Young people cook food for their 
soup kitchen, have decorated their buildings and 
raised more than £300 through creating and 
selling snack bags. Reparation is tailored to the  

age, cogitative ability of the individual and 
informed too by victims when appropriate. Other 
activities include a range of groundwork and 
work with animals. 

In 2018/19, a total of 1,027 hours of 
reparation were completed by young people 
supervised by Bury and Rochdale Youth 
Offending Service. 

Page 25



 

14 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

Staffing 
The Service is staffed in line, and fully complies, 
with the requirements of the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998, including:  
 Social Workers;
 Probation Officer (NPS);
 Police Officers;
 Police staff;
 Health staff;
 Education Welfare Officer

There is a range of other staff, for example: 
 Managers;
 Youth Justice Officers
 Youth Justice Workers
 Victim Liaison Officer;
 Referral Order Coordinator
 Reparation Coordinator
 Sessional Reparation Officers;
 Intensive Supervision and Surveillance (ISS)

specialists
 Case Management Support (performance)

officer
 Business Support staff;

In addition we are part of a shared service with 
other GM authorities staffing our local Courts and 
jointly deploy a Social Worker to HMYOI 
Wetherby. 

Staffing Structure 

Appendix 5 shows the existing Bury and 
Rochdale Youth Offending Service staffing 
Structure. 

As of 1 April 2019 Bury and Rochdale Youth 
Offending Service had 26 FTE staff plus 
sessional staff and 10 active volunteers. 

Most staff are trained in Restorative Approaches/ 
Restorative Justice and a number have received 
specific training in reducing Child to Parent 
conflict resolution.  

Seven YOS officers are trained in AIM 
assessments and will convert to AIM 3 
assessments in the forthcoming year 

Our specialist Victim Liaison Officers (VLOs) is 
trained in a range of restorative practices and is 
responsible for the support offer to victims. 

The Voice of Young People in the Youth 
Justice System 
Young people play an active role in the work of 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service 
although we have ambitions to consolidate this 
further across 2019/20. 

The service has numerous ways of obtaining 
young people’s views, including; 

 Feedback on each intervention undertaken;

 Ad hoc feedback on specific themes

 Manager reviews of cases with young people;

 Referral Order panel reviews with young
people;

 Every assessment includes a self-assessment
by the young person;

 Compliance panels and pre-breach re-
engagement meetings with young people (for
those at risk of breach/non-compliance);

 A number of young people we work with are
or have been Cared for Children and we
actively encourage participation within Bury
and Rochdale’s participation arrangements for
Cared for Children

The active participation of young people in their 
own assessments and intervention plans is 
quality assured through our audit tool which 
specifically examines children’s active 
involvement and the recording of wishes and 
feelings. 

Page 26



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

15 

. 

Partnership Arrangements 
Partnership arrangements in place to deliver 
effective and efficient youth justice services 
across Bury and Rochdale: 
 Partners (Police, National Probation Service

and Health) have maintained their specialist
staff and / or  financial contributions to the
service for 2019/20;

 Rochdale Borough Council is the lead 
partner;

 The Management Board consists of statutory
partners plus broader membership
(Connexions, Public Health, Early Break,
Homelessness Services, Positive Steps);

 Management Board members are of 
appropriate seniority; 

 Management Board members are proactive,
working both within and outside the Board, to
support the work of the service.

Resettlement after Custody 
As a result of our multi-agency approach to 
resettlement, all young people leaving custody in 
2018/19 had appropriate accommodation 
sourced and available prior to release. Bury and 
Rochdale YOS works closely with Housing 
across both boroughs alongside Children’s 
Services to ensure young people are effectively 
resettled. 

No young people were remanded to the secure 
estate in 2018/19 as a result of inappropriate 
accommodation. 

Prevent 
Local Authorities, including Youth Offending 
Services, are subject to a duty under section 26 
of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015, 
in the exercise of their functions, to have ‘due 
regard to the need to prevent people from being 
drawn into terrorism’.  

This duty, known as the Prevent duty, applies to 
a wide range of public bodies. Within Bury and 
Rochdale YOS this duty is discharged through 
our casework with young people who have 
offended and through our membership of 
partnerships charged with carrying out the 
Prevent work. We additionally second a member 
of staff to Rochdale Complex Safeguarding 
Team. All staff have completed, as a minimum, 
Prevent e-learning and are aware of their duties 
and responsibilities.  

Case Managers have worked closely with Police 
and other colleagues when concerns about 
radicalisation/extremism have been identified 
with young people and/or families and have 
taken lead case management roles when 
appropriate. 

Transitions 
In 2018/19 we revisited the transitions protocol 
with Probation, informed by emerging 
recommendations from a MAPPA Serious Case 

Review. Transitions with Probation or our 
Community Rehabilitation Company now 
commence as soon as young people attain the 
age of 17yrs 6 months. Transitions meetings are 
held as soon as young people come in scope 
attended by a Practice Manager, our 2 seconded 
probation officers, a senior Probation officer and 
manager from the Community Rehabilitation 
Company. Introductory meetings commence 
when young people attain the age 0f 17yrs 9 
months. A QA of our transitions work has taken 
place this year.  

Operation Bohemia 
Operation Bohemia commenced in October 2018 
across the Rochdale district in response to young 
people who were creating a high level of demand 
on agencies. The operation has a Gold, Silver, 
Bronze structure with the  strategic aim of 
reducing crimes and incidents, minimising harm 
to the community and to safeguard young people 
through a collaborative approach.  Bury and 
Rochdale YOS are key partners at every level. 
Operation Bohemia will now be the permanent 
Rochdale district approach to addressing youth 
violence, anti-social behaviour and substance 
misuse, including developing an approach to 
utilising the serious youth violence monies being 
made available across GM. 

Information Sharing 
Partnership information sharing protocols/ 
agreements are in-place and ensure holistic 
assessment, intervention and outcomes for 
young people who offend.  Staff have access to a 
range of case management systems/ databases 
in Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service, 
including: 
 All Police intelligence systems including PNC

and IOPS (Police);
 SystemOne (Health) and all other health

databases relevant to the home agency of the
staff within Bury and Rochdale  ;

 LiquidLogic (Rochdale Safeguarding/
Children’s social care);

Partnership Arrangements 

Page 27



 

16 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

 LiquidLogic  (Bury Safeguarding/ Children’s 
social care); 

 Capita ONE (Education);  
 Integrated Youth Support System (Youth 

Justice case management system). 
 
 
The range of case management systems / 
databases in CDYOS allows staff and secondees 
to access critical, real time information regarding 
the young person/family to support management 
of risk and vulnerability. This ensures holistic 
assessment and information sharing to improve  
outcomes for young people in the Youth Justice 
System. The YOS has a member of staff 
embedded within the Rochdale EHASH, 
Rochdale Complex Safeguarding Team and will  
 
 

 
 
develop relationships with the new Bury complex 
Safeguarding Team 
In addition, integrated Youth Support System is 

available out of hours for:  
 Emergency Duty Team (EDT);  
 All magistrates’ courts in Manchester used by 

Bury and Rochdale YOS. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Risks to future delivery against youth justice outcome measures  
Risks have been identified (see table on pages 22-23) and a series of mitigating actions agreed. 
 
In addition there are a number of other actions in place to mitigate risk, including: 

 Sector Led Improvement; 

 Peer Review of Out of Court Disposals; 

 Pan GM collaboration on Complex Safeguarding, Child Criminal Exploitation and workforce development 

 Development work with colleagues within children’s services across Bury and Rochdale in CYPS and 
across partnerships; 

 
Sector Led Improvement 
Involvement in Sector Led Improvement enables Bury and Rochdale YOS to keep up to speed with national 
developments, share good practice and learn from others. The head of service and both Practice Managers 
are experienced in leading or participating in peer reviews 
 
Members of Bury and Rochdale YOS are involved in a range of Greater Manchester practice development 
groups. 
 
Bury and Rochdale YOS Quality Assurance (QA) Framework 
Over the past 12 months Bury and Rochdale YOS has reviewed, developed and implemented an amended 
Quality Assurance Framework which covers all QA work undertaken by line managers in the service. 
Practice managers audit an agreed number of cases each month and these are moderated by the Head of 
Service with learning also reported to the partnership Board and a Rochdale children’s services 
improvement group. The YOS was an active partner in the SEND inspection and has articulated its 
contribution to the local offer. 
 
A Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) audit and national standards audit in relation to custody has been 
completed and further national standards audits are planned for the next year. The Bury and Rochdale YOS 
partnership board will be presented with the findings of the CCE audit and the national standards audit as 
part of its monitoring, assurance and challenge functions 
 
Bury and Rochdale YOS Partnership Board will monitor and review YOS the contribution to Operation 
Bohemia, including the links with school exclusion, the development of work with schools (including a 
weapons protocol) and the contribution of the YOS towards the reduction of serious youth violence across 
both Bury and Rochdale.  
 

Risks to Future Delivery against Youth Justice Outcome Measures 

Page 28



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

17 

All custody cases and high risk cases are regularly reviewed through the Care Planning Forum 
mechanisms. 

Workforce Development 
An extensive programme of workforce development is in place, provided both through Rochdale Borough 
Council training and also through access to all partner’s training, to ensure all Bury and Rochdale YOS staff 
and managers can maintain and develop their skills in a rapidly changing operating environment. Bury and 
Rochdale YOS collaborates with other Greater Manchester YOTs to offer a number of training opportunities 
including ASSET Plus and AIM 3. 

Diversity 
Analysis of our cohort has highlighted that white males and cared for children are significantly 
overrepresented in the Bury and Rochdale YOS caseload. The reasons for this need to be further explored 
leading to a clear action plan on how the YOS and partners will seek to address this disproportionality. This 
is likely to include additional training and refreshing engagement with residential homes that have a greater 
propensity to involve the police when incidents involving our cared for children occur within those settings. 

Page 29



 

18 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

Risk Action to Mitigate Risk 

Future budget 
efficiencies/reductions in 
partner contributions 

 On-going review of Service structure
 Review all vacancies as they arise in context of service needs
 Review and develop pathways to support young people during & after statutory

supervision
 Maximise community resources
 Maximise opportunities for partnership working with other agencies
 SIP 2019/20
 Quality Assurance processes/quality improvement plans and processes
 Commit to continuous quality improvement regardless of budget situation

Robust mid-term financial planning within Bury and Rochdale Council and with
partners.

Increases in remand bed 
nights places increased 
strain on both Bury 
Council’s and Rochdale 
Council’s associated 
budget 

 High quality budget monitoring and management
 Timely, accurate and relevant information to managers
 Brief relevant partners on need for efficient, speedy processes
 Constantly review and develop Bury and Rochdale practice in each remand

case, including actively considering applications for community bail packages
 Provide timely updates to Bury and Rochdale Management Board and other

relevant partnerships

Re-offending rate 
(binary) increases due to 
continued reduction in 
full cohort numbers at a 
rate greater than 
reduction in numbers of 
young people re-
offending 

 Expansion of re-offending targeted cohort
 Review and changes to enhanced programme for re-offending cohort
 Amendments and improvement in QA processes
 Emphasis on improving quality of core practice
 SIP 2019/20
 Development of trauma recovery model for reoffending cohort

Page 30



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

19 

This plan was approved by Bury and Rochdale Management Board members on 26 July 2019. 

I approve this plan on behalf of the Board and agree submission to the YJB. 

Gail Hopper and Karen Dolton 

Chairs of Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service Management Board 

 Appendix 1 Bury and Rochdale YOS Management Board – Approval of Strategic Plan 

Page 31



 

20 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

First Time Entrants 

Between Jan 2014 – Dec 2014 and Jan 2018 – Dec 2018, we have achieved a 33.5% reduction in first 
time entrants to the youth justice system, from a rate of 344 per 100,000 10-17 year olds to 222.  

Reducing Re-offending 
This measure, provided by the MoJ, provides a rate of reoffending of a cohort of young people who: 

 Receive an out of court disposal (N.B. This does not include the Pre Caution Disposal)

 Receive a court conviction

 Were discharged from custody

The measure counts any offences committed in a 12 month follow up period, where those offences are 
proved by a court conviction or out of court disposal in that period or in a further 6 months. This gives a 
methodologically robust measure of re-offending. 

All data is taken from the Police National Computer (PNC) and is summarised before distribution to youth 
offending services/teams. 

Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (July 2016 – June 2017 cohort) shows a re-offending rate of 40.3% which 
is a 4.7% reduction compared to the previous year.  This is higher than the National rate which is 
39.8% but below the North West rate of 41.4%. 

The rate of reoffending can fluctuate considerable due to the significant decreases, year to year, in the 
size of the cohort of young people. The graph below shows the fluctuating re-offending rates for Bury 
and Rochdale since the April 2010 - March 2011 cohort, but also shows that the current trend is a 
reduction in reoffending rates. 

 Appendix 2 Review of Performance against YJB Key Indicators 

Page 32



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

21 

Reducing the Use of Custody 
Between 2014 and 2019 we have reduced the rate of custodial sentences from 0.84 to 0.40. 

The Bury and Rochdale YOS rate per 1,000 10-17 population of 0.40 is higher than both the England 
and North West average rates of 0.31 and 0.37 respectively. This, therefore, remains a challenge for the 
Service to reduce, where appropriate, the use of custodial sentences. Each time a young person 
receives a custodial sentence, the role of Bury and Rochdale YOS is reviewed to ensure that we have 
undertaken all appropriate tasks to ensure that custody is used as a last resort. 

Remand bed nights (Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation) at 1048 nights saw a 24.2% increase 
on the previous year. There has been an increase in the number of young people being remanded to youth 
detention accommodation compared to the previous year. The numbers have limited statistical significance 
with the number of individuals being remanded increasing to 13 (from 12 last year) but the number of 
episodes was more marked increasing to 16 from 13 last year. Remand numbers varies considerably.  We 
have reviewed each case and in all cases the remand to youth detention was considered appropriate due, 
mostly, to the seriousness of the offences but also due to the history of the young people. We are in 
discussion with colleagues from HM Courts to review processes to ensure the time spent, by young people, 
remanded to youth detention is minimised as much as possible. 

Page 33



 

22 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

Number of Young People Offending and Offences Committed 
We have achieved a 73.2% reduction in the number of offences committed, from 2889 in 2010/11 to 775 in 
2018/19; and a 73.4% reduction in the number of young people offending, from 933 in 2010/11 to 248 in 
2018/19. This includes all offences committed by young people aged 10-17 years, resulting in a Pre 
Reprimand Disposal (PRD) 2008 - 2013 / Pre Caution Disposal (PCD) 2013 onwards, out of court disposal 
or a court conviction.  

Page 34



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

23 

Agency 
Staffing 
Costs 

Payments 
in Kind 

Other 
Delegated 
Funds 

Total 

Police 50,000 50,000 

Probation 45,000 45,000 

Health 7,000 7,000 

Local Authority 904,852 19,100 923,952 

YJB 111,800 738,236 850,036 

Other 

Total 1,111,652 764,336 1,875,988 

N.B. 
The Youth Justice (YOT) Grant is used as part of partnership pooled budget to support delivery of our 
Service Improvement Plan (see Appendix 4) to support work to reduce re-offending, first time entrants and 
use of custody. 

 Appendix 3 Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service Budget 2019/20 

Page 35



 

24 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

Priority 

1) Embedding a Child First vision & approach across the whole youth justice system & partnership in
Bury & Rochdale

This means that the work of B&RYOS & the wider partnership will be underpinned & guided by a child first, 
offender second principle. In practice, this will mean:  

 Prioritising the best interests of children, recognising their particular needs, capacities, rights & potential.
All work will be child-focused & developmentally informed.

 Promoting children’s individual strengths & capacities so that they develop positive identities that sustain
desistance, leading to safer communities & fewer victims. All work will be built on supportive relationships
that empower children to fulfil their potential

 Encouraging & supporting children’s active participation, engagement & wider social inclusion to promote
safeguarding & desistance.

 Promoting a childhood removed from the justice system, using pro-active prevention, diversion &
proportionate intervention. All work will seek to minimise criminogenic stigma from contact with the system.

As part of this commitment to children first & foremost during 2019/20 we will consult on changing our name to 
B&R Youth Justice Service. This would better represent our work, present a more positive image and underline 
that children who offend are not just offenders but have a range of attributes, skills & issues. 

2) Diverting children from the formal criminal justice system wherever appropriate through effective
prevention & use of out of court disposals

 Review B&RYOS prevention offer, including work with schools to prevent serious youth violence, violent
extremism & criminal exploitation. To align the prevention offer with B&R’s wider early help & youth service
offer

 Revise the out of court disposal (OOCD) joint decision making procedures & arrangements for B&R in
conjunction with Greater Manchester Police to reflect best national practice

 Ensure that opportunities for restorative justice are considered in all out of court disposals

 Develop ‘scrutiny panel’ arrangements to ensure appropriate independent oversight of OOCD decision
making

3) Putting victims, especially young victims, & restorative justice at the heart of everything we do
 Revise our of out of court disposal procedures so that all victims have an opportunity to provide their views

& engage in restorative justice
 Develop & implement key indicators for this area of the service, including victim satisfaction feedback
 Research reasons & develop improvement plan to increase the take-up of B&RYOS offer by victims,

especially for victims of offences of violence.
 Further develop our work with young people who are both victims & offend, in recognition of the extent of

this crossover
 Understand the learning from the recent YOS Child Criminal Exploitation mapping exercise in order to

support the effective development of a partnership action plan that addresses all forms of child exploitation,
including the links to serious youth violence & ‘county lines’.

 Embed revised Referral Order guidance to ensure greater use of restorative work.

4) Targeting our resources on those young people committing the most offences
 Further improve our understanding & assessment of likelihood of offending & risk of serious harm, including

through use of a re-offending live tracker tool
 Refine our research into this cohort of children & young people, which captures their views, & use the

findings to shape future developments
 Develop our contribution to Operation Bohemia across Rochdale, including our response an action to

reduce the incidence and impact of Serious Youth Violence across both Bury and Rochdale
 Implement an appropriately resourced model of trauma recovery/enhanced case management
 Improve joint working & planning with the wider children’s social care system, including complex

 Appendix 4 Service Improvement Plan 2019/21 (To be reviewed in 2020) 

Page 36



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

25 

safeguarding teams, in recognition that these children are often also some of the most vulnerable 
 Review resources available for work with this cohort of children & young people to avoid ‘intervention

fatigue’
 Ensure that clear pathways are agreed to enable children & young people to readily access appropriate

universal & specialist health & education provision
 Promote opportunities to engage in restorative processes & achieve successful transitions to adulthood
 Ensure that all B&RYOS managers & practitioners have undertaken the strengthening relational practice

training & can apply the learning
 Better understand & respond to the identified overrepresentation of while male & cared for children known

to B&RYOS
 Target preventative resources on those young people at significant risk of becoming a young person who

offends persistently – identified through the research undertaken & multi-agency early identification

5) Ensuring we have robust quality assurance & staff management processes in place & a skilled
management team to manage these processes

 Continue to develop the quality assurance processes to ensure they are flexible enough to meet the
changing requirements of the service & responsive to issues as they are identified

 Managers to continue to facilitate & chair Case Planning Forums for the most complex cases & refine where
appropriate

 Managers to deliver pre-sentence report refresher training
 Review & amend the management functions & capacity to support effective QA, including consideration of

creating an Advanced Practitioner post within the service
 Ensure that the learning identified through the quality assurance process is reflected in the development of

quality improvement plans & impacts upon practice
 Ensure that B&RYOS practice is in line with the revised National Standards
 Ensure, as far as possible, that processes remain stable & consistent over time.

6) Ensuring we listen & respond to what young people & their families are telling us
 Review, amend & develop the means through which we receive feedback from children & young people &

parents/carers
 Improve the use of children & young people’s self-assessment in the Asset Plus assessment process & their

explicit involvement in intervention planning
 Develop means of collating feedback/communication so that we can evidence the impact on service

developments
 Develop our understanding/use of the role of advocate for young people’s views to ensure entitlement to

education, health & other mainstream services is met

7) Ensuring we minimise the use of custody & support effective resettlement

 Seek HMCTS representation on the YOS Management Board

 Improve our engagement & feedback processes with local magistrates & judiciary

 Ensure that pre-sentence report proposals are of high quality & consider all appropriate community
intervention options

 Undertake a case learning review for all children & young people who receive a custodial sentence to drive
ongoing practice improvement

 Review resettlement procedures to ensure that best practice is achieved & evidenced through children &
young people’s successful resettlement from custody

 Minimise children & young people’s detention in police custody & improve the response to requests for
accommodation under PACE through application of the GMP protocol

8) Improve how we communicate with children & young people & the interventions completed
 Extend the quality assurance process to include the delivery of interventions
 Ensure improved access to SLCN screening & therapy for Rochdale children & young people know to YOS
 Develop interventions to ensure they can be adapted to meet individual needs of young people
 Increase the amount & quality of children/parent/carer involvement in planning & delivery of interventions
 Develop our use of social media as a means of communicating with children/young people & parents/carers

Page 37



 

26 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

 Appendix 5 Service Structure 2019/20 

Page 38



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 

27 

Provision of: 
 Case management of Court Orders (Community and Custody) in line with National Standards for Youth

Justice
 Out of Court Disposals
 Specialist assessment based on criminogenic factors and desistance
 Interventions to reduce re-offending
 Court staffing (Youth, Crown, Remand Courts including Saturday and Bank Holiday working)
 Bail Supervision functions
 Appropriate Adult service for Police interviews (PACE)
 Pre-Sentence Reports for Courts
 Community Volunteers (Referral Order Panels)
 Recruit, train, manage, supervise, and deploy volunteers to carry out statutory functions
 Referral Order Panel Reports
 ‘Prevention’ services to prevent youth crime
 Anti-Social Behaviour escalation supervision
 Service to victims of youth crime (both young people and adults)
 Delivery of court-ordered reparation to community and victims
 Delivery of Unpaid Work requirements (16/17 year olds)
 Transition services to NPS/CRC
 YJMIS data / management info to Youth Justice Board / Ministry of Justice regarding youth justice cases
 Parenting Orders imposed in the Youth Court (Criminal Matters)
 Case management of Sex Offenders (Assessment, Intervention and Moving On (AIM)) – young people

under 18
 Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation (RYDA)
 Resettlement of young people after custody

Duty to: 
 Comply with National Standards for Youth Justice
 Comply with arrangements for multi-agency public protection (MAPPA)
 Comply with relevant legislation
 Cooperate with MAPPA and CSP
 Provide and support a Management Board
 Produce and deliver an annual Youth Justice Plan
 Provide assistance to persons determining whether Youth Cautions or Youth Conditional Cautions

should be given
 Cooperate with Bury Children’s Services and Rochdale Childrens Services  to improve wellbeing of

children and young people across Bury and Rochdale

 Appendix 6 Bury and Rochdale YOS Statutory Functions 

Page 39



 

28 

Bury and Rochdale YOS Youth Justice Plan 

 

 
 Jim Hopkinson 

Head of Bury and Rochdale YOS  
(jim.hopkinson@rochdale.gov.uk)  
 
Karen Dolton 
Co-Chair, Bury and Rochdale Management Board 
(Karen.doulton@bury.gov.uk) 
 
Gail Hopper 
Co-Chair, Bury and Rochdale Management Board 
(gail.hopper@rochdale.gov.uk)  
 
Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending Service 
Fashion Corner 
57/59 Drake Street,  
Rochdale,  
OL16 1XL 
 
Telephone:  01706 925353 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 Appendix 7 Contact Details  

 

Page 40

mailto:jim.hopkinson@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:Karen.doulton@bury.gov.uk
mailto:gail.hopper@rochdale.gov.uk


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Bury and Rochdale Youth Offending 
Service 

Youth Justice Plan 
2019 – 2021 

 

Page 41



OFFICIAL  
 

 

 
12th August 2019   Correspondence sent by E-mail 
 
 
 
Dear Karen and Gail  
 
 
Subject: Youth Justice Plan Bury Rochdale 
 
 
Thank you for your Youth Justice Plan submitted on August 5th, 2019 
 
I can confirm that this complies with sections 40(1) & (2),40(3) and 40(4) of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998.i  
 
The plan has been quality assured and the following elements are of note: 
 

 the encouraging foreword of the Board chairs 

 the clearly defined priorities for the coming year, specific focus on transitions and resettlement 
after custody  

 good analysis of achievement in this year and a commitment to maintain the good performance 
on FTES and reduce reoffending and use of custody in 2019/20 

 
This submission complies with conditions of grant and a notification of acceptance of the plan is with YJB 
finance. 
 
Wishing you every success in achieving the aspirations set out in your published plan  
 
Yours Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Liza Durkin 
Head of Business Area North West England 
5th Floor | 70 Petty France | London | SW1H 9AJ 
M: 07795590087 
Email:liza.durkin@yjb.gov.uk  Website: www.gov.uk/yjb 
 
Working to ensure every child lives a safe and crime-free life and makes a positive contribution to society 
 
Visit the Youth Justice Resource Hub for the latest youth justice information, training and support. 

 
Cc: YOT Manager, J Hopkinson 

                                            
 
Youth Justice Plan requirements 

Page 42

mailto:liza.durkin@yjb.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/yjb
https://yjresourcehub.uk/


[Official] 

2 
 

                                                                                                                                                         
40(1) & (2) Crime and Disorder Act 1998  

The local authority must, after consultation with police or local policing body, Secretary of State, providers of 

probation services, local probation board, clinical commissioning group, Local Health Board, formulate and 

implement for each year a plan (a “youth justice plan”) setting out how youth justice services in their area are to 

be provided and funded; and how the YOT/s established by them (whether alone or jointly with one or more 

other local authorities) are to be composed and funded, how they are to operate, and what functions they are to 

carry out.  

40(3) Crime and Disorder Act 1998  

Local authorities may assign functions to YOTs including functions under paragraph 7(b) of Schedule 2 to the 

Children Act 1989 Act (local authority's duty to take reasonable steps designed to encourage children and young 

person’s not to commit offences).  

40(4) Crime and Disorder Act 1998  

A local authority must submit a youth justice plan annually to the Youth Justice Board setting out (a) how youth 

justice services are to be provided and funded in their area and (b) how the YOTs established by them are to be 

composed and funded, how they are to operate and what functions they are to carry out. The plan must be 

published in such manner and by such date as the Secretary of State may direct. 

 

Page 43



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 20th November 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services
Report Author Fay Davies
Public/Private Document Public

SEND update

Executive Summary

1. Members of the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
requested information on numbers and costs of Rochdale children with special 
education needs who are travelling out of borough to access education. This 
report summarises government reported data to January 2019 and council 
SEN projected spend up to the 2019/20 financial year.

Recommendation

2. No recommendations; report for information only.

Reason for Recommendation

3. None

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

The Children and Families Act 2014 and associated regulations
introduced a new Code of Practice for Children with Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) in England.

The changes extended the age range of people covered by the regulations to 
from 0-19 to 0-25 years.

Statements of Special Educational Needs were replaced by individualised 
Education, Health & Care plans (EHCP’s) and the categorisation of children 
requiring support that could be provided using a school’s existing resources, 
(School Action and School Action Plus) were replaced by the ‘SEN Support’ 
label.

Rochdale has above national and above Greater Manchester (GM) levels of 
children with an ECHP. In 2019 Rochdale had 3.6% of its pupils with an EHCP 

Page 44

Agenda Item 8



4.5

4.6

compared to a GM level of 3.3% and national level of 3.1% 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-
england-january-2019), see figure 1. The sharp drop between 2015 and 2016 
was due to the change from SEN statements to EHCPs described above. 
Since 2016 rates of EHCPs have been rising nationally.

Figure 1: Percentage of pupils with EHCP 2007-2019

The number of children with EHCPs has grown by 203 since 2016, which is an 
18% increase (table 1).(Special Educational Needs in England January 2019, 
link as above).

YEAR 2016 2017 2018 2019
Number of children with EHCP’s 1117 1187 1228 1320

Percentage increase from 2016 6% 10% 18%
Table 1: Number of children with EHCP's

The government statistic report on children with EHCPs linked above only 
covers those children in maintained settings and splits children into those 
attending mainstream Primary schools, mainstream Secondary schools and 
Special schools. 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2019


4.7

4.8

4.9

Figure 2 shows, of all children covered by the report, what percentage attend 
each of the settings, and compares the percentages to England, Greater 
Manchester (GM) average, and each of the other GM authorities. The 
percentage of Rochdale EHCP children in Special schools is 44% compared 
to 58% in Tameside.

Funding from central government for SEN pupils is in the High Needs block of 
the Dedicated School Grant. The way it is calculated, adjusted and re-adjusted 
has changed continually and does not reflect how much money is available for 
the local authority because of both, recoupment with central government 
funding of Academy schools, and year to year adjustments. Changes have 
also been made with the High Needs funding due to the National Funding 
formula. However table 2 shows funding levels, after being reduced in 2017 
and 2018, has now increased slightly for 2019. The funding levels shown here 
are to put context to costs on out of borough placements in the following 
sections.

2016 2017 2018 2019 (provisional)
High Needs Block allocation  (£million) 
prior to recoupment (rounded 2dp) 23.16 21.18 22.30 23.86
Percentage increase /decrease from 2016 -9% -4% +3%

Table 2 High Needs Block Funding 2016-2019 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-
grant-dsg-2016-to-2017, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2017-to-
2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2018-to-2019, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2019-
to-2020)

There have always been some children whose special educational needs 
require out of borough specialist provision ; such as children who attend 
hospital schools because of long term chronic conditions. Historically the 
numbers have been very low. Since the growth in the school aged cohort 
combined with the introduction of EHCPs, there has been an increased 
demand for out-of-borough Special school places in the Independent (Indep) 
and Non-maintained (NMSS) sector. With the fact that EHCPs now cover 
young adults up to the age of 25, it means that the Pre-16 and Post-16 
numbers are both increasing (table 3)

Number of Pupils
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2017-19 percentage increase

Indep Pre 16 21 33 39 86%
NMSS Pre 16 9 13 12 33%

Indep Post 16 5 7 9 80%
NMSS Post 16 9 8 7 -22%

TOTAL 44 61 67 52%
Table 3: Numbers of Pre-16 and Post-16 pupils at Independent and Non-maintained special schools

The total cost of those placements detailed in table 3 above are shown in table 
4 below, with the calculated percentage increase over the three year period.

Total Cost

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

2017 -19 
Percentage 

Increase
Indep Pre-16 £      727,804 £  1,311,514 £  1,632,910 124%

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2018-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2019-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2019-to-2020


4.10

NMSS Pre-16 £      403,380 £      676,381 £      640,742 59%

Indep Post-16 £      265,847 £      238,460 £      464,903 75%
NMSS post-16 £      382,735 £      356,031 £      355,847 -7%

TOTAL £  1,779,766 £  2,582,386 £  3,094,402 74%
Table 4: Total cost of out-of-borough placements for Independent and Non-maintained Special Schools

The following shows the average cost per place and the way it has changed 
over the three years of data.

Cost per pupil
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Indep Pre-16  £  34,657  £  39,742  £  41,869 
NMSS Pre-16  £  44,820  £  52,029  £  53,395 

Indep Post-16  £  53,169  £  34,065  £  51,655 
NMSS post-16  £  42,526  £  44,503  £  50,835 

TOTAL  £  40,449  £  42,334  £  46,185 
Table 5: Cost per place for pupils in Independent and Non-maintained Special Schools

Alternatives Considered

None

Costs and Budget Summary

5. SEN costs and spend are reported to Cabinet annually for approval. This 
report is for context only.

Risk and Policy Implications

None. There are no legal implications as this Report is for information 
purposes only.

6.

Consultation

7. None

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Fay Davies, , 
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 47



Agenda 
Item

Report to Health, Schools & Care Overview & Scrutiny

Date of Meeting 20 November 2019
Portfolio Adult Care
Report Author Steve Blezard
Public/Private Document Public

Disabled Facilities Grants and Associated Assistance Policy

Executive Summary

1. Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) are governed by the Housing Grants 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  The legislation is quite specific in 
certain aspects, but more open to interpretation in others.  The Disabled 
Facilities Grants and Associated Assistance Policy has been written to 
clarify how we intend to implement the legislation and formalises what is 
currently custom and practice.

Recommendation

2. That the Disabled Facilities Grants and Associated Assistance Policy is 
considered and approved for publication.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

The provision of DFG is referred to as part of the Housing Assistance Policy 
currently in place (shared policy between Strategic Housing and Adult Care), 
borne out of the Regulatory Reform Order, which is a legal requirement for 
every local authority to have published.  There is very little detail in the 
Housing Assistance Policy on how DFGs will actually be delivered.

Interpretation of the legislation, custom and practice has determined how we 
have made decisions and delivered DFGs over the last 20 years.  We have 
developed decision making around published Ombudsman investigations, 
good practice guidance (Housing Adaptations for Disabled People:  A 
detailed guide relating to legislation, guidance and good practice, published 
by the Home Adaptations Consortium in 2013 and updated in 2015) and 
sharing information and experience with other local authorities.  

Page 48

Agenda Item 9



3.3

3.4

3.5

There are increasing challenges from service users and their carers/families 
around how decisions have been made in respect of their adaptations and 
we have been asked for policy documents to support decision making.

The attached policy has been developed to incorporate all aspects of DFG 
decision making.  Some sections of the proposed policy are directly taken 
from the legislation and cannot be changed, whereas others are around 
interpretation and best practice.

Overview and Scrutiny Committee are required to consider the policy and 
approve the areas that are discretionary.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 The summary below provides brief information on all sections of the policy 
and notes on the areas of discretion, which will form the decision making for 
approval of the policy.

The full Policy can be found at Appendix 1

Section of the 
policy

Summary Issues of note to 
Members/decision 
required

4.  Eligibility to 
apply for a DFG

Taken directly from legislation, with 
some further clarification based on 
interpretation 

5.  Means testing Taken directly from legislation
6.  Applicant 
financial 
contributions 
(including works 
costing in excess 
of the maximum 
grant limit

Details how we will deal in practice 
with situations where there is a 
contribution and also covers a 
discretionary top up grant provision of 
£10,000, which is already in place in 
the existing grants and assistance 
policy

It is recommended that 
we retain this provision 
as the maximum DFG 
limit has remained at 
£30,000 for over 10 
years and costs of 
works have increased 
during that time, with 
extensions now costing 
significantly more than 
the £30,000 maximum 
grant limit.

7.  Eligible works Taken directly from the legislation, with 
some further clarification based on 
interpretation

8.  Works non- 
eligible for grant 
assistance

Formalisation of items that we have 
never provided assistance for, some 
interpreted from parts of the legislation, 
others where we believe there is no 
legal requirement to provide

9.  Use of rooms 
and minimum 
room sizes

We always seek to provide adaptations  
within the existing footprint of the 
property wherever possible.  We 
receive many challenges after we 

Page 49



advise that 2nd living rooms can be 
converted to bedroom/bathrooms, or 
that the configurations of bedrooms be 
changed to accommodate vertical lifts.  
This is formalising existing practice.  
We are also challenged to build bigger 
extensions, so have produced some 
suggested room sizes, in conjunction 
with other LAs, to use as a guide.

10.  Bathroom 
works

The legislation dictates the facilitation 
of access to a bathroom to be used by 
the disabled person, but not the detail 
of the fixtures and fittings.  We have 
been using the principles detailed in 
section 10, to provide a basic, 
functional level access shower room to 
meet the needs of a disabled person.  
If an applicant wants a higher spec 
(e.g. more tiles, different tiles, new 
toilet, etc), we can facilitate this but 
they must fund it themselves.

11.  Kitchen 
adaptations

The legislation dictates the facilitation 
of access to a kitchen for a disabled 
person to prepare meals, but not the 
detail of the fixtures, fittings and space 
requirements.  We have been using 
the principles detailed in section 11, to 
provide a basic, functional kitchen, to 
meet the needs of a disabled person, 
only if they need to prepare their own 
meals.  A kitchen can be a high cost 
item and it only needs to be functional, 
so we would not provide items or 
facilities that anyone would be 
expected to have in their kitchen e.g. 
oven.

12.  Ramping The legislation dictates the provision of 
access to and from a dwelling.  
Ramped access is the usual way this is 
provided and this section details how 
we will provide the ramp, in line with 
existing custom and practice and 
taking account of building regulations.

13.  Access to 
gardens/fencing 
and safe play 
areas

The legislation dictates facilitating 
access to a garden, but provides no 
detailed guidance for this.  Many 
gardens are on several different levels 
where it would be inappropriate to 
attempt to provide access to all levels.  
Also, there is often an expectation that 
the works will cover landscaping.  This 

Page 50



section details existing custom and 
practice to provide basic access to the 
most appropriate part of the garden.  It 
also covers the provision of fencing 
and safe play areas for children with a 
disability.

14. Two  dwellings 
converted into one

We are often asked to provide 
adaptations to properties which were 
originally 2 dwellings, now converted 
into 1.  These are often unofficial/illegal 
conversions, which don’t meet current 
building regulations.  There is also 
often an expectation that the DFG will 
carry out extensive works to make 
them flow better as one dwelling, which 
is not what the DFG is intended to do.  
This section formalises our existing 
custom and practice.

15.  Party Wall etc 
Act 1966

We are often involved in adaptations at 
the boundary of an adjoining property 
where the Party Wall Act is relevant.  
This section details how we will deal 
with those situations.

16.  Disrepair We are regularly dealing with 
adaptations in properties where there 
is significant disrepair, which shouldn’t 
be rectified as part of the DFG, as 
funding is limited and much of the work 
is the responsibility of the home owner.  
This section formalises how we 
currently deal with these situations.  
We can support people to apply to trust 
funds, or consider equity release 
products in situations where they do 
not have the funds available to 
maintain their homes.

Suggest we continue to 
fund any disrepair linked 
to the DFG up to the 
value of £250.

17.  Asbestos There are legal responsibilities in 
relation to how we deal with asbestos 
containing materials.  Some properties 
can have significant levels of asbestos 
which is expensive to remove and 
shouldn’t form part of the DFG.  This 
section formalises how we currently 
deal with such situations.

18.  Electrical 
issues

Increasing issues with electrical 
installations in properties where we are 
undertaking adaptations, which can be 
very costly to rectify and full or partial 
rewires shouldn’t really be part of the 
DFG costs.

Page 51



19.  Maintenance After the warranty period/defects 
liability period, all adaptations with the 
exception of vertical lifts, steplifts and 
ceiling track hoists are the 
responsibility of the owner/landlord for 
ongoing maintenance and repair.   

We offer to retain 
ownership of these 
items due to LOLER 
regulations (usually 
being operated by 
carers, so need 
maintenance/service to 
be up to date and also 
thorough examinations).  
Suggested that this 
continues

20.  Overcrowding Details how we will deal with an 
adaptation where the property is 
overcrowded.

Suggest we continue to 
use this discretion. It is 
in the good practice 
guidance.

21.  Applicant’s 
own choice of 
adaptation

Details the use of discretion in allowing 
an applicant to have a choice of 
adaptation, e.g. we recommend a 
vertical lift, but they prefer an 
extension, so we contribute the cost of 
the vertical lift towards the extension.

Suggest we continue to 
use this discretion.  It is 
referenced in good 
practice guidance.

22.  Works costing 
£10,000 or less 
(discretionary 
assistance)

Details how we can use a discretionary 
grant without a means test.  Currently 
in the grants and assistance policy at 
£8,000.  Proposal to increase to 
£10,000.

Suggest we continue 
with this discretionary 
form of assistance and 
increase to £10,000.

23.  Adaptations 
for disabled 
children spending 
time in more than 
one property

Details how we will deal with a 
situation where a child’s time is split 
between the homes of more than one 
adult, which is in line with the 
legislation that only 1 dwelling can be 
adapted as the “only or sole 
residence”.

24.  Changes in 
circumstances 
leading to 
cancellation of the 
DFG after it has 
been approved

Details how we will deal with situations 
leading to a grant being cancelled, 
once works are in progress.  This is in 
line with the legislation.

25.  Repayment of 
DFG

An amendment to the legislation in 
2008 gave LAs the discretion to 
impose a limited charge on adapted 
properties to owner occupiers for 
repayment if their property is sold 
within ten years and if the DFG costs 
more than £5k. The maximum that can 
be reclaimed is capped at £10k.
Repayment can only be sought from 
owner occupiers as the charge cannot 
be levied on properties occupied by 
tenants.  Charges could be placed on a 

We have never made 
use of this power, but 
most other LAs have 
and each year in the 
annual return, the 
question is asked of us 
whether we have had 
any monies repaid.  It is 
likely to affect a small 
number of people, but 
would generate some 
revenue to the authority.  

Page 52



property via the local land charges 
system or at the Land Registry. 
When seeking repayment from grant 
recipients, the DFG General Consent 
Order 2008 provides some exemptions 
from recovery, which are detailed in 
this section.

Suggest that this is 
implemented

26.  Contractors 
undertaking the 
works

Details the requirements if applicants 
choose to employ their own contractor.

Some applicants 
challenge the 
requirements we have 
in place, as they want to 
use a friend, or 
someone who is not a 
recognised builder.  
Suggest we continue 
with requirements 
currently in place to 
keep people safe and 
protect the public purse.

27.  Working with 
Registered Social 
Landlords (RSLs)

Details the requirement of the RSL to 
give permission for the adaptations.  
There is a legal requirement for the 
owner to consent to any works and 
RSLs have their own policies, which 
we have to work within.

28.  
Respite/relocation 
during works

The DFG does not make provision for 
any respite or relocation costs whilst 
adaptation works are being undertaken 
but in some cases it is necessary for 
the disabled person to move out for a 
period of time whilst the works are in 
progress. 

Need to make provision 
for those who need to 
access temporary 
respite due to health 
and safety risks.  
Include for a maximum 
of 7 days of respite 
costs in exceptional and 
specific circumstances.

29.  Panel decision 
making

Explains how the Adult and Children’s 
adaptations panels work.

30.  Data 
Protection Act 
2018 and General 
Data Protection 
Regulations 
(GDPR)

Details our responsibilities under 
GDPR.

31.  Appeals and 
complaints

Details appeals and complaints 
process for challenging decisions 
made about adaptations.

32.  Summary of 
other discretionary 
related assistance

Summary of all the discretionary 
assistance. 

This assistance is all 
discretionary – suggest 
this continues as good 
practice.

Page 53



4.2 Alternatives Considered

The alternative is to continue to have informal decision making around the 
interpretation of the legislation, or custom and practice, which is unhelpful when 
trying to respond to challenges and complaints.

Not having a formal policy approved and in place could lead to the service failing to 
deliver and perform as strongly as possible, which could in turn lead to the Local 
Authority failing to maximise the external funding for DFGs.  The policy includes 
some innovative use of the capital funding from Central Government which is 
accepted as good practice and also ensures that the maximum number of vulnerable 
people receive adaptations which is recognised as contributing to less higher cost 
interventions in the longer term by Health and Social Care.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 The DFG capital budget is paid to the Council from Central government, 
therefore, no budget provision is required directly from the Council to 
support the delivery of the proposed policy.  The policy ensures the capital 
budget can be maximised and enables us to be in a strong position to bid for 
additional resources from central government when opportunities arise.

Risk and Policy Implications

The policy maximises the help and support available for elderly, disabled 
and vulnerable people within the borough.  The risks to not having a 
formally approved policy in place are greater, as we are more open to 
challenge and the decision making could be inconsistent.

6.1

Consultation

7.1 Consultation has been undertaken with staff from Adult Care, Strategic 
Housing Services and the Team for Children and Young People with a 
Disability within the Children’s Service.  Their comments and suggestions 
have been incorporated into the policy.  The feedback has been extremely 
positive in having a formal policy in place.  The policy has been reviewed 
by Legal Services and any comments incorporated.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. There are no background papers, all 
relevant information is embedded in 
the attached proposed policy 
document.

Not applicable

Page 54



For Further Information Contact: Kathryn Andrew
Kathryn.andrew@rochdale.gov.uk
Tel:  01706 924057

Page 55

mailto:Kathryn.andrew@rochdale.gov.uk


Disabled Facilities 
Grants and Associated 
Assistance
Policy

Page 56



Document Control
Document Title: DFG Policy

Summary

Publication Date

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation

 Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996
 Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and 

Wales) Order 2002
 Housing Renewal Grants Regulations 1996 (as amended)
 Disabled Facilities Grant (Conditions relating to approval or 

payment of Grant) General Consent 2008
 Party Wall etc Act 1996
 The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012
 Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 

(LOLER) 1998
 The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 

2015
 Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974


Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents

 Care Act 2014
 Equality Act 2010
 ODPM circular 05/2003 Housing Renewal
 Reliefs from VAT for disabled and older people (VAT Notice 

701/7)
 Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 (CSDPA) 

S.2 of the CSDPA is legally an extension of Part 3 of the 
Children Act 1989

 Children Act 1989 s.17 
 Children and Families Act 2014 
 NHS Continuing Care for Children 
 Better Care Fund
 Housing Adaptations for Disabled People:  A detailed 

guide relating to legislation, guidance and good 
practice, published by the Home Adaptations 
Consortium in 2013 and updated in 2015)

Replaces

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint

Policy Owner (Name/Position) Helen Murphy (Head of Governance and Business Support)

Policy Author (Name/Position) Kathryn Andrew (Prevention Service Manager)

Applies to All staff delivering major adaptations and associated works

Review of Policy

Last Review Date

Page 57



Review undertaken by

Next Review Date 31/03/2020

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.
Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Editorial Board EB

Portfolio holder

Contents

1. Executive summary
2. Introduction
3. Aims and objectives of the policy
4. Eligibility to apply for a DFG
5. Means testing 
6. Applicant financial contributions (including works costing in excess of the maximum grant 

limit)
7. Eligible works
8. Works non eligible for grant assistance
9. Use of rooms and minimum room sizes
10.Bathroom works
11.Kitchen adaptations
12.Ramping
13.Access to gardens/fencing and safe play areas
14.Two dwellings converted into one
15.Party Wall etc Act 1966
16.Disrepair
17.Asbestos
18.Electrical issues
19.Maintenance
20.Overcrowding
21.Applicant’s own choice of adaptation
22.Works costing £10,000 or less – Discretionary Home Repairs Assistance Grant (DHR)
23.Adaptations for disabled children spending time in more than one property 
24.Changes in circumstances leading to cancellation after the grant has been approved
25.Repayment of DFG
26.Contractors undertaking the works
27.Working with Registered Social Landlords (RSLs)
28.Respite/relocation during works
29.Panel decision making
30.Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)
31.Appeals and complaints
32.Summary of other discretionary related assistance

Page 58



1. Executive Summary 

1.1 This Policy sets out how the mandatory provision of Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) under the 
statutory powers of the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (HGCRA) and 
associated Acts and Statutory Instruments are applied in practice in Rochdale. There are also 
references related to discretionary forms of assistance, within the wider Housing Grants and 
Assistance Policy, which is made under alternative powers of the Regulatory Reform Order 2002.  

2. Introduction 

2.1 DFGs are a national programme funded by Central Government to help to ensure that people with a 
disability can continue to live independently and safely within their own property. 

2.2 The DFG legislation and regulations are governed by the Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 and associated regulations. The legislation places a statutory and mandatory 
duty on every local Authority to provide grant assistance, if the application meets the criteria set out 
in the legislation.

2.3 The minimum threshold for a DFG is £1,000 and the maximum upper grant limit is £30,000 (including 
VAT if applicable and Local Authority Fees of 10% or £250, whichever is the greater).

2.4 The legislation requires a DFG to be subject to a financial means test.

2.5 The necessary adaptation should be provided within the footprint of the existing property wherever it 
is possible to do so. This can include changes to existing layout and use of rooms in the property.
If it is not possible to provide the necessary adaptations within the footprint of the existing dwelling, 
any adaptations must be provided within the curtilage of the property.  Adaptations will not be 
considered in any outbuildings that are not linked to the main dwelling, nor will any separate building 
be erected that is not linked to the main dwelling.  

2.6 A DFG is only available for the disabled person’s only, or main residence. It cannot be provided for 
second or holiday homes.

2.7 A DFG will provide the most modest, practical and cost effective adaptation to meet the assessed 
needs of the disabled person, ensuring that the limited resources are able to meet demand across the 
Borough.

3. Aims and objectives of the policy

3.1  To improve the lives of people with disabilities by enabling them to remain independent and safe in 
their own home with the use of adaptations.

3.2 To reduce the need for domiciliary and residential care by allowing people with disabilities to live more 
independently in their own homes. 

3.3 To provide advice, information and support regarding the adaptation of properties to meet disability 
needs. 

Page 59

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53


3.4 To treat individuals fairly regardless of age, sex, gender, disability and sexual orientation, or any other 
protected characteristic within the Equality and Diversity Policy and to protect their rights under Data 
Protection and Human Rights legislation.

3.5 To provide clarity and transparency as to how the Council will apply the DFG legislation and details 
around the decision making process.

Rochdale Borough Council’s vision is that:

We are a council which builds success and prosperity with our citizens and partners, whilst protecting 
our vulnerable people.  

We want to improve the lives and wellbeing of elderly, vulnerable and disabled people and believe 
that all residents of the Rochdale Borough who have a disability, or long term condition should have 
a safe and suitable home to meet their disability needs, so that they can remain living as independently 
as possible in their own home.    

4. Eligibility to apply 

4.1 To be eligible to apply for a DFG, a person must have a disability, which includes substantial 
impairments in sight, hearing or speech, any ‘mental disorder or impairment’ and any substantial 
physical disability whether from birth or through illness or injury.

4.2 The following forms, details and permissions are required for an application to be considered a “valid 
application” and a DFG cannot be approved until all of these have been provided and verified:

a. Referral from an OT (or authorised professional e.g. OT Assistant, Trusted Assessor etc.) 
determining the works are “necessary and appropriate”.  (The Authority cannot refuse to accept a 
referral from an independent OT, usually employed directly by the prospective grant applicant, but 
retains its duty to undertake its own holistic assessment and no decision on grant eligibility will be 
made until our own assessment and recommendations have been made);

b. Property survey and evidence from a Technical Officer that the works are “reasonable and 
practicable”;

c. Application form (Appendix 1);
d. Certificate of occupation (owners or tenants);
e. Confirmation of ownership (land registry search, investigation of title form);
f. Permission of the owner;
g. Means test form and proof of all financial information (Appendix 2);
h. Schedule of work;
i. Plans (if applicable);
j. For work costing over £4,999, a minimum of 3 quotes from a contractor meeting the criteria in 

Section 26, unless a procurement framework (enabling us to purchase specific goods or services 
at an agreed price) is in place;

k. Estimates and evidence of any fees included within the grant e.g. architect, Planning etc.;
l. An asbestos survey report (if applicable);
m. Planning and Building Control permissions and approvals (if applicable).

4.3 The applicant must have recourse to public funds and be eligible to apply for a DFG, as defined in the 
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  Further information can be found within 
the Adult Care “No Recourse to Public Funding (NRPF) guidance”.

4.4 The applicant must be able to prove that they live in the property as their only or main residence and 
this will be verified with other records, such as Council Tax, electoral register, Benefits agency, or any 
other appropriate means.

Page 60

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53


4.5 The following situations will not usually be eligible for DFG:

a. Where the owner has a statutory duty to carry out the necessary works and it is reasonable in the 
circumstances for them to do so;

b. Where the residence is not regarded as permanent and the intention to remain there for 5 years 
does not exist;

c. Where the works to be carried out are covered by insurance and the applicant is able to make a 
claim;

d. Where the building is not within the footprint of the existing dwelling, e.g. an outbuilding or shed;
e. Where the property is in a poor, or dangerous condition and remedial work is required prior to the 

DFG works being undertaken, e.g. electrical rewire, failure of Damp Proof Course (DPC), or other 
significant elements of disrepair, as identified by the Technical Officer or Surveyor;

f. The property size, type, location or layout are such that it is not reasonable or practicable to adapt, 
which would be decided by the Adult or Children’s panel as detailed in Section 29 of this policy;

g. The property is over occupied and doesn’t meet the needs of the family residing there;
h. The disabled person (or their family in the case of a child) do not have the right to remain, or 

access to public funds;
i. The property has been converted, or had other building works carried out, which are not 

appropriately approved or certified by Planning, Building Control, or other statutory body.

5.  Means testing

5.1 The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 requires all DFGs to be means tested, 
except if the application is on behalf of a child or young person aged 18 or below. There is a 
discretionary grant, detailed in Section 22 of this policy, which is not means tested.  There are also 
some other types of discretionary grants which are summarised at Section 32, which are not means 
tested.

5.2 Details of the applicant’s income and that of their partner (both earned and unearned), savings (over 
£6,000) and capital assets (such as other properties) are required to be assessed to determine if the 
applicant has a contribution to make, (see Appendix 3 for more details and examples).  

5.3 If the means test contribution is higher than the cost of works, no DFG can be awarded.  

5.4 If the means test contribution is less than the cost of works, the DFG will be the difference between 
the cost of works and the means test contribution.

5.5 Applicants who receive certain specified “passport” benefits are exempt from the means-test, but 
would have to evidence their benefit entitlement - See Appendix 3 for details of passporting benefits.

5.6 The Council does not have the discretion to “waive” any means test contribution for a DFG in line with 
the above legislation, but in some cases where an applicant has a contribution and they are in 
hardship, the Home Improvement Agency (HIA) will support them in making applications to a range 
of trust funds, or in some cases, equity loans.

5.7 In situations where an applicant has had a means tested contribution to a DFG within the previous 10 
years, where the DFG was completed, that contribution can be deducted from any subsequent means 
test contribution, within a 10 year period.

6.  Applicant financial contributions (including means test contribution 
and works costing in excess of the maximum grant limit)

6.1 An applicant may have a contribution from the means test, as detailed in Section 5 above, or due to 
the cost of works being in excess of the maximum grant. In these circumstances, the applicant must 

Page 61



be able to evidence that they have the amount of money required available in their bank account, or 
an official loan agreement before the DFG will be approved.

6.2 Where an applicant contribution is applicable, the applicant will make this payment directly to the 
contractor, when advised by the HIA.  It will usually be when the works have been completed to a 
standard deemed satisfactory by the Technical Officer or other representative of the Council. In the 
case of larger scale works, where stage payments are being made, the applicant will be asked to 
make the first payment.

 
6.3 If the applicant is an RSL (Registered Social Landlord, previously known as Housing Association) 

tenant, the HIA would request the RSL to consider making a full or part contribution on behalf of the 
applicant.  If the RSL is not willing to contribute, the HIA will work with the applicant to seek an 
alternative adapted property, or make applications to suitable charitable trust funds if they do not have 
the ability to make their own contribution.

6.4 If the applicant is a private tenant, the HIA would offer advice on rehousing options, or charitable 
trusts, if the applicant or landlord does not want to make the required contribution.

6.5 If the applicant is an owner occupier and can evidence that they do not have the funds/or cannot 
reasonably get the funds from anywhere else, a maximum discretionary top up grant of £10,000 can 
be awarded, which will be placed as a local land charge on the property, to be repaid in full when the 
property is sold or changes ownership at any point in the future. In these circumstances, the decision 
to award the top up grant will be made by either the Adult or Children’s panel, as referred to in Section 
29 of this policy.

7. Eligible works

7.1 The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 sets out the purposes for which a 
DFG can be approved and they are as follows:

a. Facilitating access by the disabled occupant to and from the dwelling, or the building in which the 
dwelling is situated;

b. Making the dwelling safe for the disabled occupant and other persons residing with them;
c. Facilitating access by the disabled occupant to a room used or usable as the principal family room;
d. Facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled occupant, a room 

used or usable for sleeping;
e. Facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled occupant, a room in 

which there is a lavatory, or facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of such a facility;
f. Facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled occupant, a room in 

which there is a bath or shower (or both), or facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of such 
a facility;

g. Facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled occupant, a room in 
which there is a wash hand basin, or facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of such a facility;

h. Facilitating the preparation and cooking of food by the disabled occupant;
i. Improving any heating system in the dwelling, to meet the needs of the disabled occupant or, if 

there is no existing heating system or any such system is unsuitable for the use by the disabled 
occupant, providing a heating system to meet their needs;

j. Facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of a source of power, light or heat by altering the 
position of one or more means of access to or control of that source or by providing additional 
means of control;

k. Facilitating access and movement by the disabled occupant around the dwelling, in order to enable 
them to care for a person who is normally resident there and is in need of such care;

l. Facilitating access to and from a garden by a disabled occupant or making access to a garden 
safe for a disabled occupant.

Page 62



7.2 Only works that are ‘necessary and appropriate’ to meet the needs of the disabled person as 
identified by an Occupational Therapist (OT), or authorised workers will be eligible for DFG funding.

7.3 Grant works should fully meet the assessed needs of the disabled person and grants which partially 
meet those needs will usually only be considered in exceptional circumstances, e.g. a level access 
shower wouldn’t be provided on the first floor of a property where there is no safe means of the 
disabled person going up and downstairs. An exception may be in a situation where a disabled person 
is living with other family members, has access to family living space on the first floor and never leaves 
the property or has any wish, or need to go downstairs.

7.4 In determining “necessary and appropriate”, the OT assessment will give consideration to the potential 
for using equipment, making minor adjustments to the home and other solutions such as moving to a 
more suitable property, before determining that a DFG is the necessary and appropriate solution to 
meet the disability needs. 

7.5 The OT specialist assessment will be undertaken and include all impact and factors including home 
environment. Any additional evidence will be gathered and all equipment and minor adaptations 
considered and tried where appropriate. Recommendations by the OT, or authorised assessor will be 
made under Section 23 of the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 and reviewed 
and authorised by a designated Manager. The specialist assessment may include writing to GP’s, 
consultants and other specialists involved with the applicant, to assist in gaining a baseline position 
and also for prognosis and the potential longer term development of the condition or illness.  In some 
cases, an assessment can’t be completed, or finalised until the applicant is optimised, for example 
until a treatment regime has ended, or the required rehabilitation period following surgery.

7.6 Following OT assessment and recommendation, the Home Improvement Agency must determine 
whether it would be “reasonable and practicable” to adapt the property.  The considerations made by 
the Technical Officer as to whether it is “reasonable and practicable”, are as follows:

a. The layout, construction, age and condition of the property, e.g. narrow stairs and corridors;
b. The number, ages and needs of the other occupants of the accommodation;
c. The use of the accommodation by the disabled person and any other occupants;
d. The location of the accommodation, e.g. steep access to the property;
e. Any other options that have been considered less practicable than the proposed work;
f. The cost of the proposed work, compared to the likely cost of any alternatives;
g. Planning and Building Regulation constraints;
h. Successful adaptations carried out in similar types of accommodation;
i. The implications of carrying out the required adaptation with regard to its future use and 

classification and potential hardship issues, e.g. spare room subsidy.

8. Works non-eligible for grant assistance

8.1 A DFG will not be provided in the following circumstances, or for the following provisions:

 refitting adaptations previously provided which have been damaged, or removed by the applicant 
or member of their family;

 Provision of secondary access from the dwelling house, unless there are exceptional 
circumstances as approved by Panel;

 Formation of patios, decked areas, garden paths, walkways from garages and sheds;
 Storage areas and charging points for wheelchair/scooters;
 Creating a safe play area and/or fencing, unless there are exceptional circumstances as 

approved by Panel;
 Storage areas for example children’s equipment, medical equipment etc.;
 Parking bays/disabled parking areas;

Page 63



 Dropped kerbs, hard standings and ramps for non-wheelchair users/non-drivers (dropped kerbs, 
hard standings and ramps will only be considered when a person has been assessed by the 
Wheelchair Service as meeting the criteria for wheelchair provision 

 Automatic door opening systems to main doors will not be provided unless the disabled person 
is otherwise unable to open the door, to safely access and egress (leave) the property 
independently (this would usually only apply to wheelchair users).

8.2 The above list is not exhaustive and other works may be deemed to be non-eligible if the Council does 
not believe they meet the requirements set out in the legislation and policy.

9.  Use of rooms and minimum sizes

9.1 Adaptations should be undertaken within the existing footprint of the property, wherever it is possible 
to do so.  All existing rooms within the property must be considered and reconfiguration would be the 
first option, prior to any consideration of an extension. Reconfiguration of rooms on both the ground 
floor and upper floors would apply, with change of use from a second family room, or dining room on 
the ground floor, or changes in bedroom occupancy, or number on the upper floors being made if this 
makes it possible to meet the needs of the disabled person within the existing footprint of the property.

9.2 If a stairlift or vertical lift is not feasible to enable the disabled person to access bedroom and/or 
bathroom facilities on the upper floor, and where there are two family rooms on the ground floor, these 
ground floor rooms must be used if possible for providing bedroom and/or bathroom facilities. An 
extension will not be considered where it is possible to make provision within one of these existing 
rooms, regardless of what the room is currently used for.

9.3 The following room sizes are used as a guide when designing extensions and reconfiguring                                
rooms within the existing building footprint. Sufficient space must be allowed to enable safe and 
convenient movement around the rooms. This should allow for wheelchair access or access with a 
walking frame as appropriate. It is not possible to give room size guidance for all the differing scenarios 
of occupancy that may be encountered. Wherever possible, the sizes provided in the tables below 
should be used, but in exceptional circumstances, where these sizes would not meet the assessed 
needs, an increased size would need to be approved by the Panel and full justification would be 
required (medical, technical etc).

Number of people in 
household

Children under 10 
count as 1/2

Principal Family Room with separate dining room or kitchen/ diner

Measurements in square metres

Ambulant person Wheelchair user Electric wheelchair 
user

2 9.50 10.50 11.00

3 10.70 11.70 12.20

4 12.20 13.20 13.70

5 14.50 15.50 16.00

Page 64



Number of people in 
household

Children under 10 
count as 1/2

Principal Family Room when no separate dining area exists

Measurements in square metres

Ambulant person Wheelchair user Electric wheelchair 
user

2 12.50 13.00 13.50

3 13.70 15.20 15.70

4 15.20 16.70 17.20

5 17.50 19.00 19.50

9.4 From the family discussions that have taken place, the OT will normally indicate whether the disabled 
person sleeps with their partner and whether a double bedroom would be required. If a request for a 
double bedroom is made at a later point in the process, the OT will need to justify that request and a 
panel decision be made (see Section 29 of this policy for Panel decision making).

Bedrooms Minimum room measurements in square metres
Single 
bedroom

Minimum  
room width  
2.15m                    

Ambulant person                                                                      7.50

Bedroom with specialist bed                                                    12.50

Manual or electric  wheelchair user                              8.00 – 12.50

Wheelchair user with carers bed                                             14.70

Bedroom/Bathroom with H frame track hoist system               20.00

Bedroom/Bathroom with H frame track hoist system 
+ carers bed                                                                             22.00

Double 
bedroom

Minimum room 
width 2.75m    

Both ambulant persons                                                            11.50

1 Ambulant person and 1 wheelchair user                               14.70

Both wheelchair users                                                              15.50

9.5 Children with disabilities and their families have particular needs which must be recognised. Unless a 
child is imminently terminally ill, allowance must be made for his/her future development including 
physical growth. The extension should therefore be sufficient to allow access for the disabled person 
as an adult.   

9.6 The bedroom for a child must also allow for a single bed for a parent or carer, if there is an evidenced 
need for the child to be supervised at all times during the night. If the evidenced needs and risks could 
be managed with assistive technology or in another way, additional space for the parent to sleep in 
the room will not be provided.

9.7 Where a child has behavioural problems and sharing a bedroom with a sibling has been assessed 
and evidenced as presenting a risk to the health or safety of either that child or the sibling and there 

Page 65



is no other suitable alternative, e.g. changing the configuration of which family members sleep in which 
rooms, a DFG can be considered.  

10. Bathroom works

10.1 When a level access shower is being provided, or other works to adapt a bathroom, the following 
will apply:

 Existing toilet and sink will be reused if it is in a functional condition. The colour or style of the 
existing suite will not necessarily be taken into account, e.g. a coloured sink will not be replaced 
as standard on the basis that it doesn’t match the white toilet which is being installed, although 
consideration will be given wherever possible to the overall functionality and finish of the room.

 Existing bathroom tiling will be protected as far as possible and will not be replaced unless 
absolutely necessary. The provision of new tiling will be limited wherever possible to 3 walls 
(behind and adjacent to the shower area), to a maximum of 16 square metres. Tiling will not 
be replaced on the basis that it doesn’t match new, unless it is cost effective to do so, or would 
affect the functionality of the bathroom.

 Shower boarding will be suggested in some cases, due to the condition or thickness of the 
walls, or where a medical need prevents or prohibits the service user from cleaning grouting.

10.2 Applicants will have the option to replace sanitary ware, or tiling not covered as part of the DFG, at 
their own cost, which will be a direct arrangement with the contractor. The contractor will provide a 
written quote to the applicant for any additional works and 50% of the payment must be made directly 
to the contractor prior to works commencing and the remainder once the works have been completed 
to a standard deemed satisfactory by the Technical Officer, or other representative of the Council. 
This will be a private arrangement between the applicant and contractor.

10.3 The adaptation or provision of more than one bathroom/toilet to a house (e.g. additional ground floor 
WC), will only be considered if evidenced by functional need and confirmation from an OT that 
appropriate equipment such as a commode cannot be utilised.

10.4 Additional heating, mechanical ventilation and lighting will only be considered for the bathroom/shower 
room as necessary to comply with current building regulations, or as part of the assessed needs of 
the service user.

10.5    Heated towel rails will not be provided instead of a standard radiator.

10.6   A level access shower room must be able to achieve a minimum of 1200 mm turning square, although 
1800 mm would be the preferred, unless there are exceptional cases, where the safety of the service 
user and their carers wouldn’t be compromised with a slightly reduced area, agreed at Panel.

10.7 In cases where a bath is provided, a thermostatic mixing valve must be fitted to the taps, as it is a 
requirement of Building Regulations.

11. Kitchen adaptations

11.1 Where someone other than the disabled person carries out and will continue to carry out the cooking 
and preparation of meals, full adaptations to the kitchen will not be undertaken. Where the disabled 
person needs access to an area to prepare snacks and light meals, minor adaptations will be provided, 
such as a small area of low level or height adjustable worktop, with power points for a kettle or 
microwave.

Page 66



11.2 A full kitchen adaptation will only be considered in cases where the disabled person is the only or main 
user of the kitchen. Adaptations can include the following where necessary and as assessed by the 
OT:

a. Alteration to the height or position of the kitchen sink and/or the type of taps fitted to it. Powered 
adjustable height sinks will not be provided, unless there are exceptional circumstances;

b. A cooker point and oven housing unit ensuring its height and position is in a safe location and the 
provision of worktops to either side where space allows, but as a minimum, worktop space to one 
side;

c. Work surfaces located beside the sink and on either side of the oven will have a total length of no 
more than 1.5 metres, where space allows and all at a suitable height for the disabled person;

d. Food storage in an accessible position, usually space for a fridge and power supply;
e. Alterations to the kitchen door, light switches and power points, only if necessary;
f. Provision of cupboard and storage units on an essential basis, which have drop down baskets, or 

other appropriate solution for easy access for the disabled person;
g. Mechanical ventilation in accordance with the current Building Regulations, but over hob extraction 

and odour control systems will not be provided.

11.3 Kitchen appliances such as hobs, ovens, fridges, freezers, washing machines and dishwashers will 
not be funded through the DFG.  Support can be offered in making applications to trust funds, where 
the disabled person is unable to fund these items themselves.

11.4 Kitchen extensions or enlargements to kitchens will only be considered where they are absolutely 
necessary to achieve turning space for a wheelchair and if suitable space cannot be achieved by 
rearrangement of existing facilities. Other existing rooms within the property would need to be 
considered, with an extension being a last resort and the only possible solution.

12. Ramping

12.1 All ramps must comply with current Building Regulations. A ramp must be able to achieve a gradient 
of 1 in 12, with level landings at intervals of 5 metres. The ramp should have a hardstand of 100mm 
on either side and if the height of the ramp is 600mm or more, will have handrails on either side.  

12.2 A modular (semi-permanent and removable), or traditional permanent built ramp will be provided.  The 
decision as to which will be made by the Technical Officer, based on how the assessed needs of the 
service user can best be met. If both types of ramp will meet the assessed needs, the most cost 
effective option will be the one provided.

12.3 If the applicant would prefer the other type of ramp over the one which has been offered, they will be 
given the option of paying the difference in cost for their choice of ramp.

12.4 A ramp will only be provided if the service user is a permanent wheelchair user, or has been assessed 
by the wheelchair service as being eligible for a wheelchair, but has decided to purchase their own 
scooter.

12.5 A ramp will not be provided for a person who has chosen to purchase their own scooter, or mobility 
vehicle, where there is no assessed eligible need.

12.6 No provision will be made for charging points or storage for either scooters or mobility vehicles.

12.7 A ramp cannot be provided which impedes in any way the pavement, or public highway/right of way, 
nor can it go over land which is not owned by the applicant.

Page 67



12.8 A ramp will not be provided in situations where the required gradient cannot be achieved, or is only 
achievable with an excessive number of turns and level landings, making it not reasonable, or 
practicable.

13.  Access to gardens/fencing and safe play areas

13.1 Access to a garden will only be considered if specifically recommended by the OT.     

13.2 Grant assistance will not be given where there is already access to the garden, or part of the garden, 
suitable for the disabled person to use, unless the access needs to be improved to make it safe for 
the disabled person to use. 

13.3 The most cost effective solution for providing access to both the dwelling and the garden will be 
provided and wherever possible, one access would be provided to access the dwelling and garden.

13.4 The grant will be for providing immediate access to the garden and does not include landscaping 
gardens, or fencing etc.

13.5 A grant will not be provided for the disabled person to access different levels of the garden.

13.6 In the case of a child who has an identified need due to a learning disability, affecting behaviour and 
safety of the child, consideration will be made for the provision of a safe outside area of no more than 
5 square metres, with appropriate fencing if required.

13.7 A grant will not include extending an existing access e.g. creating a side access so a person can also 
go around the side of a house.

13.8 Any major structural or landscaping alterations required by the applicant to enable improved access 
to the garden must be completed prior to a DFG application being made by the applicant, to enable 
the HIA to ensure that any further adaptations are safe, reasonable and practicable for the disabled 
person. 

13.9 Where homes have communal gardens (e.g. blocks of flats served by a single access), grants will not 
normally be provided for an individual to access the garden unless it can be demonstrated that, 
because of the disabled person’s condition the travel distance to the garden would be excessive and 
unreasonable.

13.10 In the case of a child with a learning disability, fencing will be considered, if necessary to maintain the 
safety of the child in the garden. An area of 8 square metres would be fenced, if the OT can evidence 
that it is necessary and appropriate for the child’s disability. 

13.11 In the case of a child, access to a garden can also include the provision of a safe area to play, if it can 
be demonstrated that due to their disability, the access created does not make it safe for them.  The 
safe area would be immediately adjacent to the access created and will be no greater than 5 square 
metres of paved area, as detailed in 13.6. 

13.12 A DFG will not be provided to create a patio or decked area.

Page 68



14.  Two dwellings converted into one

14.1 In situations where a DFG application is made to provide adaptations to a property which has 
previously been two separate dwellings, the following must be ascertained before a DFG can be 
approved:

 Land registry records evidence one dwelling, under single ownership
 Council Tax records evidence one dwelling, under single ownership
 Appropriate planning permissions and Building Regulation approvals have been made to 

convert the dwelling into one

14.2 If it has been determined that the dwelling is officially one dwelling and can be adapted to meet the 
needs of the disabled person, the adaptations must be provided in the most cost effective way within 
the property, even if that necessitates a layout change, or change to the way in which the property is 
used by the occupants.

14.3 No additional works will be included within the DFG in respect of issues relating to the fact that it was 
originally two dwellings, e.g. improving the flow of the dwelling, removing a second staircase, creating 
a single front or rear access, unless these are necessary to meet the assessed needs of the disabled 
person and are the most cost effective option.

15. Party Wall etc Act 1996

15.1 If the adaptation involves building a wall on, or close to the boundary wall with one or both of the 
neighbouring properties, an agreement will need to be signed under the Party Wall etc Act 1996. The 
HIA will advise on this but will not be able to approach the neighbours on behalf of the applicant.

15.2 In the event of a dispute, the DFG cannot be approved and the applicant would need to take 
independent legal advice and appoint a party wall act surveyor.  

15.3 A DFG can only be approved when a party wall agreement has been signed.

16. Disrepair

16.1 Where disrepair is identified at a property, which will have an impact on the recommended adaptation 
works, full consideration of the necessary works and additional costs must be undertaken prior to the 
adaptation being approved, to determine whether the works need to be funded by the applicant.  

16.2 If disrepair is identified once adaptation works have commenced, full details and costings should be 
requested from the contractor and discussed with the HIA Team Manager, or designated Duty 
Manager, for a decision on whether the costs will need to be funded by the applicant, or whether it will 
be covered as part of the DFG. 

16.3 Where the identified disrepair will cost in excess of £250, the applicant should be advised that they 
will be responsible for the cost and given the option of rectifying the works themselves using their own 
contractor, or having them undertaken as part of the adaptation works and making payment directly 
to the contractor once the works have been completed and signed off as satisfactory by a Technical 
Officer, or other designated officer of Rochdale Borough Council.

16.4 Where works have already commenced and the disrepair is identified, e.g. rotten joists underneath 
the bath, further consideration needs to be made as to the implications of stopping the works for the 
applicant to employ their own contractor. There could be significant cost implications if the adaptations 
contractor has to reinstate remedial works already undertaken and also safety issues in leaving an 

Page 69



adaptation part completed. In these cases, if the costs are under £500, the HIA Manager can make 
the decision to continue and cover the costs as part of the DFG.

16.5 Works such as replacement of rotted flooring, or strengthening the floor for a level access shower, 
electrical repairs, or additional electrical works to enable the adaptation works to be carried out safely 
and dealing with low water pressure can be considered as eligible DFG costs.  

16.6 Replacing defective drainage or undertaking a full rewire would not be considered as part of the DFG.

16.7 If there are other significant areas of disrepair within a property, outside of the areas where DFG is 
being provided, e.g. Category 1 Hazards, illegal or unsafe conversions of loft spaces, or other works 
which contravene Building Regulations and Planning policies, no grant will be approved until the 
issues have been resolved.

17.  Asbestos

17.1 Asbestos containing materials can be present in any property built prior to the year 2000. As long as 
the asbestos containing material (ACM) is in good condition and is not being or going to be disturbed 
or damaged during adaptation works, there is negligible risk.

17.2 The general duties in Section 3 (1) of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 apply to protect 
householders from any risks from work activities being carried out in their homes.  Where work being 
undertaken involves ACM, the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 will also apply.

17.3 Prior to a DFG being approved, an asbestos survey will be undertaken to provide accurate information 
about the location, amount and type of any ACM.

17.4 If any ACM is identified, or suspected following a report and is in the work area of the adaptation, a 
plan needs to be in place to remove it, or encapsulate it. All asbestos needs to be removed and 
disposed of in line with the regulations by a suitable qualified and registered contractor. The costs of 
removal, will depend on the type and level of asbestos found.

17.5 If the costs relating to asbestos are less than £500, this will be added to the cost of the DFG.

17.6 If the costs relating to asbestos are in excess of £500, the applicant, or owner of the property will be 
asked to cover the difference in cost.  If it is an RSL (Registered Social Landlord) property, the 
Landlord will be responsible for the removal and all associated costs.

18.  Electrical issues

18.1 Where proposed adaptations will involve any electrical works, a view must be taken with regards to 
the condition of the existing electrical installation prior to any works being approved. If the installation 
is old, or there are any concerns about it being safe and fit for purpose, an electrical inspection will be 
undertaken by a suitably qualified electrician, on the prescribed documentation from a recognised 
electrical body e.g. NICEIC, NAPIT or equivalent, prior to the adaptation works commencing.

18.2 If the electrical report recommends a full or partial rewire of the property, this would usually need to 
be completed by the owner of the property, prior to a DFG being approved. Upgrading of electrical 
installations and earth bonding which are legally required and restricted to the area in which the 
adaptations are being carried out, will be covered by the DFG e.g. level access shower works to the 
bathroom. 

Page 70



19.  Maintenance

1.1 Where adaptations have been provided by construction, any faults will be rectified by the original 
contractor at no cost to the applicant within the defects liability period, which is usually the first 12 
months following completion of the works, unless otherwise stated. Altro flooring (non-slip vinyl floor 
covering used in level access showers) and electric shower units are guaranteed for 2 years.

19.2 Stairlifts are provided with a 5 year warranty. At the end of the warranty period, the maintenance and 
repair will become the responsibility of the applicant. In some cases, where it is an RSL property, the 
RSL will become responsible for the maintenance and repair and a charge will be added to the rent 
to cover the costs. If a stairlift is no longer needed, the Council can arrange for it to be removed at no 
cost to the owner. The Adult Care Stairlift replacement policy provides further details.   

19.3 Steplifts and vertical lifts have an initial 12 month warranty. At the end of the warranty period, if the 
applicant has signed over the asset to the Council, the lift will be maintained for until it is no longer 
required by the service user, or the lift reaches the end of its useful life, as determined by the Council 
in consultation with its specialist service and maintenance provider.  At any future point when the 
equipment is no longer required, the Council will arrange for it to be removed. Some element of 
“making good” will be undertaken, e.g. replacing floorboards, plaster boarding etc. but no decoration, 
painting or carpeting will be provided.

19.4 Wash/dry toilets have a warranty for 12 months. Following the expiry of the warranty, the maintenance 
and repair will be the responsibility of the applicant. The Council will not remove a wash/dry toilet if at 
a future date it is no longer required by the disabled person. 

19.5 Ceiling track hoists are provided with a 12 month warranty. At the end of this warranty period, the 
Council will be responsible for the maintenance, repair and inspection of the hoist, in line with the 
relevant legislation and guidance (Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998). At any 
future point when the equipment is no longer required, the Council will arrange for it to be removed. 
Some element of “making good” will be undertaken, but no decoration, painting, removal of electrical 
trunking or fused spare points will be carried out.

19.6 All adaptations, with the exceptions detailed in 19.1 to 19.5 above are the responsibility of the 
applicant (or in some cases, property owner/landlord), therefore, any ongoing maintenance, or repair 
is also the responsibility of the owner/landlord. DFG cannot be used to repair a previously provided 
adaptation, unless it no longer meets the needs of the service user. In some cases, a discretionary 
form of assistance, as detailed in Section 32 of this policy may be used to support situations of 
disrepair to previous adaptations.

20.  Overcrowding

20.1  Overcrowding is not taken into account when determining the most appropriate adaptation. Provision 
of additional bedrooms will not be recommended on the basis that the property is overcrowded, which 
is not directly linked to an assessed need of a disabled person.

20.2 In situations where an adaptation is being provided for a bedroom to meet the assessed needs of a 
disabled person, but the property will remain overcrowded, a DFG will not usually be approved, as it 
wouldn’t be “reasonable and practicable”.

20.3 In situations where the property is overcrowded, advice and information will be provided on the options 
available. Additional support in some cases can be provided to source an alternative property and 
support the disabled person to move to more suitable accommodation.

Page 71



21. Applicant’s own choice of adaptation

21.1 Where an applicant has a preference or aspiration for work that is over and above those 
recommended or considered reasonable and practicable to meet the assessed needs of the disabled 
person, the Council will only fund the cost of the recommended work. The applicant will be required 
to fund any additional costs themselves and must enter into a private arrangement with the contractor.

21.2 An example could be, if the assessed needs of the disabled person can be met within the existing 
floor space by converting a ground floor room into a bedroom, which may cost £10,000, but the 
applicant would prefer an extension instead, which may cost £22,000, RBC would contribute the 
equivalent value of converting the ground floor room, and the applicant would fund the difference in 
costs. In this example, RBC would approve a DFG of £10,000 and the applicant would pay £12,000.

21.3 In a situation where an applicant chooses this option, they would need to employ an architect, or other 
suitably qualified or experienced person at their own cost to produce a plan of their preferred 
adaptation. The plan needs to be to scale and have measurements of all walls, doors, windows etc.  
The plan would then have to be jointly reviewed by the OT and Technical Officer, as being suitable to 
meet the assessed needs of the service user and be achievable in meeting Building and Planning 
Regulations. If the plan does not meet the needs of the service user, a DFG will not be approved for 
the applicant’s preferred adaptation.

21.4 If the OT considers the plan will meet the assessed needs, it would then need to be submitted by the 
applicant or their agent for any necessary planning permissions and Building Regulations consents.

21.5 Once all permissions have been granted, the applicant will need to provide 3 quotes from contractors 
of their choice, who meet the criteria detailed in section 26.2.  

21.6 When all checks have been undertaken and permissions are in place, RBC will approve the grant to 
the applicant, but will take no responsibility for the selection of the builder or any defects resulting from 
the works. The contract will be between the applicant and the contractor.

21.7 No payments will be made to the applicant until all works have been completed to the satisfaction of 
RBC, following inspection by a Technical Officer. The property must be in a habitable condition and 
have essential facilities, e.g. food preparation, heating, lighting, ventilation etc. The applicant will be 
responsible for making payment to the contractor.

21.8 The same regulations apply as determined in Section 26.7 of this policy if the contractor is a relative 
of the applicant.  

22.  Works costing £10,000 or less – discretionary assistance

22.1 A discretionary grant enables any adaptation costing £10,000 or less, (including fees) to be provided 
without a means test if it has been assessed as “necessary and appropriate” by an OT and meets all 
other criteria and considerations as detailed in this policy. This grant is known as a Disabled Home 
Repairs Assistance Grant (DHR).

22.2 This discretionary grant can only be made if all the adaptations recommended as necessary and 
appropriate by the OT are completed for £10,000 or less, e.g. if the OT recommends a stairlift and 
level access shower which cost £11,000, the applicant will not be able to decide they only want to 
have one of the items, so that they don’t have to be means tested.

22.3 If the cost of works is more than £10,000, the applicant would not be able to pay the difference in cost, 
e.g. if the works cost £11,000, we would not award a grant of £10,000, with the applicant contributing 
£1,000. In cases where the works are likely to cost in excess of £10,000, a DFG would have to be 
considered, along with the mandatory means test.

Page 72



23.  Adaptations for disabled children spending time in more than one 
property

23.1 In cases where a family have separated and a court order provides that the disabled child is to live 
part of the time with one adult and part of the time with another, the Council will award a DFG in 
relation to only one property. 

23.2 Mandatory DFG can only be provided to the ‘sole or main residence’ of the disabled applicant and in 
circumstances covered by this section it would be assumed that one party would apply for the 
mandatory grant on the basis that the child occupies the property as their sole or main residence. The 
main residence will be determined by which party receives child benefit. This property may or may not 
be within the Borough of Rochdale and the Authority would only be liable for providing a mandatory 
grant to any property within the Borough. 

23.3 The Authority will consider the details of any court order and specifically the allocation of time spent 
with each parent in determining eligibility for assistance. No specific percentage split is proposed by 
this policy as each case will be reviewed based on the facts of the individual situation. Factors to be 
considered include the specific details of any order, likely time to be spent at each property, whether 
the child will stay overnight at the subject property etc.

23.4 In situations where it is unsafe for the disabled person to reside in the property that does not benefit 
from the DFG,   support will be offered to rehouse to a more suitable property, or to make applications 
to trust funds, or for loans or other funding sources which may be able to assist.

24.  Changes in circumstances leading to cancellation of the DFG  
after it has been approved

24.1 Where an application for a DFG has been approved, but the works have not yet been completed, the 
following reasons would lead to the grant being cancelled:

a. The works cease to be necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled occupant
b. The disabled occupant ceases to occupy the property or it ceases to be their intention to occupy 

it for the period of 5 years
c. The disabled occupant dies

24.2 The HIA would decide, having regard to all circumstances that:

a. No DFG shall be paid, or that no further instalments shall be paid
b. The relevant works or some of them should be completed, depending upon the stage the works 

may already be at, e.g. if an extension is being built, it may be demolished, or the shell completed 
to make it wind and watertight but no further works completed.

24.3 Where instalments have already been paid, the HIA can decide that they should be repaid, together 
with any interest from the date it was paid, until repayment, at such a reasonable rate as the Council 
may determine.

25. Repayment of DFG

25.1 A condition of the application for a DFG is that the applicant signs a certificate of occupation, 
confirming that it is their intention to remain living in the property as their only or main residence for a 
period of 5 years following the certified completion date of the DFG. A local land charge is placed on 
the property for a period of 5 years following completion of the DFG.

Page 73



25.2 If the property is sold or changes ownership during this 5 year period, the Council is notified and has 
to determine whether any DFG will be recovered. In all cases which do not meet the criteria outlined 
at section 25.3, or 25.4 below, no DFG will be recovered, unless we can evidence that there was no 
intent to remain in the property at the time the occupation certificate was signed.

25.3 In cases where the DFG has provided an additional bedroom, bathroom or toilet and the cost of works 
was over £10,000, the Council will place a legal charge on the property through the Land Registry, (if 
it is an owner occupied property), to be able to recover some of the grant, during the 10 year period 
following completion of the works. If the property is sold or otherwise changes ownership within 10 
years of the completion date of the DFG, the Council will normally require repayment of the grant, as 
detailed in section 25.4 and 25.5 below. In exceptional situations, the repayment may be waived, or a 
lesser repayment amount agreed, as detailed in section 25.6 below. 

25.4 The condition detailed in section 25.3 does not apply to the first £5,000 of any grant and the maximum 
repayable amount at the change of ownership is £10,000. E.g. if a grant of £25,000 was given for a 
bedroom extension, the maximum that would be repayable would be £10,000 and this amount would 
be reduced after year 6, as detailed in section 25.5 below.

25.5 Once a period of 6 years has passed, following the completion of the grant, the Council will reduce 
the amount repayable by 20%, after each successive year.  E.g. If the amount of grant was £15,000 
and the property is sold 0 - 6 years after the certified date then the repayable amount is £10,000.

If the amount of grant was £15,000 and the property is sold 7 years after the certified date then the 
repayable amount is £8,000.

25.6 The council may decide not to ask for repayment of the grant, or to request a lesser amount, if one of 
the following provisions applies:

 The recipient of the grant would suffer financial hardship if he/she is required to repay all or any 
of the grant, e.g. there is negative equity in the property;

 The sale or transfer of the premises is to enable the recipient of the grant to take up employment 
or to change the location of his/her employment.

 The sale or transfer is made for reasons connected with the physical or mental health or well-
being of the recipient of the grant or of a disabled occupant of the premises.

 The sale or transfer is made to enable the recipient of the grant to live with, or near, any person 
who is disabled or infirm and in need of care, which the recipient of the grant is intending to 
provide.

 The sale or transfer is made to enable the recipient of the grant to live with, or near, any person 
who is intending to provide care of which the recipient of the grant is in need by reason of 
disability or infirmity.

25.7 If a waiver is requested, it must be in writing, detailing the special circumstances. The decision will be 
made by the HIA Service Manager, in conjunction with the Head of Service and there is no further 
appeal.

26.  Contractors undertaking the works

26.1 The Council will make arrangements for contractors to undertake the works, however, the contract is 
between the applicant and the contractor and the Council will not be liable for disputes arising between 
the parties. In the event of any disputes, between the applicant and contractor, the Council will help 
to resolve these, but if this is not possible, it may be necessary for the applicant to seek legal advice 
to remedy any dispute.

Page 74



26.2    In some cases, where the applicant has chosen their own scheme, or they have a significant financial 
contribution to the works, they may wish to manage the works themselves, using a contractor of their 
choice. In these cases, the applicant will need to provide 2, or 3 quotes, depending on the nature and 
value of the works. The grant will only be approved to cover the cost of the lowest quote, providing 
that the cost is within the set eligible cost (the cost the Council believes is reasonable for the works 
involved). The contractors providing the quotes must be official registered businesses and be able to 
provide the following:

o Trading accounts for the previous 2 years, which evidence that they are financially viable to 
complete the required works

o Public liability insurance for at least £5 million, although £10 million would be preferable
o Evidence their CIS (Construction Industry Scheme - HMRC tax scheme for contractors and 

sub-contractors involved in the construction industry status)
o Health and safety policy, (including a health and safety method statement/risk assessment 

and construction phase plan for the works
o Evidence that they are a competent contractor (e.g. by being registered on Construction Line)
o Evidence of their work on similar projects being of a satisfactory standard.

            Payment will be made to the applicant when all works have been completed and inspected by a 
Technical Officer and deemed to be of a satisfactory standard. 

         
26.3 HM Revenues and Customers (HMRC) view Rochdale Borough Council as a ‘Contractor’ under CIS. 

Anyone we pay to carry out construction related work needs to be verified on the HMRC online portal. 
A contractor will be either Standard rated, Gross rated or Higher rated. This will determine the level 
of deduction made to their payments.

26.4    Some adaptation works for disabled people will be VAT free. The disabled person will sign a VAT 
declaration which will be provided to the Contractor. It is the contractor’s responsibility to determine 
which elements of work will be VAT free and which will be at the standard rate.  

26.5   All contractors have a responsibility under Health and Safety laws and Construction, Design, 
Management regulations (CDM) to ensure that the work they are undertaking is safe and the applicant 
must comply with all requirements as advised by the contractor and Council.  

26.5 The applicant will not be able to select a contractor of their choice for stairlifts, vertical lifts or steplifts.  
These items are sourced through a procurement framework and are products which have been 
selected due to their particular specification, cost and ability to effectively service and maintain.

26.6 For all other works or equipment sourced through a procurement framework agreement, an applicant 
wishing to use an alternative contractor of their choice, would need to evidence that the specification 
and materials they intend to use is at least equivalent to that provided through the framework and the 
cost of the work must be equal or lower than the framework costs, or the applicant would have to fund 
the difference in costs themselves.

26.7 Where an applicant requests that a relative, however distant, undertakes the works, the DFG can only 
fund the materials used, no labour costs.  Invoices and delivery notes to evidence the cost of any 
materials being claimed would need to be provided.  A Technical Officer will make a judgement of 
whether the material costs are reasonable and in line with the Council’s eligible costs for such works.  
All materials used would need to be at least equal to those we specify for the type of works.  

27.  Working with Registered Social Landlords 

27.1 Tenants of both Private Landlords and RSLs can apply for a DFG, if they meet all of the criteria and 
conditions, as outlined in other parts of this policy and the relevant Legislation.

Page 75



27.2 Tenants of Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) are not required to apply for a DFG, as RBH funds 
all eligible adaptations, as part of the original stock transfer agreement. Whilst many of the criteria 
within this policy are mirrored by RBH, there are differences, which are detailed in their own policies 
and procedures.

27.3 Prior to a DFG being approved, full permission from the RSL must be given.  

27.4 In situations where the RSL does not give permission for the adaptation, the DFG cannot be approved, 
even if all other conditions of the legislation and policy are met.  In these cases, it is the responsibility 
of the applicant to undertake any relevant appeal or complaints process with their RSL.

27.5 RSL’s have a responsibility to provide an asbestos report as part of their approval process and a DFG 
will not be approved until the RSL has provided a suitable asbestos report, or requested in writing that 
RBC seek their own asbestos report from a recognised and qualified asbestos surveyor.

28.  Respite/relocation during works

28.1 The DFG does not make provision for any respite or relocation costs whilst adaptation works are 
being undertaken.  In some cases, it is necessary for the disabled person to move out for a period of 
time whilst works are undertaken, for their safety.  It is the responsibility of the disabled person (or 
their family in the case of a child) to arrange any temporary alternative accommodation required and 
pay for this, if there are any additional costs to be incurred.

28.2 In exceptional circumstances, consideration will be given to fund a maximum of 7 days respite costs, 
if all of the following apply:
 Occupational Therapist and HIA Manager agree that exceptional circumstances apply and that 

the disabled person must move out of the property whilst works are undertaken
 Respite is arranged by Adult Care
 Costs are paid directly to the respite provider and not the applicant
 A maximum of 7 days will be funded, but in some cases, it will be less than 7 days that is agreed 

and any additional days the disabled person stays in respite beyond the agreed period, will be 
invoiced to the disabled person

28.3 No costs will be paid in retrospect if not approved in advance.  No monies will be paid directly to the 
disabled person.  No additional costs for food, recreation or other items will be funded during time in 
respite.

28.4 If the cost of works is at or exceeding the maximum grant limit, the cost of any respite even if 
meeting the above criteria would not be funded and would be the responsibility of the disabled 
person. 

29.  Panel Decision Making 

29.1 Two adaptations panels (Adult Care and Child Care) are in place, which meet on a monthly basis, to 
discuss complex, or high cost adaptations. The role of the panels is to ensure partnership working 
enabling the services involved to meet legislative duties relating to DFGs efficiently, effectively and 
consistently.

29.2 Both Panels have management representatives from the respective Children’s and Adults Teams and 
the HIA. OTs and Technical Officers also attend to discuss cases that fall into the remit of the panel.

29.3 Decisions are jointly made at panel meetings using the legislation and policy and are documented and 
communicated to the applicant, or their family/carers.

Page 76



29.4 Applicants can provide written information to the panel but will not be able to attend a panel meeting, 
as it is not only their case which will be discussed at the panel. 

29.5 Any decision made by a Panel can be challenged, see Section 31 Appeals and Complaints.

30. Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR)

30.1 As part of the DFG process, we need to collect certain information to assist with the processing of 
applications. This is covered under the Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR).

30.2 A Privacy notice applies to this area of work and the information we will collect is as follows: 

 Name of applicant
 Address of applicant
 Relationship information
 Name of beneficiary of the works if not the applicant
 National Insurance number of applicant/beneficiary
 Residential status
 Names of other people living at the property where work is to be carried out including any 

dependent and non-dependent children
 Contact details including land line, mobile phone and email details of applicant and any person 

nominated as a point of contact
 Date of birth
 Employment details including contact details of employer
 Housing status – owner-occupier/ owner/ private rented/ social rented
 Name and contact details for landlord and/or landlords agent
 Ownership and Land Registry details for occupiers and owner-occupiers
 Medical information relating to disability
 Details of benefits being received by the applicant/ beneficiary
 Income and other financial details relating to you and your partner/ spouse (including but not 

restricted to bank details, salary/ pensions/ savings/ investments/bonds/ land & property, etc.)
 Other information as specified on the application form

30.3 As part of the DFG process, information will need to be shared with other organisations, as follows:

 Adult Social Care 
 Children’s Services
 Heywood Middleton and Rochdale (HMR) NHS
 RBC Legal Services
 RBC Revenue Services including Council Tax
 DWP
 HMRC
 Registered Social Housing Providers 
 HM Land Registry and local land charges 
 Contractors engaged for the purpose of delivering grant assistance
 Local Government Ombudsman

Page 77



Only limited information will be shared with contractors, which are essential for the purposes of 
carrying out works. 

30.4 The prevention and detection of fraud is covered within GDPR and in situations where fraud is 
suspected, the DFG will not be approved until it has been proven that no fraud has taken place. This 
can be in respect of benefits, occupancy, residency, property ownership, or any other aspect related 
to the DFG.

30.5 As part of the determination of whether the property is suitable for an adaptation and as part of work 
in progress procedures, photographs/videos of the internal and external parts of the property will be 
taken. Verbal permission will be requested from the applicant and no photographs will be taken of the 
applicant, or any other person. Photographs will be stored securely, in the electronic grant record and 
destroyed in line with the retention policy, which is 7 years for a completed DFG, or 10 years if there 
has been a means test contribution as part of the DFG.  

31. Appeals and Complaints

31.1 A decision made by one of the panels (see Section 29), can be challenged in writing by the applicant 
(or their representative) and they can request a review of the decision. A review will be carried out 
jointly by the Head of Children’s services and HIA Service Manager in the case of a child or the Head 
of Neighbourhood Teams and the HIA Service Manager in the case of an adult. The outcome of the 
review will be communicated in a joint letter by the two Managers who have reviewed the case.  

31.2 Following a review, if an applicant remains dissatisfied, they can make a formal complaint, which will 
be dealt with under either the Corporate or Adult Care Complaints policy, depending on the nature of 
the complaint. Further details of how to complain and the process can be found on the Rochdale 
Council website using the following link http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-
us/complaints-and-compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx

31.3 If, following the outcome of the complaint, the applicant remains dissatisfied, they can contact the 
Local Government Ombudsman (LGO). The LGO would expect the applicant to have used the Council 
complaints process in the first instance, before they will investigate further. Details of the LGO can be 
found in the above link.

32. Summary of other Discretionary Related Assistance

32.1 In addition to the mandatory DFG, there are a number of grants available, which the Council 
provides using discretionary powers under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England 
and Wales) Order 2002).  Below is a summary of these grants, some of which have previously been 
referred to in sections of this policy above.

Assistance 
type

Details Maximum 
value

Criteria/conditions

Disabled 
Home Repairs 
Assistance 
(DHR)

Fast track DFG, known as Disabled 
Home Repairs Assistance to provide 
adaptations costing £10,000 or less 
with no means test.

£10,000  Assessed needs 
and criteria same as 
for DFG

 Works must cost 
£10,000 or less.

Page 78

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-and-compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-and-compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx


DFG (Top up) Discretionary top up assistance for 
DFGs where the cost of works is in 
excess of the maximum grant limit of 
£30,000.

£10,000  Owner occupier
 Necessary and 

appropriate works 
costing between 
£30,000-£40,000

 Financial Hardship and 
no ability to source the 
additional costs from 
high street lender, 
extend mortgage 
provision etc

 Approved by Panel
 Lifetime payback 

conditions as charge on 
property

 Not payable if applicant 
is choosing to have any 
discretionary works 
carried out

Falls Grant Grant to provide a range of measures 
to reduce falls, e.g. 
 Replacing old/worn/inappropriate 

floor coverings with nonslip 
options

 Replacing/repairing loose 
floorboards

 Replacing door threshers
 Additional stair rails and 

alterations to stairs to make them 
safer

£2,500  People admitted to 
hospital or attended A&E 
following a fall

 Or assessed by the falls 
prevention service or 
other professional as 
being at risk of falls

Dementia 
Grant

Grant to provide a range of measures 
to support people with dementia to 
continue to live independently and 
safely, e.g. 
 Replacing floor coverings that 

cause confusion or safety issues
 Replacing tiling or bathroom 

fittings such as toilet seats and 
rails to improve visual perception 
and floor coverings in ensuites if 
the same as the bedroom floor 
covering

 Changing cupboards to glass 
fronted doors to enable 
recognition of where items are in 
the kitchen

 Changing lighting schemes to 
improve visibility around the home

 Noise reduction measures
 Ensuring paths/access are level 

and free from trip hazards

£2,500  People with a diagnosis 
of dementia

Page 79



Disrepair 
Grant

Grant to undertake repairs to previous 
adaptations, to enable a disabled 
persons assessed needs to continue 
to be met. Examples of works would 
be:
 Level access showers where the 

shower unit needs to be replaced 
or the flooring needs to be 
replaced.  

 Repairs to ramps where the 
concrete has cracked or is 
defective, making the ramp 
hazardous or not fit for purpose.  

£2,500  Person originally 
assessed for the 
adaptation is still living in 
the property and has an 
assessed need for the 
adaptation

 The cost of work is 
£2,500 or less

Excess Cold 
Grant/ 
Disrepair 
Grant

Grant for situations of disrepair, which 
are causing or contributing to damp 
and excess cold issues which can be 
directly linked to health conditions, 
such as asthma and COPD.  
Available to cover works such as:
 heating provision and repair 
 condensation
 damp proofing
 replacement double glazed units 

in main habitable rooms 
 roofing repairs where water 

ingress is causing dampness in 
the property.

£5,000  Owner occupiers
 Works costing less than 

£5,000
 Works specifically linked 

to a health condition 
being made worse

Page 80



33. Appendices 

Appendix 1 DFG Application form
DFG form Part 

1.docx

DFG form Part 2 
Childand pass.docx

DFG form Part 
2.docx

DFG form Part 3 
Empandselfemp.docx

Appendix 2 DFG Test of resources form DFG Form 
Provisional Test of Resources.docx

Appendix 3 Means test information and passporting benefits

The Disabled 
Facilities Grant means test appendix for policy jul19.docx

 

Page 81



Adult Care Services

Overview of the current Adult Care, 
support and accommodation offer 
to support ageing well in Rochdale.’

Quality Assurance Team 

Delivery   

P
age 82



QA Team - Quality Assure 

In Borough Services 

• 49 Residential & Respite Homes
• 4 OOB Residential (LD)  
• 28 Domiciliary Providers
• 10 Supported Living Head Offices 
• 96 Supported Living Homes 
• 11 Day Care 

• Total - 198

Out Of Borough Services (Desktop 
Reviews)

• 104 Residential & Respite 
Homes 

• 7 Domiciliary Providers 
• 3  Day Care 
• 6 Supported Living Head Offices
• 15 Supported Living Homes 

• Total – 135 

P
age 83



Provider Support Tool (PST) 
Designed by the QA team to be a more user friendly online tool, This covers 17 areas 
of quality, which we go in and evidence depending on need. 

P
age 84



How it works?  CQC Rated Good or Outstanding  

Care Homes and Home Care that are Good or 
Outstanding in all areas will have a light touch 
approach.  

This will include a shorter visit with some checks 
completed, emphasis on maintaining and building 
relationship with manager and staff.  

This will also include talking to residents/ family and 
gain knowledge of what it is like to live in this home.

This will put a greater emphasis on obtaining direct 
feedback around quality of care. 

P
age 85



How it Works – CQC rates Requires Improvement or 
Inadequate

QA visit to focus on all in borough Care Homes and 
Home Care Providers that are requires improvement or 
inadequate in any of the CQC domains 

1. Safe

2. Effective

3. Caring

4. Responsive 

5. Well Led

P
age 86



Domiciliary Support Tool (DST) 
Designed by the QA team to be a more user friendly online tool, this is the start of the 
self assessment for all in borough providers.  This covers 13 areas of quality and gives 
an overall Risk Score. 

P
age 87



Supported Living, Shared Lives and Day Services 

Self Assessment Sent (Paper document)

More Focus on Service Users and Quality of 
Service 

Lighter touch for office visit   

Risk Assessment for individual properties rather 
than Provider.   

P
age 88



Out of Borough Reviews 

OOB Reviews will be given a light touch 
approach annually. 

• Self-assessment is sent via email. 
• Host Authority is contacted 
• CQC is contacted 
• Care Management comments 

P
age 89



Agenda 
Item

Report to  Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting 20h November 2019
Portfolio Adult Social Care
Report Author Tracey Harrison – Assistant 

Director Commissioning ASC 
and Prevention

Public Document

Market Oversight Report Q2 2019/20

Executive Summary

1.1     The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. 

1.2 The Committee has requested quarterly updates on quality assurance 
information for the services commissioned by the Adult Care service. 
Appendix 1 of this report provides this information for quarter two in 
2019/20 July – September 2019).

Recommendation

2.1     That the committee consider the content of the Market Oversight report.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1      The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. The 
market oversight report presents quality assurance information for quarter 
two of 2019/20 for the committee to scrutinise.

Key Points for Consideration
      
The information provided in the appendix to the report demonstrates the range of 
commissioning activity across the borough for Quarter 2 (Q2) 2019/20 (July –
September 2019), including:
• Quality Assurance Reviews 
• CQC Ratings 

Page 90

Agenda Item 10



• Market Oversight feedback 
• Satisfaction results

The appendix to the report provides detailed information on quality assurance for 
adult care commissioned services. It is important to note that the approach to quality 
assurance is that we concentrate on homes that have ‘Requires Improvement’ or 
‘Inadequate’ ratings in any of the five domains (Safe, Effective, Responsive, Caring 
and Well Led), with a particular focus on safe and well led.   

The Adult Care Commissioning Team record issues in relation to commissioned 
services that are raised with them by service users and other stakeholders. A 
summary of the information gathered from July 19 to September 2019 is included in 
the table below. In Q2 of 2019/20 26 concerns/complaints were raised with the 
commissioning team. Of these 23 were resolved, 3 are outstanding. The outstanding 
complaints require further investigation.

The outcome of CQC inspections for commissioned services combined with non-
commissioned services that sit within our borough.  The overall position at the end of 
quarter two is that of the 56 providers: 1 (2%) was rated as Outstanding, 41 (73%) 
were rated as good 8 (14%) were rated as requiring improvement 1 (2%) were rated 
as Inadequate 5 (9%) providers are yet to be inspected.

Adult Care Services are seeing a noteworthy picture in the quality of Rochdale’s 
providers.  Rochdale are 2nd in the quality ratings in Greater Manchester for 
September 2019, this is a great accomplishment for the Quality Assurance Team 
and the providers who work side by side to improve quality and care standards 
across the borough.
 

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1   There are no financial implications relating to this report.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1   Any risks associated with this are managed by the Adult Care 
commissioning team who work with the provider to improve the quality of 
the services.

 
For Further Information Contact: Tracey Harrison

tracey.harrison@rochdale.gov.uk
01706 927989

Page 91

mailto:tracey.harrison@rochdale.gov.uk


Market Oversight and 
Sufficiency Report 
Quarter 2  July – September 19/20

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   1 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 92



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

The information provided below shows the range of commissioning 
activity across the borough for Quarter 2 (Q2) 2019/20

Contents include:

• Quality Assurance Reviews 

• CQC Ratings

• Market Oversight feedback

• Satisfaction results

Service Providers reviewed during Q2 2019/20 for all client groups:

We are concentrating on the homes that have Requires Improvement or 
Inadequate ratings in any of the five outcome areas (Safe, Effective, Responsive, 
Caring and Well Led).  Services that are rated as good or outstanding will have a 
lighter approach, shorter visits to check certain areas, emphasis on maintaining 
relationships. 

OOB homes are going to be given a light touch approach and information 
gathering from Care Management, Local Authority, CQC, Residents and Relatives.

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   1 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 93



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

Reviews broken down by In Borough
(Homes that Requires Improvement or Inadequate in one or more areas)

79 further visits were completed over Q2 to CQC Rated good homes. 
Totalling 173 visits in Q2 for residential services. 

19 Supported Living Services were Quality Monitored 

20 Domiciliary offices had visits from their QA.  

4 Shared Lives homes

This totals 216 visits for Q2.   
Domiciliary telephone surveys completed 
for our lead providers with Service Users 
or families. 

Provider reviewed Requires Improvement 
Visits

Inadequate Visits

Archmoor Care Home 3

Beechwood Lodge Residential 
& Dementia Care Home

6

Briarmede Rest Home 7

Carders Court 22

Hurstead House Dual Home 4

Lakeside Residential Home 4

Lyndhurst 1

Marland Court 4

Meadowview 2

Monacliffe 3

Newhey House 7

Oakland House (Milnrow) 3

Passmonds Dual Reg Home 6

Springfield Park 12

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   2 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 94



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

Out of Borough Reviews broken down by Lead Provider

CQC Inspections split by individual ratings (July 2019 – September-2019) for all client groups:

Lead Provider reviewed Out of Borough

 Older People 2

 Learning Disability 2

 Mental Health 3

 Physical Disability 1

 Prevention 0

Overall Ratings In Borough Percentage Out of Borough Percentage

 Outstanding 1 2% 5 5%

 Good 41 73% 76 71%

 Requires improvement 8 14% 20 18%

 Inadequate 1 2% 0 0%

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

Outstanding

Overall CQC ratings Jul 19 - Sept 19

Good

In Borough

1

80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0 15 0

41

8

76

20

Out of Borough

Requires improvment Inadequate

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   3 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 95



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

Adult Care Market Oversight feedback
The Adult Care Commissioning Team record issues in relation to commissioned 
services that are raised with them by service users and other stakeholders. 
A summary of the information gathered from July 19 to September 2019 is included 
in the table below. In Q2 of 2019/20 26 concerns/complaints were raised 
with the commissioning team. Of these 23 were resolved, 3 are outstanding. 
The outstanding complaints require further investigation.

Satisfaction Questionnaires Q2 2019/20 (July 19 – September 19)

COMMISSIONING TEAM INFORMATION 
(June 18- September 18)

Q1 
19/20

Q2 
19/20

Q3 
19/20

Q4 
19/20

Number of complaints received 22 26

Complaints resolved 20 23

Outstanding complaints 2 3

Complaints transferred to other departments external to the    
Commissioning team

0 0

Compliments to Adult Care Commissioning about providers 1 3

Questionnaires Count

Family 33

Service User 16

Staff 19

•  The intelligence gained from gathering satisfaction data helps determine 
the Quality Assurance Officers focus for the quality assurance visits. 

•  Overall the feedback received is positive but we continue to follow up any 
negative or unsatisfactory feedback. Examples below 

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   4 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 96



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

The outcome of CQC inspections for commissioned services combined with 
non-commissioned services that sit within our borough.  The overall position at 
the end of quarter two is that of the 56 providers:

1 (2%) was rated as Outstanding,

41 (73%) were rated as good

8 (14%) were rated as requiring improvement

1 (2%) were rated as Inadequate

5 (9%) providers are yet to be inspected.

We are seeing an noteworthy picture in the quality of Rochdale’s providers.  
Rochdale are 2nd in the quality ratings in Greater Manchester for September 2019, 
this is a great accomplishment for the Quality Assurance Team and the providers 
who work side by side to improve quality and care standards across the borough.

Beds Occupied

OP - Res OP- Dementia Nursing (OP/YDU/LD/MH) LD Res MH Res Total

1015 194 289 44 16 1558

Beds Occupied

OP - Res OP- Dementia Nursing (OP/YDU/LD/MH) LD Res MH Res Total

17 12 2 7 6 44

Satisfaction Questionnaires Q2 2019/20 (July 19 – September 19)

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   5 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 97



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

Comments from Family members
1.  (Springfield Park) – “I come every 2 weeks and have 

noticed a big change around the home, all for the better - 
it’s good to know that there are people you can go to if 
you need to talk about the care being provide.”

2.  (Heywood Court) – Concerns that when mum not in her 
room other residents enter and take things, she found a 
resident in her bed which distressed her. 

3.  (Springbank) – Everything is brilliant here, 
Carole is fantastic.

Comments from Staff 
1.  (Springfield Park) – I wasn’t going to return to work 

following long term sickness but after speaking with the 
management that is now in place I decided to give it a go.  
I’ve found everything to be so different, everyone is pulling 
together and the management are so supportive - you 
can actually go to them now and they will listen to you, I’m 
glad I came back as I now love it here and it’s a pleasure to 
come to work instead of a dread.

2.  (Oaklands – Bury Road) – The new manager is excellent, 
she’s like a breath of fresh air to this place and things are 
now moving.

3.  (Half Acre) – The provider and Manager are very supportive 
and they provide excellent care for the SU’s.

Comments from Service Users 
1.  (Springfield Park) – Sheila made her feelings very clear and 

said she was happy at Springfield Park - she indicated the 
food was ‘crap’ but laughed as this was because she had 
to have a smooth thickened diet - overall Sheila was very 
happy with the home and said she liked it when staff came 
and sat with her and painted her nails which she said they 
did regular although she would much more. 

2.  (Beech House) – Love it here, all staff look after me.

3.  (Highfield House) Only been here for about 7 weeks and 
they look after me. I can get up when I want to, at first I was 
getting up early but they said I didn’t need to, they look 
after me and feed me.

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   6 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 98



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

Services Inspected by CQC during Q2 (July to September 2019) 

In Borough

Service Name Overall CQC 
Rating

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led

Archmoor 
Care Home

Requires 
improvement

Requires 
improvement

Requires 
improvement

Good Requires 
improvement

Inadequate 

Lyndhurst 
(Middleton) Ltd

Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement

Good Good Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement

Riverside 
Nursing Home Good Good Good Good Good Good

Springfield Park 
Nursing Home Inadequate Inadequate Requires 

Improvement 
Requires 

Improvement 
Requires 

Improvement 
Inadequate 

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   7 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 99



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

Out of Borough 

Service Name Overall CQC 
Rating

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led

Alexander Care 
Home

Good Good Good Good Good Good

Ashgrove House Good Good Good Good Good Good

Bankfield Good Good Good Good Good Good

Mary and 
Joseph House Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding

Nazareth House 
(Prestwich)

Requires 
improvement Inadequate 

Requires 
improvement Good

Requires 
improvement

Requires 
improvement

Pendle View Requires 
improvement

Requires 
improvement Good Good Good

Requires 
improvement

The Coppice Good Good Good Good Good Good

Waterside Lodge Outstanding Good Good Outstanding Outstanding Good

Leawood Manor 
Care Home Good Good Good Good Good Good

Alexander Care 
Home Good Good Good Good Good Good

Ashgrove House Good Good Good Good Good Good

Bankfield Good Good Good Good Good Good

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   8 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 100



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

In the ADASS Report from the North West Region it shows that Rochdale 
Borough Council are 5th Overall in the North West for Quality in Care Homes 
out of 23 Local Authorities and 2nd in the Greater Manchester. 

1. Blackpool  91.5%

2. Cumbria  87.8%

3. St Helens 84.2%

4. Sefton 83.2% 

5. Rochdale  81.4 %

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   9 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 101



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   10 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 102



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

Our innovative work has generated a number of positive news 
stories across the local media. Campaigns have included:-

A selection of good news stories 

Choosing a residential care home

A suite of information, outlining the standards people living 
in residential care home should expect. We have produced 
leaflets, videos, online content and driven the campaign 
through our social media.

And here’s some of the team talking about our campaign 
at a special event in Middleton.

Red Bag Scheme 

A special scheme ensuring joined up care for local care 
home residents who are admitted to hospital. Friends 
and family of loved ones going to hospital know their 
belongings are all safely packed into a red bag.
 
Our innovative idea has generated some really 
positive publicity.

 

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   11 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 103



Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report rochdale.gov.uk

GM Mayor visits the borough

It was great to welcome the Mayor of Greater Manchester, 
Andy Burnham, to the borough to see at first hand our 
visionary partnership work with local care homes.

The Mayor visited Rosemary Care Home in Milnrow to see 
its innovative work at first hand.

Success with Daisy Awards

We are delighted to work in partnership with local 
care homes.

One Middleton care home has received an outstanding 
accreditation after scooping the national renowned 
Daisy Award, with a stunning 100% rating.

 

National Care Home Open Day 

It was great to see local care homes opening their 
door to the local community for National Care Home 
Open Day.

There were special events across the borough, which 
brought residents and the locacommunity together.

LOW RES PROOF NOT
PRINT
READY

9190_Market_Insight_Report_Nov_2019_A4L.indd   12 11/11/2019   12:56

P
age 104



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 20th November 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult 

Care, Cabinet Member for 
Health & Wellbeing, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Ben Jorgensen
Public/Private Document

Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2019-20 Quarter 2 
Performance Update

Executive Summary

1. To report progress at the end of Quarter 2 (1st July – 30th September 2019) 
towards achievement of the targets contained in the Adult Care Directorate 
Plan 2019-20, Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 and Public Health 
Directorate Plan 2019-20.  

Recommendation

2. Members are asked to review the information contained within the report and 
the appendices.

Reason for Recommendation

3. In accordance with the Council’s performance management framework. 
Progress towards the targets contained in directorate plans are to be reported 
to relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committees at the end of each quarter. 

The Quarter 2 progress reports for the Adult Care Directorate, Children’s 
Services Directorate and Public Health Directorate are attached at Appendices 
1, 2 and 3. Actions within each appendix have been colour coded in 
accordance with the following criteria.

Red: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the target 
date 
Amber: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the 
target date due to circumstances outside of the directorate’s control 
Green:  Action completed by the target date 
Purple: Action is not yet due for completion but is currently on track
The appendices include a commentary against actions that are showing red, 
amber, green or purple

Page 105

Agenda Item 11



Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

Adult Care Directorate Plan 2019-20 Progress

Performance Overview

93% (13) of the actions included in the Directorate Plan 2019-20 are ongoing. 
One action is now complete. The chart below shows the overall performance 
of the Directorate in meeting its plan targets at the end of Quarter 2.

Quarter 2 Highlights

A partnership set of guiding principles which evidence good neighbourhood 
working has been produced. Standard operating neighbourhood approach 
documents have been completed and shared with elected members and 
Pennine Care. 

Two co-located Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (INT) /Neighbourhood 
teams are now in place in globe house (central) and Middleton.

A joint protocol is now in place for cash budgets/personal health budgets. A 
complex case forum has been established to look at the most appropriate 
place and best use of resources to develop joint protocol for disputes around 
Continuing Health Care (CHC) with CCG.

A provider market dashboard to monitor the impact of personalisation on the 
market has been produced. The quarterly production of a communications 
dashboard is now business as usual.

Page 106



4.3

4.4

4.5

A consultation event with providers was successfully held in April. This is part 
of a wider review of current internal process for adult care provider contracts 
and spot purchases. Plans are on schedule to recommission services in line 
with the Commissioning Intentions report from February 2019.

Performance Issues

None

Children’s Services  Directorate Plan 2019-20 Progress

Performance Overview

90% (9) actions included in the Directorate Plan 2019-20 are ongoing and due 
to be complete by the action due date. One action (3) has passed the action 
due date and hasn’t been completed. The chart below shows the overall 
performance of the Directorate in meeting its plan targets at the end of Quarter 
2. 

The action that isn’t fully complete and has passed the action due date 
(Amber) relates to:

 Improve workforce stability

Quarter 2 Highlights

The annual School Building Maintenance Programme for 2019/20 has been 
prioritised and commissioned for delivery predominantly during summer 2019. 
Feasibility studies and construction projects have been commissioned for new 
school places.

There has been alignment between the Rochdale Relationship Manifesto 
Steering Group and the current FSM Steering Group. The lead for the 

Page 107



4.6

4.7

Relationship Manifesto now attends the Early Help strategic steering group 
which brings together the FSM, place based agenda, Early Years and family 
conflict. The associated quality assurance framework is being developed to 
ensure reporting across the spectrum and includes partner reporting.

There has been development in terms of delivery of daytime alternative 
curriculum programmes to extend high quality youth provision. Pilot sessions 
have been arranged in Cardinal Langley High School and St Annes Academy 
for Autumn term. Discussions are taking place with two other schools to 
arrange programme.

Key elements of refreshed Recruitment and Retention Strategy in place or in 
the process of being agreed/implemented. There has been some slight 
slippage in regards to the strategy addressing social work capacity and 
reducing caseload pressures. 

To reduce the number of children in care there has been an increase in better 
understanding of cohorts of children which is improving practice. Improved 
needs led plans being rolled out (particularly child protection plans) and the 
resource panel is rigorously focusing on alternatives to care where safe and 
feasible. Numbers of children in care have stabilised since March 2019, with a 
small reduction in numbers at the end of Q2.

Work on a refreshed sufficiency strategy has begun with a view to completion 
by end of Q2 for publication in Q3. Work has been undertaken on the 
sufficiency strategy with a draft ready to be presented through governance 
routes (SMT, SLT in October and to determine final council sign off 
arrangements). Final version ready for publication by March 2020.

Performance Issues
None

Public Health  & Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2019-20 Progress

Performance Overview

16.7% (2) actions included in the Directorate Plan 2019-20 are complete. One 
action has passed its due date and isn’t complete. 75% (9) actions are 
ongoing and due to be completed by the due date. The chart below shows the 
overall performance of the Directorate in meeting its plan targets at the end of 
Quarter 2. 

Page 108



4.8

The action that isn’t fully complete and has passed the action due date 
(Amber) relates to:

 Jointly lead the establishment of Person and Community Centred 
Approaches within the Borough (in partnership with LCO and GM)

Quarter 2 Highlights

An action plan has been developed focused around LCO contribution to the 
Population Health Plan. Support will be provided to develop key work 
programmes including developing the LCO operating model and Leadership 
team Board. A memorandum of understanding has been agreed between the 
Council and LCO.

A new Strategic Partnership Board has been established focused around 
improving governance arrangements around PSR and Health and Wellbeing. 
A health and wellbeing strategy has been presented to the board although 
some adjustments are needed before finalising the document.

Following the end of the staff consultation process, the Strategic Intelligence 
Team has been formed. This comprises the CCG BI team, ICD Performance, 
and Public Health Intelligence. A shared work plan has been produced and 
new ways of working are being developed.

A screening action plan is being developed and work to increase screening 
uptake will commence in quarter three and then onwards for cancer screening 
programmes for cervical, breast and bowel cancer. 

Public Health and Strategic Intelligence Team are jointly developing deep 
dive/needs assessment into prevention of respiratory admissions; this is to be 
completed in Q3. The plan is to review the role of prevention in respiratory 
admissions and ensure effective service provision to be included as part of the 
health improvement offer redesign. New model proposal planned for Dec 19.

Page 109



4.9

4.10

Performance Issues
None

Alternatives Considered
None

Costs and Budget Summary

5. None

Risk and Policy Implications

Local authorities have specific duties in respect of children under the 
Children Acts 1989 and 2004. They also have statutory duties under the 
Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 and the associated regulations, being the 
Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010 in respect of eligible and relevant 
and former relevant children i.e. current and future cohorts of children who 
have left or will leave the local authority’s care.

The nature of services provided to children and families involve managing 
significant levels of risk. High quality early intervention and social care 
services reduce the likelihood of children suffering harm and increase the 
likelihood of children developing into successful adults and achieving and 
succeeding.

The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public Sector Equalities
Duty which requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010

 advance equality of opportunity and  foster good relations between 
people from different groups

 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of 
equality into day business and keep them under review in decision 
making, the design of policies and the delivery of services

Equalities and Diversity considerations are a key element of the Council’s 
approach to safeguarding and work with care leavers.

6.

Consultation

7. Not required

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Adult Care Directorate Plan 2019-
20

Page 110



Children’s Services Directorate 
Plan 2019-20

Public Health Directorate Plan 
2019-20

For Further Information Contact: Ben Jorgensen, , 
ben.jorgensen@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 111



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

 

AC1901 Develop operational management structures across integrated adult care services 31 March 2020  

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1901.A 
Agree matrix management (Chief LCO officer / Director of Adult Social Services (DASS) 
arrangement) to support operation from March 2020 

30 October 2019  

Matrix management is in place 

AC1901.B 
Develop joint policies and procedures with Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and health 
providers (Pennine Acute Trust (PAT)/ Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust(PCFT) 

31 January 2020  

New policies have been developed along with standard operating procedures for neighbourhood teams and lone working. Ongoing work for others as identified 

AC1901.C 
Prepare generic role descriptions with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and health 
providers (PAT/PCFT) 

31 March 2020  

New blended role has been agreed for health and social care locality manager with the first new appointment due October 

AC1901.D Agree electronic record management process to support implementation by Sept 2020 31 March 2020  

Records management process agreed ASC retentions schedule to be signed off October/November, Filing conventions and reports repository launched with 6 
weekly reviews of cleansing project 

        

AC1902 Support the delivery of integrated neighbourhood working 31 March 2020  

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1902.A Develop a partnership set of guiding principles which evidence good neighbourhood working 31 March 2020  

Standard operating neighbourhood approach documents have been completed and shared with elected members and pennine care 

P
age 112



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

AC1902.B Establish two co -located Integrated Neighbourhood Teams(INT) /Neighbourhood teams. 31 March 2020  

Co-located teams now in place in globe house (central) and Middleton will be in place by the end of October 

        

AC1903 Identify and establish the neighbourhood offer for Occupational Therapy, Mental Health and 
Learning Disabilities 

31 December 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1903.A 
Occupational Therapy (OT) service desegregated to a neighbourhood level with any remaining 
specialist borough wide OT services assigned to a neighbourhood TM lead. 

31 December 2019  

New arrangements for the OT service are under development. All within the neighbourhood teams 

AC1903.B 
Aligned Learning Disability (LD) complex case team members in neighbourhoods and to have 
aligned Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and transitions work streams in new arrangements within a 
reformed Adult Social Care offer. 

31 December 2019  

A learning disability offer for the neighbourhoods has been established all within the neighbourhood teams. 

AC1903.C In Mental Health clear plans for a single line management across Health and Social Care 31 December 2019   

This is work in progress in conjunction with the CCG- on track 

        

AC1904 Clarify and identify reablement and support service offer to people with a substance 
addiction/MH issue 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1904.A 
New Service offer for people with Mental Health /Substance/CSE issues which offers support and 
reablement in place. 

31 March 2020   

P
age 113



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

Service specification has been developed in draft. Further consultation of the service change was in September 

AC1904.B Implement recommendations from Greave House and Mental Health supported living schemes 31 March 2020   

Service specification has been developed in draft. Further consultation of the service change was in September 

AC1904.C Complete review of Renaissance substance addiction 30 November 2019   

Service specification has been developed in draft. Further consultation of the service change was in September 

AC1904.D Assessment process reflects AT and amended Resource Allocation System (RAS) allocations work. 31 March 2020  

Assessment process has been amended to reflect the changes ad mandatory training developed and running 

        

AC1905 Implement system improvements in respect of commissioning information and payments. 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1905.A Joint protocol in place for cash budgets/Personal Health Budgets (PHB)/RAS 31 March 2020  

Joint protocol in place 

AC1905.B Develop joint protocol for disputes around Continuing Health Care (CHC) with CCG 31 March 2020  

A complex case forum has been established to look at the most appropriate place and best use of resources. A CHC RAS(resource allocation system) has been 
developed. This sub action is now complete. 

AC1905.C Implement cash cards for cash budgets 31 March 2020   

Implementation plans are available but suspended awaiting the outcome of a national court case 

P
age 114



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

        

AC1906 Extend the range of care and support options for people with learning disabilities 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1906.A Opening of Ladybarn and Cherwell extra care schemes 31 March 2020   

Ladybarn is due to open by February 2020. Cherwell lease has been agreed and building work to commence imminently 

        

AC1907 Develop Assistive Technology (AT) across the borough and implement a technology first 
approach 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1907.A Embed AT in all assessment processes 31 March 2020  

AT has been embedded in the assessment process. This sub action is now complete. 

AC1907.B Mandatory training of all staff in AT 31 March 2020   

This is in place and L&D team are tracking progress for full completion of training 

        

AC1908 Develop the most agreed arrangements (and associated documentation) to deliver the 
operational elements of Adult Social Care via a single line management arrangement with the LCO. 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1908.A Specification for operational elements of ASC 31 December 2019   

P
age 115



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

This is due to be completed by October. (Delayed due to operational work) 

AC1908.B Agreed protocols for the interdependent arrangements between ASC ops and commissioning 31 October 2019  

Standard operating procedures in terms of placements have been put in place. Work is being undertaken to standardise all placement arrangements between 
operations and commissioning. Working group has been established work expected to be completed by September 2019. This sub action is now complete. 

AC1908.C Agreed monitoring arrangements for the ASC specification ( QTRLY performance board) 31 March 2020  

Monitoring arrangements in place through the ASC partnership board. This sub action is now complete. 

AC1908.D MOU for ASC within the LCO 30 September 2019   

This was deferred and will be signed off in October 

        

AC1909 Improve the quality of regulated care services 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1909.A Ensure fully engaged in the GM ADASS strategy proposals in relation to quality assurance 31 March 2020   

Ongoing delivery in line with GM 

AC1909.B 
Together with Adult Care operations and Clinical Commissioning Group quality assurance team to 
further develop an integrated approach to quality assurance. 

30 September 2019  

Business as usual now through the quality partnership 

AC1909.C Review of the virtual care home support teams and develop the long term service offer 30 September 2019   

P
age 116



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

Final model proposals due October and links to the transformation scheme review 

AC1909.D Monitor and report on service quality across Regulated social care providers 31 March 2020  

This is now business as usual - in place 

        

AC1910 Review the home care providers specification and ability to deliver new models of home care on 
a neighbourhood basis 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1910.A Design new model of care using wellbeing team principles 30 September 2019   

Wellbeing work to be deferred to 20/21 due to volume of work needed 

AC1910.B Develop a provider market dashboard to monitor the impact of personalisation on the market 30 September 2019  

In place- Governance and business support have developed and launched -quarterly production of comms dashboard is now business as usual 

AC1910.C Review the new neighbourhood based contracts for home care provision 31 March 2020  

Review complete- homecare providers deliver in line with contract 

AC1910.D Develop community assets as alternatives to statutory service provision 31 March 2020   

On track- this has been launched with a number of micro enterprises established 

AC1910.E Test a new model of care e.g. wellbeing  teams 31 March 2020   

Wellbeing work has been deferred to 20/21. However, the integrated neighbourhood teams work to a strengths based model which has been embedded and 
proving successful 

P
age 117



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  7  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

AC1910.F 
Work with GM to develop the enhanced worker role and consider potential for local 
implementation 

31 March 2020   

This is part of the GM workforce strategy. Work is led by GM along with engagement with clinical networks and care associations 

AC1910.G Work with the providers to modernise their business models 31 March 2020   

Work has commenced on performance dashboard utilisation and linked to the accommodation strategy 

        

AC1911 In partnership with colleagues in housing, health and social care to needs assess, scope and 
deliver an agreed approach to supported housing 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1911.A 
Reviewing the current approach to commissioning supported housing and homelessness services 
with housing, health and social care colleagues 

01 June 2019  

Review was completed in Q1 

AC1911.B 
Publish an integrated accommodation strategy for Rochdale to include a  Market position 
statement for the borough 

31 March 2020   

Ongoing work. Workshops are underway and advancing. The market position statement will be produced following the strategy document 

AC1911.C 
Working with the market to develop and implement  new models of supported living 
accommodation including:-Lady Barn supported tenancy scheme 

31 March 2020   

A review is underway to understand the tenancy arrangements and is linked to the RAS work 

AC1911.D Complex needs site for Autism  - linked to NHSE capital bid 31 March 2020   

The developer has revised the funding model to achieve delivery outside the NHSE bid. Officers are working with developer to finalise 

AC1911.E Cherwell supported tenancy for vulnerable adults 31 March 2020   

P
age 118



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  8  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

The funding model is currently being worked through and is linked to the accommodation strategy. The expected timeline on this is winter 20/21 

AC1911.F Support the mobilisation and transition to new provision and models of care 31 March 2020   

This project is linked to the accommodation strategy with specific working groups for older people and long term supported living needs 

        

AC1912 Ensure robust clear processes for the management of Adult social care contracts 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1912.A Review current internal process for adult care provider contracts and spot purchases 30 June 2019  

A consultation event with providers was successfully held in April. Plans are on schedule to recommission services in line with the Commissioning Intentions report 
from February 2019. This was completed in Q1. 

AC1912.B Scope the potential for moving to more automated monitoring processes 31 March 2020   

Scope is complete Costing with the service provide Liquid logic have been explored with plan in progress 

AC1912.C Introduce quarterly assurance reports on contract monitoring 31 May 2019  

Reports have been developed and to be presented to ASC partnership board from September 

AC1912.D Deliver automated arrangements for contract management for adult care and support 31 March 2020   

Plans are being progressed and on track 

        

AC1913 Review of the commissioning cycle and put in place a 3 year plan for the commissioning of Adult 
care contracts to secure longer term stability of the system 

31 January 2020   

P
age 119



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  9  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
  

         

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1913.A Compliant with procurement legislation 31 May 2019  

Commissioning cycle has been agreed at ICD. 

AC1913.B Clear accountability and decision making in line with council procedures 30 September 2019   

Internal audit will be reviewing the processes in September with recommendations to be implemented following that 

AC1913.C Reduction in the number of exemptions requested 31 January 2020   

The internal audit is due in September and is across all directorates. There have been a number of exemption reductions and key targets are in place 

        

AC1914 In line with section 48 of the Care Act 2014 develop a contingency plan in the event of a business 
failure of a regulated provider with a focus on:  Home care and Residential care 

31 October 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

AC1914.A 
A plan is established that mitigates the impact of a provider failure and minimises the impact on 
customers/service users 

30 September 2019   

This has been signed off by SMT and now with proof readers to be published in the next month 

AC1914.B A clear operational protocol is  in place 31 October 2019  

This is in place- now business as usual 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 120



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

 

CS19001 Implement the School Improvement Strategy to improve pupil achievement at all key stages 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

CS19001.A 
Complete an evaluation of the impact of the Communication, Language and Literacy Project 2018-
2019 on receipt of pupil outcomes in July 2019 

31 August 2019  

The service has begun to analyse the end of EYFS outcomes to identify the impact of the Communication and Literacy Project 2018-2019. This is on track to be 
reported within the timescale. 

CS19001.B 
Extend the Early Years Foundation Stage Communication Language and Literacy Development 
pilot initiatives where evidence of impact is most significant, ensuring focus on the most 
disadvantaged, including white British boys. 

30 September 2019   

This pending the completion of the evaluation report but is on track to be completed within the timescales. Briefing on the impact of the Communication, Language 
and Literacy pilot initiatives to Head teachers and Chairs of Governors. Service has identified targeted settings for the school year 2019- 2020 

CS19001.C 
Further develop School to School support and the deployment of Peer Review models to ensure 
that schools offer a broad and balanced curriculum which is in line with the revisions to the Ofsted 
framework from September 2019. 

31 March 2020   

This not to be initiated until September 2019 

CS19001.D 
Strengthen the accountability of the School Led system for School Improvement through the 
annual evaluative collaborative return and/or the implementation of the role of the Collaborative 
Challenge and Development Partner. 

31 December 2019   

Role of the Collaborative Challenge and Development Partner agreed with the primary Head teachers in the summer term. The role and process has been piloted 
with two collaborative partnerships. 

CS19001.E 
Complete SEND Peer Reviews in all secondary schools to ensure that the teaching is well-matched 
to the needs of SEN support pupils to enable improved progress through key stage 3 and 4 

31 March 2020   

This work is underway with a schedule of Peer Reviews to be conducted in the school year 2019-2020 completed. 

CS19001.F Increase the number of SEND peer reviews in the primary sector 31 March 2020   

This work is underway with a schedule of Peer Reviews to be conducted in the Autumn term 2019-2020 completed. 

P
age 121



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

CS19001.G Develop an inclusion strategy with clear pathways to provision 31 March 2020   

Inclusion scoping document completed, this work to be initiated in the Autumn term 2019 

        

CS19002 Provide sufficient school places for all children within the Borough 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

CS19002.A 
Continuous review of the availability of primary and secondary school places and negotiation of 
additional places with schools for 2020. 

31 March 2020   

Primary and secondary places are subject to ongoing review. Cabinet approval will be sought in July 2019 for further expansions to meet forecasted need. 

CS19002.B 
Support the development of two secondary Free Schools which are required in the Borough for 
2020 and 2022 respectively, the Council has approved release of sites for these. 

31 March 2020   

Cabinet has approved release of both sites. The Altus Trust and Star Academies Trust have been approved by DFE for secondary schools in Middleton and Pennine 
Townships respectively. Awaiting DfE timescales for development. 

CS19002.C 
Support the development of 75 place Free Special School (ASC) confirmed as successful 11th 
March subject to meeting terms of DfE offer. 

31 March 2020   

The annual School Building Maintenance Programme for 2019/20 has been prioritised and commissioned for delivery predominantly during summer 2019. 
Feasibility studies and construction projects have been commissioned for new school places. Further work proposed to develop full Estate Management Plan for 
each LA maintained school. Confirmed as successful 11th March subject to meeting terms of DfE offer. Cabinet has approved release of this site. DfE selection 
process is underway for trust to run the school. 

        

CS19003 Realign services to embed, sustain and enhance the principles of Family Service Model as the 
vehicle for delivering all universal and early help services on a locality footprint. 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

P
age 122



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

CS19003.A 
Develop a project plan focused on mainstreaming the principles and functions of the family 
service model which aligns with the Troubled Families / Relationship manifesto / Early Years 
agenda, to ensure an integrated local early help offer 

31 October 2019   

This remains dependent on some continued funding which will be confirmed by end of July 2019. In the interim, the Heads of Service for Early Help/FSM and Early 
Years have met to review the priorities for both the FSM approach and early years/school readiness agenda. This also includes the parental conflict offer. An 
implementation plan is being developed which will be in place by September and will reflect the financial decisions regarding the FSM. Funding has been confirmed 
for a further 6 months. SM lead and Early years school readiness lead have planned sessions to review early help services and mainstream principles of the model. 
While principles will be agreed by October 2019 the role out will be completed in April 2020. 

CS19003.B Implement family service model plan 31 March 2020   

The implementation plan will be drawn up by September and plan for implementation from October 

CS19003.C 
Align the Rochdale Relationships Manifesto Steering Group with the current FSM steering group 
to integrate the principle of early and local response to needs associated to family 
dysfunction/distress. 

31 October 2019  

The lead for the Relationship Manifesto now attends the Early Help strategic steering group which brings together the FSM, place based agenda, Early Years and 
family conflict. The associated QA framework is being developed to ensure reporting across the spectrum and includes partner reporting. This is still developing but 
will be an embedded process by October. Aligned Early help school readiness relationship. FSM and place based into a single board that will meet in October 2019 

CS19003.D 
Development of the delivery of daytime alternative curriculum programmes to extend high quality 
youth provision. 

30 September 2019  

Pilot sessions arranged in Cardinal Langley High School and St Annes Academy for Autumn term. Discussions with two other schools to arrange programmes with 
those. Pilot session have now been arranged with Cardinal Langley, Falinge Park High School and Brownhill School 

        

CS19004 Continued implementation and embedding of the SEND (Special Educational Needs / 
Disabilities) reforms 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

CS19004.A Implement the 0-25 SEND Strategy 31 March 2020   

P
age 123



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

The current SEND Strategy is in place and monitored via the CWD partnership board. Work has commenced at the SEND information day on the collaborative 
development of the new strategy 2020-2015. Target date for completion is November 2019 - progress is also tracked via the SEND Challenge meeting and is in the 
SEND Action Plan 

CS19004.B 
Quality review each element of the end to end process for completion of Education, Health and 
Care Plans. 

31 December 2019   

The new QA tool has now been developed. The QA process has now been linked into the Children’s Service QA framework. Live auditing commencing in July within 
the EHCP team - Stage two is the QA function around the use of the graduated response . This is agenda item for the Head Teachers SEND task group meeting on 
the 9th July . Revised QA report has been developed in line with the ES format - first run of audits took place in September. 

CS19004.C 
Review the effectiveness of the Short Break offer and redevelop the programme based on the 
findings of the Review. 

31 March 2020   

Current retendering of short break provision is underway in line with parental views. Revised criteria in place in terms of allocation now in place to ensure greater 
access for more children is possible. Included a new group of targeted short breaks to enable holistic based intervention to be included. Re-tendering of holistic 
short break took place in September - no successful contracts awarded - re run of tendering process due in October. 

        

CS19005 Next phase of implementation of the School Readiness action plan, informed by the School 
Readiness Strategy. 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

CS19005.A 
Implement local delivery of an Early Years Professional Development Programme and ensure that 
the Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ) assessment data is available to inform school readiness 
planning. 

31 March 2020   

 Q1:Additional capacity secured and scoping work for the Professional Development Fund in progress. National provider confirmed, awaiting further information 
from Dfe. ASQ requirements written into the service specification for the current live procurement of Health Visiting Services. 
Q2: Professional Development Programme is meeting all project milestones and Rochdale is implementing the national pilot starting on the 6th September. 
ASQ assessment data is now available quarterly to the LA and School Readiness Group to inform school readiness planning for the borough. 

CS19005.B 
Development and implementation of a multi-agency Early Years Communication and Language 
Pathway of assessments and interventions 

31 March 2020   

Q1: Greater Manchester Communication and Language Stocktake visit booked for August and additional 0.5 capacity secured for one year to progress development 
and implementation of the pathway. LGA Peer Review on communication and language to be undertaken in October to support the implementation of effective 
communication interventions. 
Q2: GM Outcomes Stocktake visit completed, 0.5 additional capacity to be advertised, 50k of funding secured from GM to support implementation of an Early Years 
Communication and Language Pathway. 

P
age 124



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

        

CS19006 Improve workforce stability 30 September 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

CS19006.A Refresh and strengthen the Recruitment and Retention Strategy. 30 September 2019   

Key elements of refreshed Recruitment and Retention Strategy in place or in the process of being agreed/implemented. Strategy on track for completion in 
September. Further implementation of key elements of the recruitment strategy (see action below). 
 
NAAS to be included in the progression pathway in the next quarter and refresh of the ASYE programme 

CS19006.B Implement the Strategy to address social work capacity and reduce caseload pressures 31 July 2019   

Some slight slippage, social worker retention payments on target to be made in August 2019. Rolling social work advert continues with a further recruitment day 
planned for September. Social worker retention payment made in August 2019. New generic social worker recruitment advert developed, with a description in each 
advert of specific posts currently vacant. Recruitment day held on 9th September, considerable social media advertising. Reduction in turnover of social workers. 
Some reduction of caseload pressures in some teams. 

        

CS19007 Safely stabilise and reduce the number of children in need of protection and children cared for 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

CS19007.A Implement the locality based social work offer. 31 December 2019   

A meeting has taken place with the two AD across CSC and EH to agree the parameters and the approach to moving forward. 

CS19007.B 
Implement a whole service approach to adolescent neglect and risk, including those at risk of 
offending, incorporating the implementation of ACT and No Wrong Door. 

31 March 2020   

P
age 125



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

 A number of activities are underway to ensure this action is completed. Meeting held with regional lead to support scale and spread of ACT. No wrong door 
steering group in place providing strong governor for the programme of implementation. Further progress in implementing No Wrong Door with a “go live” date of 
30th November. Increased focus on scale and spread of ACT in Autumn 2019. Complex Safeguarding Team positively peer reviewed. 

CS19007.C 
Work with families who have had children removed to reduce repeat removals in accordance with 
the Strengthening Families Model 

31 March 2020   

Research in Practice training scheduled on adolescent neglect. All elements will be brought together to promote a whole service approach. Set up meeting held 
with innovation unit and regional project lead to progress Strengthening families model in Rochdale. Financial resources in place (still need a seconded midwife) 
recruitment planned. Expect project to be in place by due date. Agreement reached that the team will sit within CSC with close links to EH especially Early Years as 
part of the 1001 days strategy Meeting has been held with Innovation Unit and CSC Senior Managers. Recruitment underway for the manager of the team. Further 
progress in implementing Strengthening Families Model – Theory of Change Meeting held 16th September 2019. 

CS19007.D 
Improve the effectiveness of child protection planning and pre-proceedings work to support 
children to live safely at home. 

31 March 2020   

This area continues to be re-prioritised in the service. There has been an increase in the number of pre-proceedings reviews taking place which has reduced the 
overall number of cases currently in pre-proceedings. A lead manager has been identified from Child Protection and Care Proceedings has been working with 
colleagues in the Information Unit to establish a pre-proceedings tracker. There has been some delay in this because of wider Children’s Services priorities in the 
Information Unit (EYES implementation related), but we hope to trial a tracker during October 2019. 

CS19007.E 
Embed whole service approach to the proportionate management of risk for children at risk of 
harm from domestic abuse and neglect. 

31 March 2020   

Domestic Abuse and Neglect continue to feature heavily in the majority of child protection and care proceedings work in Children’s Social Care. The Safeguarding 
Partnership Neglect training strategy is being re-launched with a focus on the child’s journey. An external facilitator is being brought in to deliver a workshop. Phase 
2 of the Strengthening Practice Relational Practice programme is being delivered through ‘pods’ which incorporates action learning based approaches. Membership 
of the pods is from across Children’s Services who are working through two booklets on Neglect and Domestic Abuse. Work continues in relation to the Relationship 
Manifesto which has overseen the development and delivery of a number of programmes for families. A shortened delivery programme for Children’s Social Care 
staff is being trialled. 

        

CS19008 Develop shared and innovative services to respond to children and families with complex needs 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

P
age 126



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  7  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

CS19008.A Support children on the edge of care to live successfully in the community 31 March 2020   

No Wrong Door innovation programme on target to meet implementation plan timetable 
• Steering Group established in May with strong governance arrangements now in place 
• Deep Dive sessions with six children living in children’s homes with a plan for fostering to support their plans moving forward at pace. 
• Work on cultural change progressing to support more children to live in stable family placements for the duration of their childhood and beyond 
• Young people’s engagement in design and implementation of NWD subject to clear action planning 
• Stakeholder Events in April and July 2019 to engage partners and wider workforce 
• External support in place to ensure progression of the innovation from the Innovation Unit and GM, as well as peer learning from all six participating authorities. 
Local model designed, staff consultation underway, children and young people involved in co-designing the approach and the NWD provocations are being included 
in key strategies supporting work with children – e.g. Fostering Strategy, Permanence Strategy. 

CS19008.B Safely reduce the number of children in care 31 March 2020   

Better understanding of cohorts of children is improving practice. Improved needs led plans being rolled out (particularly child protection plans). Resource Panel 
rigorously focusing on alternatives to care where safe and feasible. Numbers of children in care have stabilised since March 2019, with a small reduction in numbers 
at the end of Q2. 

CS19008.C Reduce the likelihood of placement disruption 31 March 2020   

No Wrong Door “deep dive” methodology and provocations starting to be used to increase placement stability. (see action in respect of permanence strategy 
NDPG) 

CS19008.D 
Work with families whose circumstances have changed to identify if future children can be safely 
cared for 

31 March 2020   

Strengthening Families Project in progress, as referenced above to work with parents who have had previous children removed, to prevent reoccurrence. 

        

CS19009 Secure permanence for more children, ensuring there are sufficient local placements and choice 
where children need to be cared for / adopted 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

P
age 127



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  8  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

CS19009.A 
Refresh and embed our sufficiency strategy to ensure we deliver a wider range of local 
placements, including restoring fostering to a position of growth. 

31 March 2020   

Q1 2019-20 Work on a refreshed sufficiency strategy has begun with a view to completion by end of Q2 for publication in Q3. Work has been undertaken on the 
sufficiency strategy with a draft ready to be presented through governance routes(SMT, SLT in October and to determine final council sign off arrangements). Final 
version ready for publication by March 2020. 

CS19009.B Embed the agreed approach to permanence for all children. 31 December 2019   

Work ongoing through strategic permanence group to embed permanence strategy. A near final draft of the Placement Strategy has been developed which 
includes No Wrong Door Propositions. The approach to permanence has been shared at a practice managers Briefing and IRO liaison meeting. An implementation 
plan for the strategy is being developed. 

CS19009.C Build in placement the placement stability framework for all cared for children and care leavers. 31 December 2019   

Work is ongoing to build this in. Currently placement stability has deteriorated which is linked in part to the availability of foster carers and placements. Placement 
stability meetings happen proactively and the expectation of using both stability meeting proactively and disruption meetings retrospectively has been shared and 
is part of the permanence strategy. Continue to build in framework. 

        

CS19010 Implement and embed the New Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements to replace the RBSCB 
as per Working Together 2018 in respect of all safeguarding activity 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

CS19010.A Implement new arrangements from 11th July 2019 31 July 2019  

Complete launch at the RBSCP on 10 July 2019 , all information of the launch on the website. 

CS19010.B Undertake an evaluation of the new arrangements with partner agencies. 31 December 2019   

Rochdale Safeguarding Children Partnership will continue to review the New Arrangements and will plan a formal evaluation with partner agencies after an agreed 
period (by December 2019) 

CS19010.C 
Engage with regional partners in respect of scrutiny of arrangements and developing GM 
approach 

31 March 2020   

P
age 128



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  9  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

A Greater Manchester monitoring of the New Arrangements is already underway with Rochdale Safeguarding Partners contributing. Any formal scrutiny process 
will be implemented via a GM Safeguarding Partnership timetable. 

 

P
age 129



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  7 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

   

 

PH1901 Ensure population health interventions are core to the delivery of Local Care Organisation (LCO) 
arrangements 

30 June 2019  

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1901.A Develop an action plan which describes the LCO contribution to the Population Heath Plan 30 June 2019  

Support provide to developing key work programmes including developing the LCO operating model, Leadership team Board. PCCA Leadership group continues to 
meet. Closer working relationships between PCCA and PSR have been developed and agreed via the Place Board. 

PH1901.B Develop a Memorandum of Understanding with the LCO 30 June 2019  

Support to key programmes of work is in place - Action plan is under development and will be completed by end of August 2019. MOU agreed between the Council 
and the LCO and honorary contract is in place 

        

PH1902 Jointly lead the establishment of Person and Community Centred Approaches within the Borough 
(in partnership with LCO and GM) 

30 September 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1902.A 
Provide leadership and support for the Person and Community Centred (PCCA) approaches for the 
Borough by developing a PCCA action plan 

30 June 2019  

Agreed to combine the PCCA action with Public Sector Reform Plan by the end of August - Leader group in place across agencies 

PH1902.B 
Establishment of an agreed community engagement and development process across Council and 
CCG 

30 September 2019   

Ideas shop initiative agreed with GM PCCA team and PCCA Leadership Group 

        

PH1903 Embed healthy urban planning processes and principles to determine both how the Council and 
partners impact on local planning, maximising the provision of health promoting environments for the 
local population. 

31 December 2019   

P
age 130



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  7 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1903.A Finalise the Rochdale Planning for Health guidance 31 October 2019  

Planning for Health Guidance document has been finalised (June 2019) 

PH1903.B 
Utilise the Health Guidance as a tool to produce agreed public health input into planning process 
and policy as well as to influence wider regeneration and built environment opportunities such as 
College Bank and the Town Centre Regeneration programmes. 

31 December 2019   

Key partners to be brought together to agree implementation during November 2019 

        

PH1904 Improve governance arrangements around PSR and Health and Wellbeing by developing the 
Strategic Partnership Board 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1904.A Develop a refreshed health and wellbeing strategy to help inform board priorities 31 July 2019   

Health and wellbeing strategy has been presented to new place board some adjustments needed before finalising document. 

PH1904.B Strategic Partnership Board established 31 March 2020  

Strategic Partnership Board is established 

PH1904.C 
Co-ordinate a behaviour change programme to engage with residents, communities, staff and 
volunteers 

31 October 2019  

This action has been incorporated into the PCCA action plan referred to in PH1902 

P
age 131



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  7 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

PH1904.D 
Incorporate sustainability into PSR and health & wellbeing agenda through review of current 
practice and policy guidance 

31 March 2020   

Work scheduled to commence in Q3. 

        

PH1905 Lead the development of the Integrated Strategic Intelligence Team on behalf of the Council, CCG 
and LCO 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1905.A 
Development of outcomes based accountability approach through commissioning - Test & review 
approach in developing KPIs for public health contracts 

30 September 2019   

Progress has been made on a local outcomes framework that is based around the borough priorities. This will be completed in quarter 3 

PH1905.B 
Improve the intelligence offer to the council and CCG through the development of an integrated 
work plan for the newly formed Strategic Intelligence Team 

30 September 2019  

Following the end of the staff consultation process, the Strategic Intelligence Team has been formed. This comprises the CCG BI team, ICD Performance, and Public 
Health Intelligence. A shared work plan has been produced and new ways of working are being developed. 

PH1905.C Lead the development of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 31 March 2020   

A needs assessment on Young People's Substance Misuse has been delivered. Work has started on the joint Rochdale, Oldham and Bury Sexual Health Needs 
Assessment and Deprivation work. Scoping on a Respiratory Needs Assessment has been carried out 

        

PH1906 Maximise the contribution of Arts, Culture and Heritage with respect of health outcomes across 
the Borough 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

P
age 132



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  7 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

PH1906.A Development and sign off of the Rochdale Borough Cultural Strategy 31 July 2019   

Cultural Board is now being assembled following outcome of the CPP Bid. Consultation with community is also planned in November to enable final Cultural 
Strategy to go to cabinet in Jan/Feb 2020 for launch 1st April. 

PH1906.B Implementation of the Cultural Strategy commences (will span over the next 5 years) 31 August 2019   

Meeting to be scheduled for late October 

PH1906.C Creative People and Places programme commences (if successful with bid) and runs for 4 years 31 March 2020   

Regular meetings with senior ACE representatives scheduled quarterly, July meeting took place. £2m CPP Bid scored highly and was only GM bid taken forward to 
final interview. Unfortunately it was unsuccessful but is being developed for a second bidding round expected to open in Jan 2020. 

        

PH1907 Undertake a review of tobacco addiction and current service provision and utilise this to embed 
the most effective service model 

31 January 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1907.A 
Conduct a whole system review of the current offer in relation to reducing smoking prevalence to 
ensure that they are having the required impact and reaching our target communities. 

30 September 2019   

Whole system review taking place, to be complete October 2019 

PH1907.B 
Agree implementation plan to ensure the Riverside development is smoke free as a contribution 
to de-normalising tobacco use 

31 January 2020   

Paper discussed at PH SMT and a revised version to be taken to leadership for sign in November 19 

PH1907.C Develop a smoking cessation offer that incorporates e-cigarettes. 31 December 2019   

Offer being developed with pharmacies, planned roll out from December 2019 

        

P
age 133



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  7 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

PH1908 Support and enable the development of a strong and resilient voluntary sector 31 October 2019  

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1908.A Support transition from interim arrangements 30 April 2019  

Contract in place and monitoring framework agreed 

PH1908.B Agree outcomes framework for the service 31 May 2019  

Quarter 1 Monitoring based on Implementation plan and Monitoring from 

PH1908.C Support transition of the management of the Connecting You: Seed Funding. 30 June 2019  

 Transition management of the Connecting You Seed Fund completed at the end of Quarter 1 and are recruiting new ‘Friends Panel’ members to help make funding 
decisions 

        

PH1909 Improve premature mortality through early detection and intervention for key disease pathways 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1909.A 
Put an action plan in place to improve uptake of cancer screening programmes for cervical, breast 
and bowel cancer 

31 March 2020   

Screening action plan is being developed and work to increase screening uptake will commence in quarter three and then onwards. Exercise taking place to 
understand the increased respiratory admissions 

PH1909.B Revise the NHS health check programme 31 December 2019   

Current health checks offer performing well and will be reviewed periodically 

PH1909.C Review role of prevention in respiratory admissions and ensure effective service provision 31 October 2019   

P
age 134



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  7 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

Public Health and Strategic Intelligence Team are jointly developing deep dive/needs assessment into respiratory to be completed in Q3. Review role of prevention 
in respiratory admissions and ensure effective service provision to be included as part of the health improvement offer redesign. New model proposal planned for 
Dec 19. 

PH1909.D Review Health Inequalities policy guidance to identify short to medium term goals 31 December 2019   

Exercise taking place to look at the current policy on inequalities and review of paper on local actions to reduce inequalities 

PH1909.E Review outcomes on falls 30 November 2019   

Data on falls being collated - to work with CCG and intelligence hub for insight work into projections. 

        

PH1910 Seek to understand how we might strengthen the Borough's response to reducing the impact of 
poverty and welfare reform 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1910.A Identify opportunities within our current work programme to strengthen the offer. 30 September 2019   

Continuing to support GM work on Gambling harm 

PH1910.B 
Complete a needs assessment to understand the current offer and assess whether it is meeting 
needs 

31 December 2019   

A plan has been scoped to complete a rapid needs assessment by end of Quarter 3 

PH1910.C Implementation plan developed incorporating recommendations from the needs assessment. 31 March 2020   

Work will commence once needs assessment is complete 

        

P
age 135



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  7  Of  7 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

PH1911 Lead the development of a co-produced RBC Employee Wellbeing Strategy and Action Plan (with 
implementation by Human Resources) 

31 December 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1911.A 
Provide leadership and co-ordinate the engagement of staff / wider leadership to produce a draft 
strategy 

30 September 2019   

Agreed workplace wellbeing priority document 

PH1911.B 
Lead the consultation to finalise and launch the strategy including the production of an 
implementation plan 

31 December 2019   

Currently completing the implementation plan for implementation from October 2019 

        

PH1912 Improve the mental health and wellbeing of residents across the Borough 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

PH1912.A 
Deliver CONNECT5 training to improve ability of staff to talk about, and support people, with 
mental wellbeing issues. 

31 March 2020   

Training model agreed, roll out planned to commence Oct 19 

PH1912.B Refresh local suicide prevention action plan 31 December 2019   

Qualitative review and audit of local and adjoining causes of suicide undertaken to inform suicide prevention activity 

PH1912.C Conduct health needs assessment of the physical health of people with poor mental health 31 March 2020   

Work to be undertaken by registrar in public health and work has begun 

 

 

P
age 136



JOINT SCRUTINY PANEL FOR PENNINE CARE (MENTAL HEALTH) 
TRUST

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 15th October 2019

PRESENT:  Councillor Sullivan (Rochdale BC) (Vice Chair in the Chair), 
Councillor Dale (Rochdale BC), Councillor Grimshaw (Bury MBC), Councillor 
Walker (Bury MBC), Councillor Holloway (Stockport MBC) and Councillor 
Wright (Stockport MBC).

OFFICERS: P. Thompson (Governance and Committee Services – Rochdale 
BC) 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Dr H. Ticehurst (Deputy Chief Executive – Pennine 
Care NHS Foundation Trust), N. Littler (Executive Director – Pennine Care 
NHS Foundation Trust), A. Osborne (Assistant Director – Pennine Care NHS 
Foundation Trust) and D. Wallace (Communications and Engagement Advisor 
– Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust).

APOLOGIES
11. Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hamblett, Moores, 
Surjan (Oldham MBC), Mobbs (Stockport MBC) and Susan Smith (Rochdale 
Borough Council).

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
12. There were no declarations of interests.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
13. There were no urgent items of business for the Committee to consider.

MINUTES
14. The Committee considered the minutes of its most recent meeting held 
23rd July 2019.

Resolved:
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust, held 23rd July 2019, be 
approved as a correct record. 

INFORMAL MEETING
15. Resolved:
That the proceedings of the informal session of the Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Care’s membership held 10th September 
2019, be noted.

FINANCIAL UPDATE
16. The Committee was updated on Pennine Care’s current financial situation. 
Presently, based on information currently available, it was projected that there 
would be a budget deficit by the end of the 2019/20 financial year. However, 

Page 137

Agenda Item 12



as reported to the last meeting, it was added that the figures in the report did 
not account for expected significant financial contributions to be forthcoming 
from the Department of Health and it was expected that the Trust would have 
a ‘balanced budget’ by the end of March 2020. 

The Trust had recently introduced a savings programme to help reduce costs 
whilst the filling of some staffing vacancies was being delayed. It was noted 
and welcomed by Members of the Committee that by and large the savings 
proposals were not adversely affecting patient care.

Members sought clarification on the underlying reasons for the reported 25 
week waiting list period for access to children’s psychiatric services across the 
Trust’s footprint.
Resolved:

1. The report be noted
2. The Chief Executive of Pennine Care NHS Trust be requested to 

submit a report to the Committee’s next meeting regarding the 
underlying reasons for the reported 25 week waiting list period for 
access to children’s psychiatric services across the Trust’s footprint. 

CQC INSPECTION AND ACTION PLAN
17. The Trust’s Deputy Chief Executive reminded the meeting that the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) had undertaken a ‘Well Led’ inspection of a 
selection of services provided by the Trust in the period August – October 
2018. Some of the services inspected included dentistry, mental health 
hospital wards (for adults and for older people), PICU, home treatment teams 
and crisis services and walk-in centres across the Trust’s footprint.

Regular reports on the implementation of the CQC’s improvement plan were 
presented to the Trust’s Board. The Committee was presented with 
information that detailed the Trust’s responses to the CQC inspection and the 
only area of work that was shown as being ‘red’ (issue that were not on 
course to be successfully implemented) was the ‘Review the patient 
experience structure and resource’. The Committee was advised of measures 
being put into place to improve this matter.

Resolved
That the report be noted.

ELECTRONIC PATIENT RECORDS
18. The Trust’s Deputy Chief Executive reported upon the roll-out of electronic 
patient records across the trust’s footprint. This programme has been ongoing 
for several years. Currently the programme was on ‘Cohort 3’ which covered 
all in-patients and all out-patients. This phase of the roll out was due to be 
completed in 2020, when approximately 2,000 staff would be ‘on-line’.

Cohorts 4 and 5 of the programme were due to start in April 202 and lasting 
until July of that year. Cohorts 4 and 5 were due to cover MAS, Day Hospitals, 
the remainder of older people’s Community Mental Health Team’s and 
Psychology services.

Page 138



The Committee was advised that the computerisation of patient records was a 
slow process but that steady progress was being made.

Resolved:
That the report be noted.

STAFF WELFARE STRATEGY
19. The Trust’s Executive Director (Workforce) gave a presentation to the 
Committee updating on the Trust’s Staffing and Workforce Development 
Strategy. Pennine Care employed in excess of 5,000 staff with additional 
(hundreds) of numbers on their temporary bank which provide ad-hoc cover to 
fill gaps created either by sickness or vacancies.

The workforce comprised staff that worked with Mental Health/Learning 
Disability and Community Services across the Trust’s footprint. The current 
staff turnover rate for the Trust was approximately 11%, which was within the 
`average’ range compared to other Mental Health/Learning Disability NHS 
Providers in the North of England. The Trust’s vacancy rate was just over 10% 
and staff sickness rates were 5.3% which was above average, when 
compared to the Trust’s ‘peer group’.

The ‘harder to fill’ roles within Pennine Care mirrored the regional and national 
gaps in this regard, including: Medical Staff, newly qualified nursing roles 
(especially Band 5 level nurses in Mental Health services), walk-in centre staff 
and Health Visitors.

The Committee asked if further and more detailed information could be 
presented to the Committee regarding the Trust’s staff sickness absence 
levels?

Resolved:
1. That the report be noted.
2. The Trust’s Executive Director (Workforce) be requested to submit a 

report to the Committee’s next meeting, on 20th January 2020, 
regarding staff sickness absence rates amongst the workforce of 
Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust. 

MIXED SEX ACCOMMODATION
20. The Committee was updated on progress towards the introduction of 
single sex wards at hospitals across the Trust’s footprint. A full and detailed 
business case thereon was due to be submitted to the Trust’s Board’s 
meeting on 30th October 2019. 

The Committee was updated on a proposed phased implementation:
a. Phase 1: Tameside Adults (following the introduction of this there 

would be a period of reflection to determine the effectiveness of the 
action.

b. Phase 2: Fairfield Hospital, Bury (Ramsbottom Ward) and Rochdale 
Infirmary (dormitory Ward)

Page 139



c. Phase 3: Stockport Adults
d. Phase 4: older people’s wards across Greater Manchester’s North East 

Sector (Bury, Rochdale and Oldham)
e. Phase 5: Stockport and Tameside adults
f. Phase 6: Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale. 

In considering the proposed implementation programme it was suggested that 
member of the Committee be invited to visit wards at different hospital sites 
across the Trust’s footprint, beginning with the Aspden and Hope Ward at the 
Royal Oldham Hospital. It was agreed that visits by Members of the 
Committee would be held on Wednesday, 30th October with further visits to be 
held on specified dates in November 2019.

Resolved:
That the report be noted.

COMMISSIONING PSYCHIATRIC INTENSIVE (PICU) CARE BEDS 
ACROSS THE PENNINE CARE FOOTPRINT
21. The Trust’s Deputy Chief Executive reported upon Psychiatric Intensive 
Care Units (PICU) that were a type of psychiatric in-patient ward. On these 
wards staffing levels are higher than on a normal acute admission ward. Many 
PICUs also have a seclusion room and most PICUs are single gender. 

PICUs were designed to look after patients who could not be managed on 
open (unlocked) psychiatric wards due to the level of risk the patient posed to 
themselves or others. A patient's length of stay was normally short (a few 
weeks) rather than prolonged as the patient would be treated and returned to 
an open ward as soon as their mental state is stable. 
 
PICU wards specialised in the assessment and comprehensive treatment of 
people with a broad spectrum of acute and enduring mental health needs. 
They provided care and treatment to inpatients who were experiencing the 
most acute phase of a mental illness. PICU services were designed and 
delivered in line with national guidance, including the physical environment, 
numbers of beds, staffing ratios and disciplines, and the interventions 
provided. 

Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust had submitted a bid to NHS 
Improvement for a £4.5 million capital development for the purposes of female 
PICU services. In order to make best use of estates it was proposed that the 
current PCFT vacant ward in the basement area of the Buckton Building at 
Tameside General Hospital be demolished and rebuilt as a 12 bedded male 
PICU service and the men are transferred from Stockport to Tameside.
  
The current male PICU unit (Cobden Unit at Stepping Hilll Hospital) would be 
redeveloped into a 10 bedded female PICU Unit. The rationale of developing 
the female unit in Stockport was to maintain the bed base at 10 beds 
(considered the largest number of beds for a female unit) and also moving the 
male provision to Tameside would link the PICU unit with the existing male 
Low Secure Unit (Tatton Unit) which is also based in the basement area of the 

Page 140



Buckton Building at Tameside General, which supports sharing of staff 
expertise and expert response teams. 

The Trust was currently developing a full business case to be submitted to 
NHS Improvement to gain full commitment to the capital investment agreed in 
principle.

Resolved:
That the actions of the Trust, outlined above, with regard to the development 
of Psychiatric Intensive Care Units be fully supported and endorsed by the 
Committee.

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
22. Resolved:

1. Formal meetings of the Joint Scrutiny Panel for Pennine Care (Mental 
Health) Trust be held on Tuesday, 21st January 2020 and on Tuesday, 
17th March 2020; both meetings to be held in the Council Offices, 
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, commencing at 
2.00pm.

2. Informal meetings of the Committee’s membership be held with 
representatives of Pennine Care Foundation Trust’s senior 
management, at the Trust’s head office (225 Old Street, Ashton-under-
Lyne) on: Tuesday, 19th November 2019, Tuesday, 18th February 2019 
and Tuesday, 14th April 2020: all meetings commencing at 2.00pm.

Page 141



APPENDIX

HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Work Programme 2019/2020 

The purpose of the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee is:-
 
To be the responsible Committee for the Council’s health scrutiny function (with the 
exception of any referrals to the Secretary of State arising from statutory 
 consultations being referred to Council for determination); for scrutiny of Health and 
Wellbeing (including scrutiny of the Health and Wellbeing Board, particularly with 
reference to joint commissioning proposals arising between the Council and the 
CCG with regard to health and social care arrangements); and for scrutiny of 
partnerships or key contractors: (eg Inspired Spaces), Child and Adult Social Care 
Services; Early Help and Schools Services; the Borough’s two Safeguarding Boards 
and for the overview of the respective Portfolio Holders and Directors.
 

a. To respond to consultation by Cabinet and the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
relevant policy development proposals. 

b. To scrutinise the in-year performance of relevant Council Services, 
partnership bodies and other appropriate bodies, in accordance with the 
Council’s Performance Management Framework and against approved 
Service Plans, where appropriate. 

c. To instigate the appropriate action in response to adverse service 
performance.

d. To scrutinise inspection reports and associated action plans produced by 
external agencies (where appropriate to this Committee).

e. To review and scrutinise executive decisions where appropriate to this 
Committee in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, which have been 
called-in by Members of the Council. 

f. To receive reports, where appropriate, from the Council’s representatives on 
outside bodies, and to direct representatives to report to the Council, where 
appropriate.

g. To scrutinise Safeguarding arrangements, including consideration of 
Safeguarding Boards’ Annual Reports

h. To commission, scope and oversee studies and reviews relating to relevant 
Council Services and issues directly affecting the Borough and, where 
appropriate, to make recommendations to the Cabinet arising from such 
studies and reviews. 

i. To consider Directorate Plans in line with Council Policy.
j. To be the Council body identified to receive issues and reports from Health 

Watch
k. To consider, as relevant, reports from the Care Quality Commission as part of 

the wider health scrutiny considerations.
l. To receive minutes of the joint health scrutiny bodies.

Page 142

Agenda Item 13



26th June 2019

17th September 2019

Work Programme To note the Committee’s Work 
Programme for 2019/20

Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Adult Care Market Oversight Report -1st 
Quarter 2019/20
Extra School Places - Determination of 
Statutory Proposals for Enlargements 
and SEN Resourced Provision, and 
Additional Capacity

Scrutiny of proposals

Link4Life Annual Performance Review 
20178/19

Performance management and 
monitoring

Joint Health O&S Committee for 
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust

Minutes for information

20th November 2019

Work Programme Update 
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
Northern Care NHS Alliance – Update 
on service provision

Scrutiny of partner/providers

Directorate Plan Updates (1st and 2nd 
Quarter 2019/20)
 Children’s Services
 Adult Care Services
 Public Health Service

Performance management and 
monitoring

Adult Care Market Oversight Report -2nd 
Quarter 2019/20

Performance management and 
monitoring

Bury and Rochdale Youth Justice Plan 
2019 - 2021

Pre-scrutiny prior to Cabinet 
consideration

Disabled Facilities Grants and 
Associated Assistance Policy

Performance monitoring and 
management

SEND update Performance monitoring and 
management

Work Programme To consider the Committee’s Work 
Programme for 2019/20

Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Directorate Plan Updates (4th Quarter 
2018/2019)
 Children’s Services
 Adult Care Services
 Public Health Service

Performance management and 
monitoring

Special Autism School Performance management and 
monitoring

Page 143



GMCA Health Scrutiny Committee 
Minutes

For information

19th February 2020

Work Programme 2019/20 Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust -  
Update – presentation on services

Health Scrutiny

Directorate Plan Update (3rd Quarter 
2019/20):

 Children’s Services
 Adult Care Services
 Public Health Service

Performance monitoring and 
management

Adult Care Market Oversight Report – 
3rd Quarter 2019/20

Performance monitoring and 
management

SUNRISE Team – Annual Report 
2018/19

Performance monitoring and 
management

Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Boards 
for Children and Adults – annual report 
2018/19

Performance monitoring and 
management

Social Care Complaints  - update Performance monitoring and 
management

Oral Health – update report Performance monitoring and 
management

Link4Life – 6 month review (2019/20) Performance monitoring and 
management

Items to be scheduled:
a. RBC Adoption Service – Annual Report 
b. North West Ambulance Service – presentation on service provision for the 

Rochdale Borough

Page 144


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	7 Bury and Rochdale Youth Justice Plan 2019 - 2021
	Youth Justice Plan 2019 to 2021 - appendix 1
	Youth Justice Plan Board Approval - appendix 2

	8 SEND update
	9 Disabled Facilities Grants and Associated Assistance Policy
	appendix 1 dfg policy final version to os nov19
	QAPresentation

	10 Adult Care Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report
	Market Oversight and Sufficiency Report

	11 Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2019-20 Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 1 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2019-20 Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 2 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2019-20 Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 3 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2019-20 Quarter 2 Performance Update

	12 Joint Scrutiny Committee - Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust
	13 Work Programme 2019/2020



